
 
Chief Executive   
Ian Davidson  
 
 

www.tendringdc.gov.uk 
Minicom: 01255 475566  

 
 
 
 
 

 
IAN DAVIDSON, CHIEF EXECUTIVE, TOWN HALL, STATION ROAD, CLACTON-ON-SEA, ESSEX, CO15 1SE.  TELEPHONE (01255) 686868 

 

PLANNING POLICY AND LOCAL PLAN 
COMMITTEE 

 
DATE: Thursday, 5 October 2023 

TIME: 6.00 pm 

 

VENUE: Committee Room  - Town Hall, 
Station Road, Clacton-on-Sea, CO15 
1SE 

 

 
 
MEMBERSHIP: 
 

 

Councillor Bush (Vice-Chairman) 
Councillor Chapman BEM 
Councillor M Cossens 
Councillor Fairley 
Councillor Guglielmi 
 

Councillor Lennard 
Councillor Newton 
Councillor Scott 
Councillor Skeels Jnr. 
 

 

AG
EN

D
A

Public Document Pack

http://www.tendringdc.gov.uk/


  
Most Council meetings are open to the public and press. The space for 
the public and press will be made available on a first come first served 
basis. Agendas are available to view five working days prior to the 
meeting date and the Council aims to publish Minutes within five working 
days of the meeting. Meeting papers can be provided, on request, in large 
print, in Braille, or on disc, tape, or in other languages. 
 
This meeting will be filmed by the Council for live and/or subsequent 
broadcast on the Council’s website. The whole of the meeting will be 
filmed, except where there are confidential or exempt items, and the 
footage will be on the website for up to 24 months (the Council retains 
one full year of recordings and the relevant proportion of the current 
Municipal Year). The Council will seek to avoid/minimise footage of 
members of the public in attendance at, or participating in, the meeting. 
In addition, the Council is obliged by law to allow members of the public 
to take photographs, film, audio record and report on the proceedings at 
public meetings. The Council will only seek to prevent this should it be 
undertaken in a disruptive or otherwise inappropriate manner. 
 
If you have any queries regarding webcasting or the recording of 
meetings by the public, please contact Ian Ford Email: 
iford@tendringdc.gov.uk or Telephone on 01255 686584. 
 
 

 

 
 DATE OF PUBLICATION: Tuesday, 26 September 2023  

 



 
AGENDA 

 
  
1 Election of the Chairman of the Committee  
 
 The Committee is required to elect, from amongst its appointed membership, the 

Chairman of the Committee to serve in that office for the remainder of the 2023/2024 
Municipal Year. 
 
NOTES: 
 
(1) The office of Chairman of the Planning Policy & Local Plan Committee is currently 

vacant due to the fact that Councillor N W Turner, the previous Chairman, is no 
longer a serving member of the Committee. 
 

(2) The newly elected Chairman will also automatically become a Tendring District 
Council appointed member of the Tendring / Colchester Borders Garden Community 
Joint Committee. 

 
(3) If the current Vice-Chairman of the Planning Policy & Local Plan Committee 

(Councillor M Bush) is elect to be Chairman, then the Committee will be requested to 
appoint one of its members to fill that vacant office of Vice-Chairman. 

  
2 Apologies for Absence and Substitutions  
 
 The Committee is asked to note any apologies for absence and substitutions received 

from Members. 
  

3 Minutes of the Last Meeting (Pages 1 - 12) 
 
 To confirm and sign as a correct record, the minutes of the meeting of the Committee, 

held on Thursday 27 July 2023. 
  

4 Declarations of Interest  
 
 Councillors are invited to declare any Disclosable Pecuniary Interests, Other 

Registerable Interests of Non-Registerable Interests, and the nature of it, in relation to 
any item on the agenda. 
  

5 Questions on Notice pursuant to Council Procedure Rule 38  
 
 Subject to providing two working days’ notice, a Member of the Committee may ask the 

Chairman of the Committee a question on any matter in relation to which the Council has 
powers or duties which affect the Tendring District and which falls within the terms of 
reference of the Committee. 
  

6 Public Speaking (Pages 13 - 16) 
 
 The Council’s Public Speaking Scheme for the Planning Policy & Local Plan Committee 

gives the opportunity for members of the public and other interested parties/stakeholders 
to speak to the Council’s elected members on the Local Plan Committee on any specific 
agenda item to be considered at that public meeting. 
  



7 Report of the Director (Planning) - A.1 - Draft Jaywick Sands Place Plan (Pages 17 - 
146) 

 
 To invite the Planning Policy and Local Plan Committee’s comments on the Draft Jaywick 

Sands Place Plan and to seek its recommendation to Cabinet, that the document be 
published for consultation with the public and other interested parties. 
 

 
 



 
Date of the Next Scheduled Meeting 
 
The next scheduled meeting of the Planning Policy and Local Plan Committee will be 
held on a date to be decided and notified in due course. 
 

 
 

Information for Visitors 
 
 
 

FIRE EVACUATION PROCEDURE 
 

There is no alarm test scheduled for this meeting.  In the event of an alarm sounding, please 
calmly make your way out of any of the fire exits in the room and follow the exit signs out of the 
building. 
 
Please heed the instructions given by any member of staff and they will assist you in leaving the 
building and direct you to the assembly point. 
 
Please do not re-enter the building until you are advised it is safe to do so by the relevant member 
of staff. 
 
Your calmness and assistance is greatly appreciated. 
 



This page is intentionally left blank



 Planning Policy and Local Plan Committee 
 

27 July 2023  

 

MINUTES OF THE MEETING OF THE PLANNING POLICY AND LOCAL PLAN 
COMMITTEE, 

HELD ON THURSDAY, 27TH JULY, 2023 AT 6.00 PM 
IN THE COMMITTEE ROOM, AT THE TOWN HALL, STATION ROAD, CLACTON-

ON-SEA, CO15 1SE 
 
Present: Councillors Turner (Chairman), Bush (Vice-Chairman), 

Chapman BEM, M Cossens, Fairley, Scott and Skeels Jnr. 
Also Present: Councillors Baker (Portfolio Holder for Housing & Planning) and 

Fowler (Chairman of the Planning Committee) 
In Attendance: Gary Guiver (Director (Planning)), Ian Ford (Committee Services 

Manager), Will Fuller (Planning Officer) and Keith Durran 
(Committee Services Officer) 

 
 

1. CHAIRMAN'S OPENING AND INTRODUCTORY REMARKS  
 
Opening Remarks 
 
“Good evening fellow Councillors, Officers and members of the public, welcome to the 
first Planning Policy & Local Plan Committee of this new Council. I would like to thank 
the new Administration for their allowing me to continue in my role as your Chairman. It 
is an honour and one I do not take lightly. 
 
I would also like to thank and welcome the Portfolio Holder for Planning and Housing, 
Councillor Andy Baker, and the Chairman of the Planning Committee, Councillor Maria 
Fowler, for attending our meeting. I will ask each of them for their comments before 
each vote is taken.”  
 
Report A.1 – Introductory Remarks 
 
“We have before us this evening the last three of our 20 conservation area appraisals. 
Ardleigh, Great Holland and Tendring village. The recommendation is on page 13 of our 
Agenda. 
 
The report shows that living in conservation areas adds to the health and wellbeing of 
the residents. The residents also have certain permitted development rights removed. 
This we explained in a leaflet that went out with this year’s rates demand. 
 
The twenty conservation areas (CAs) are important to Tendring on various levels but in 
particular, to helping to maintain and enhance the communities they are sited in. The 
rateable value is often higher. Yet the Council offers no extras. To keep a pleasant 
place to live, one is in fact penalised through paying higher rates and having more 
restrictions imposed upon them. 
 
Turning to the appraisals themselves, there appears to be a lack of joined up working 
between Place Services, Town & Parish and District. I draw our attention to pages 100 
& 129 of the Great Holland CA. This is where Place Services consider that two large 
new dwellings are shown to have a negative effect. Yet both the Frinton & Walton Town 
Council and this Council approved. No comments are recorded from Essex County 

Page 1

Agenda Item 3



 Planning Policy and Local Plan Committee 
 

27 July 2023  

 

Council on that application, except Highways. I do hope that our recommendations will 
help to close and rectify these anomalies. 
 
Far too often we find glaring loopholes. I have two such in my Ward at present. Both 
very different and both upsetting to the neighbours and both detracting from the CA by 
reducing the value of the street scene and the health and wellbeing of the residents. 
 
There could be a mechanism to address this. It is an Article 4 Direction. This has to be 
specific and local. It cannot be a general blanket policy. Before we met, I spoke with 
Gary about these very annoying loopholes and his Team will prepare a paper for us in 
the not too distant feature identifying those Conservation Areas where an Article 4 
Direction could be beneficial and what restrictions those Directions could put in place. 
This is where we Councillors together with Parish & Town Councils can bring local 
knowledge to bear and see if we cannot rid our CAs of these annoying, detracting and 
reducing carbuncles. 
 
We also have the timeline of these appraisals and management recommendations that 
we agree. It seems to take an inordinate amount of time from leaving this Committee to 
being adopted as Supplementary Planning Documents. Can this process be speeded 
up? Further comments that we can ask and look to advise those living and working in 
our CAs. 
 
All regional, national and international retail companies have heritage designs. I have 
yet to see one in Tendring. I would draw your attention to the Co-Op store at Dedham. A 
village that I lived and worked in for five years in the late 1970s. It certainly did not look 
like that then. It can be done and must be done. 
 
There is also the problem of plastic windows, guttering, fascias and general upkeep of 
properties. We must not go too far in our suggestions and zeal! That is for the grade 
listing to do. Living in Frinton’s CA means to me that I am a custodian of my property 
and I will try to leave it better than found for the next owner. That is the idea! Now we 
have climate change and all the extra costs that brings to those owning older properties. 
 
I do think we should be offering residents a guiding light in how to adapt their properties. 
In particular, regarding solar panels, glazing and insulation. There are cost effective 
ways of doing this. These three and the 17 other reports points the way, but is really not 
much use to CA residents. I am sure that with Officer help this Committee can come up 
with a more pragmatic approach that will aid and abet our CA property owners.” 
 
Report A.2 – Introductory Remarks 
 
“The National Grid has made some revisions to its Norwich to Tilbury power line 
proposal and are running a further round of consultation. These changes bring little 
comfort to our communities that will be affected. Not only are we faced with this pylon 
and substation proposal and the on-shore infrastructure associated with the Five 
Estuaries and North Falls windfarm proposals; we now also face the prospect of a third 
scheme encroaching on and interfering with our District. This is the Tarshon 
interconnector. It is proposed to join the UK’s grid to Germany’s and will allow for 
electricity to flow both ways.” 
 
Agenda Item 8 
 

Page 2



 Planning Policy and Local Plan Committee 
 

27 July 2023  

 

“I have started the process of the five year review of our excellent Local Plan. This an A 
to Z approach. Seeing what policies work, what are not performing as well as expected, 
what needs updating, reinforcing or being left well alone! I would welcome any thoughts, 
suggestions and views from any Members and, in particular, from those sitting on this 
Committee and the Planning Committee.” 
 

2. APOLOGIES FOR ABSENCE AND SUBSTITUTIONS  
 
Apologies for absence were submitted on behalf of Councillors Lennard and Thompson 
(with no substitutes). 
 

3. DECLARATIONS OF INTEREST  
 
In respect of Item 7 on the Agenda (Report of the Director (Planning), report A.2 – 
Norwich to Tilbury Second Non-Statutory Consultation), Councillor Fairley declared a 
Disclosable Pecuniary Interest and a Non-Registerable Interest in relation to land owned 
and farmed by her husband as well as other family and friends’ farms which might be 
affected by the construction of sub/connector stations and/or cable routes, along the 
currently proposed, preferred routes for both North Falls and Five Estuaries, which were 
the routes published within their respective consultation documents.  
 
Councillor Fairley further informed the Committee that a dispensation had been granted 
to her by the Council’s Monitoring Officer both in relation to the DPI and the Non-
Registerable Interest regarding family interests, in order for her to be able to participate 
in debates, votes and to remain in Council meetings, on the subject matter of National 
Grid’s Great Grid Upgrade and any wind farm developments, which came forward, 
where National Grid had offered connection to GGUNT (formerly EAG) at Little Bromley.  
Those currently included Five Estuaries, North Falls and, more recently, Tarchon 
Interconnector. 
 
The Dispensation had been granted pursuant to the criteria of Section 33(2)(c) of the 
Localism Act 2011. The Monitoring Officer’s reason for granting the dispensation was as 
follows:- 
 
“The reason for the decision is on the grounds that it is in the interests of persons living 
in the authority’s area for the dispensation to be granted.  Councillor Fairley is the sole 
ward Councillor for the area and the Council is not the decision maker regarding the 
proposals, although it has an opportunity to voice its residents’ and businesses’ 
concerns, and act in the best interests of the District.  The land area to be impacted 
within the District of Tendring is vast, although acknowledging some family members 
own land within the area.” 
 
Also in relation to Agenda Item 7, Councillor Turner declared for the public record that 
he was the Ward Member for Frinton-on-Sea, which would be affected by the cable 
routes coming ashore from the proposed off-shore windfarms. 
 
In respect of Agenda Item 6 – Report of the Director (Planning) – A.1 – Conservation 
Area Character Appraisals and Management Plans for Ardleigh, Great Holland and 
Tendring Village, Councillor Fairley declared for the public record that she was the Ward 
Member for Ardleigh. 
 

4. MINUTES OF THE LAST MEETING  

Page 3



 Planning Policy and Local Plan Committee 
 

27 July 2023  

 

It was RESOLVED that the Minutes of the last meeting of the Committee held on 
Tuesday 18 April 2023 be approved as a correct record and signed by the Chairman. 
 
In relation to Minute 35, the Director (Planning) informed the Committee that the 
Regulation 19 public consultation on the DPD Submission Version for the Garden 
Community had now closed. The Authorities were now considering the representations 
received with a view to submitting them to the Secretary of State during September 
2023. The Secretary of State would then appoint a Planning Inspector to carry out an 
Examination-in-Public of the DPD in due course. It would be for the Planning Inspector 
to set the agenda for that Examination. 
 

5. QUESTIONS ON NOTICE PURSUANT TO COUNCIL PROCEDURE RULE 38  
 
No questions on notice pursuant to Council Procedure Rule 38 had been submitted on 
this occasion. 
 

6. PUBLIC SPEAKING  
 
Pursuant to the provisions of the Council’s public speaking scheme for the Planning 
Policy & Local Plan Committee, no member of the public had registered to ask at this 
meeting a question regarding the matters contained in the report of the Director 
(Planning). 
 
Bill Marshall, a member of the public, attended the meeting and made, at the 
appropriate juncture, the following statement on the matters contained in the report of 
the Director (Planning), item A.2 – Norwich to Tilbury Second Non-Statutory 
Consultation. 
 
“I note that there seems to be no public engagement with this important development for 
Tendring. The climate around the UK’s power generation supply and network 
distribution is ever changing and seems to be currently in a state of flux. Secretary of 
State Michael Gove MP’s recent statements on the NMPF, and the national 
infrastructure projects and their funding, indicate that this project (the Norwich to Tilbury 
power lines) will not take place as proposed. I recommend that Officers do not use too 
much resource on this at the detriment of other important local projects. Thank you.” 
 

7. REPORT OF DIRECTOR (PLANNING) - A.1 - CONSERVATION AREA CHARACTER 
APPRAISALS AND MANAGEMENT PLANS FOR ARDLEIGH, GREAT HOLLAND 
AND TENDRING VILLAGE  
 
Earlier on in the meeting, as detailed under Minute 3 above, Councillor Fairley had 
declared for the public record that she was the Ward Member for Ardleigh. 
 
The Committee considered a comprehensive report of the Director (Planning) (A.1) 
which reported to it the Ardleigh, Great Holland and Tendring Conservation Area 
Appraisals and Management Plans prepared for the Council by Essex Place Services, 
and requested that the Committee agreed a recommendation to Cabinet that they be 
published for consultation purposes. 
 
Alterations to Boundaries 
 
Ardleigh  

Page 4



 Planning Policy and Local Plan Committee 
 

27 July 2023  

 

It was proposed to revise the boundary to remove the modern residential developments 
including Picotts Place and other modern dwellings constructed in the land formerly 
occupied by Ardleigh Hall. The Limes, Church View, Chapel Croft and Forge Court were 
also proposed for removal from the Conservation Area boundary as they were of low 
historic interest and made a limited contribution to the character and appearance of the 
Conservation Area. 
 
It was further proposed to extend the boundary to include the Ardleigh Studios (former 
goods sheds) located to the south of the railway line. Those buildings appeared to be 
mid-late nineteenth century in origin and contributed positively to the architectural 
interest and industrial history of the Conservation Area. 
 
Minor alterations were also proposed to rationalise the Conservation Area boundary 
against existing plot boundaries. 
 
Great Holland  
 
The war memorial on Rectory Road had not been included within the previous 
boundary. A small extension was therefore recommended to include the monument. It 
was an unusual memorial, being built of brick and tile, and originally functioned as a 
drinking fountain. The memorial made a beneficial contribution to the character of the 
area and had communal, historic and aesthetic value.  
 
The 1981 boundary had terminated at the Saltings (number 30 Manor Road). A second 
extension was recommended to the south-western end of the boundary on Manor Road, 
to include the Village Hall and the dwelling at number 25 Manor Road. The Village Hall 
had been constructed in 1909 and historic photographs showed it was a rendered 
building with a louvered cupola, arch headed windows, a central clock on the main 
façade and iron brackets supporting the guttering. The building had undergone 
unsympathetic alterations over the decades, with the tops of the arched window 
openings being infilled to form square openings, the replacement of the original 
windows with uPVC and the building finished with pebble-dash render. The original form 
of the windows was still visible within the render. The iron brackets supporting the 
guttering still remained, as did the clock, whilst the cupola had been reinstated in 2012. 
The building had historic and communal value and had a prominent presence in the 
street scene when looking west down Manor Road from the area in front of the Ship Inn, 
or from outside the Conservation Area looking east. 
 
Opposite the Village Hall was the dwelling at number 25. This was a distinctive, late 
Victorian detached house, which had its original windows and decorative joinery above 
ground floor level. It was understood to have been the home of Henry Ratcliffe, who had 
established a foundry and lawnmower production business on the site of what was now 
Great Holland Court (off Manor Road) in the late-nineteenth century. Thus, the building 
was of local architectural and historic interest. The proposed boundary extension 
excluded the modern development at Great Holland Court and the modern dwellings at 
31-35 and 28-26 Manor Road. 
 
Tendring  
 
It was proposed to revise the boundary to remove the modern residential developments 
at the east end of Thorpe Road, on the southern side, beyond Holly Tree Cottage. 

Page 5



 Planning Policy and Local Plan Committee 
 

27 July 2023  

 

Those dwellings were of limited historic interest and architectural interest and made little 
contribution to the special interest of the Conservation Area 
 
It was also proposed to remove the two large open fields immediately to the south of the 
modern residential development on Thorpe Road. Whilst the fields contributed to the 
rural character of the setting of Tendring Village, they did not have a strong historic or 
functional relationship with historic buildings along The Street and Thorpe Road, nor did 
they hold any inherent special historic or architectural interest. Those fields did however 
contain undated archaeological features, which contributed to understanding the historic 
landscape and activity prior to the settlement of the village. It was therefore, considered 
that they were better recognised as key elements of the setting of the Conservation 
Area, providing an appreciation and understanding of the historic development and 
context of the area. 
 
Designated Heritage Assets 
 
The Appraisals made note of the listed buildings, scheduled monuments and registered 
parks and gardens in each Conservation Area. 
 
Proposed Non-designated heritage assets 
 
There was some overlap between those Appraisals and the Local List project which had 
been put before Members in October 2022. Each of the Conservation Area Appraisals 
proposed a number of buildings to be considered on the Council’s Local List. 
 
Those buildings had been identified as they were either considered to be good 
examples of their type or architectural style; were prominent local landmarks; 
demonstrated use of local materials; or design features; or were connected to local 
historical events, activities or people; and were all relatively complete in their survival. 
 
Ardleigh 
 

 The Hollies 
 Numbers 1-6 The Street and Post Office 
 Hall (west of the Vicarage) 
 The Dairy 
 Numbers 1-3 Chapel Cottages, Colchester Road 
 Number 5 Station Road 
 Tavern House 
 Station House 
 Ardleigh Studios (former goods sheds) 

 
Great Holland 
 

 The Ship Inn, Rectory Road 
 Number 25 Manor Road 
 Sea View Rectory Road 
 The Rectory 
 The War Memorial 
 The Village Hall 

 

Page 6



 Planning Policy and Local Plan Committee 
 

27 July 2023  

 

Tendring Village 
 

 New Hall 
 The Village Hall (former National School) 
 Church House 
 The Old Rectory (formerly The Grange) 

 
Heritage at Risk 
 
No buildings within any of the three Conservation Areas currently featured on the 
national list of Heritage at Risk published by Historic England. 
 
Archaeology 
 
Throughout those Conservation Areas there was the potential for a multitude of below-
ground heritage assets yet to be discovered. In general, the appraisals promoted a 
cautious approach to development, which might disturb or destroy those assets. 
 
Assessment of significance 
 
Each assessment considered the following features: 
 

 Layout 
 Building materials and boundary treatments 
 Listed buildings and non-designated heritage assets. 
 Other buildings 
 Landscaping and open spaces 
 Views 

 
Opportunities for Enhancement 
 
Ardleigh  
 
Inappropriate signage had been identified at some of the commercial properties at the 
centre of the conservation Area. 
 
Great Holland 

 
New development in the Great Holland Conservation Area could detract from its special 
architectural character. 
 
Great Holland & Tendring 
  
In Tendring village and Great Holland a number of solar panels had been inserted in 
prominent locations within the Conservation area which detracted from its character. 
 
All three Conservation Areas 
 

 In all of the Conservation Areas, inappropriate use of materials including windows 
and doors was an issue. 

 Also, in all the Conservation Areas no interpretation around heritage features was 
given.  

Page 7



 Planning Policy and Local Plan Committee 
 

27 July 2023  

 

Management Proposals 
 

 Production of a list of local non-designated heritage assets 
 The Council using Article 4 Directions and its enforcement powers within all 

Conservation Areas. 
 The Council should work closely with the Highways Authority to address street 

clutter and signage in all three Conservation Areas 
 All three Conservation Areas would benefit from heritage interpretation within the 

Conservation Area. 
 Tendring village and Great Holland would benefit from the Climate Change and 

historic environment guidance produced by the County Council. 
 
Funding Opportunities 
 

 Heritage Lottery Fund 
 Section 106 Agreements 
 Partnership Schemes in Conservation Areas 

 
At the invitation of the Chairman, the Housing & Planning Portfolio Holder (Councillor 
Baker) and the Chairman of the Planning Committee (Councillor Fowler) addressed this 
Committee on the subject matter of this item.  
 
Councillor Baker praised Officers and the Committee, past and present, for getting the 
review of all 20 conservation areas completed in only three years since the Council had 
approved its heritage strategy. He looked forward to seeing this review at Cabinet and 
he, also, looked forward to seeing the ‘Local Lists’ at some point in the future. 
 
Councillor Fowler endorsed Councillor Baker’s comments on the hard work of the 
Officers and the Committee. 
 
It was moved by Councillor Scott, seconded by Councillor Bush and unanimously:- 
 
RESOLVED that the Planning Policy and Local Plan Committee: 
 
a) endorses the new Conservation Area Appraisals and Management Plans for 

Ardleigh (Appendix 1 to item A.1 of the Report of the Director (Planning)), Great 
Holland (Appendix 2 thereto) and Tendring village (Appendix 3 thereto);  

 
b) recommends to Cabinet that the above documents forming Appendices 1, 2 and 3 

be published for consultation with the public and other interested parties; and 
 

c) requests that in the event that future reviews of a Conservation Area or Areas within 
a Parish or Parishes coincides with that Parish or Parishes or other qualifying 
bodies formulating a Neighbourhood Plan then that Parish or Parishes or other 
qualifying bodies will be consulted by Officers at an earlier stage of the review(s) in 
order that the said Parish or Parishes or other qualifying bodies can take any 
material considerations arising therefrom forward as part of the Neighbourhood 
Plan process. 

 
8. REPORT OF THE DIRECTOR (PLANNING) - A.2 - NORWICH TO TILBURY SECOND 

NON-STATUTORY CONSULTATION  
 

Page 8



 Planning Policy and Local Plan Committee 
 

27 July 2023  

 

Earlier on in the meeting, as detailed under Minute 3 above, Councillor Fairley had 
declared a Disclosable Pecuniary Interest and a Non-Registerable Interest in relation to 
this item. Councillor Fairley had further informed the Committee that a Dispensation had 
been granted to her by the Council’s Monitoring Officer both in relation to the DPI and 
the Non-Registerable Interest pursuant to the criteria of Section 33(2)(c) of the Localism 
Act 2011. 
 
In addition, Councillor Turner had declared for the public record that he was the Ward 
Member for Frinton-on-Sea, which would be affected by the cable routes coming ashore 
from the proposed off shore windfarms. 
 
The Committee considered a report of the Director (Planning) (A.2),  which sought its 
comments on revised proposals from the National Grid for the ‘Norwich to Tilbury’ 
(formerly East Anglia GREEN) and also in relation to a draft response from Tendring 
District Council to the current, second non-statutory consultation exercise. 
 
Members were aware that the UK Government was committed to achieving net zero 
emissions by 2050.  Consequently, the way electricity was generated in the UK was 
changing rapidly. New offshore windfarms had a key part to play in the transition to 
cheaper, greener more secure sources of energy.  This was the second round of non-
statutory consultation by the National Grid on the proposed upgrade to the transmission 
network between Norwich and Tilbury.  The purpose of this consultation was to present 
revised proposals having assessed feedback received at the initial consultation in spring 
2022, and to seek comments on those revisions.    
 
The Committee was reminded that in order to ensure the power network had the 
capacity to accommodate a projected increase in demand for electricity generated from 
renewable means, National Grid was proposing the ‘Norwich to Tilbury’ project. This 
involved: 
  
• A new 400kV powerline between Norwich and Bramford (near Ipswich);  
• A new 400kV powerline between Bramford and Tilbury; and 
• A new 400kV substation - the East Anglian Connection Node (EACN) in the Tendring 

District area to facilitate the connection to the proposed North Falls Offshore 
Windfarm, Five Estuaries Offshore Windfarm – both of which were to be located off 
the Tendring District coast, and a 1400MW interconnector between the UK and 
Germany being developed by Tarchon Energy.  

 
It was reported that as a Nationally Significant Infrastructure Project (NSIP), the 
planning process would be overseen by central Government and a specialist unit within 
the Planning Inspectorate. National Grid would be seeking a ‘Development Consent 
Order’ (DCO) from Government, as opposed to planning permission from the local 
authority – however local authorities like Tendring District Council would be consultees 
in the process.  
 
Members were aware that the project was currently at its second, non-statutory 
consultation where National Grid were inviting comments on its revised proposals.  It 
had commenced on Tuesday 27th June 2023 and would close on Monday 21st August 
2023.  National Grid had a programme of briefing sessions for stakeholders, 
communities and other interested parties – some of which had already taken place. The 
intention was to proceed to a statutory consultation in 2024, the submission of the DCO 
application in 2025, an examination and decision process over the course of 2025 to 

Page 9



 Planning Policy and Local Plan Committee 
 

27 July 2023  

 

2026. Construction would commence in 2027 and the project would be fully operational 
from 2031.  
 
In anticipation that the North Falls and Five Estuaries Offshore Windfarms (which would 
be the subject of their own DCO process) would connect to the grid in Tendring, it was 
proposed that there would be a large electricity substation (EACN) in the Tendring 
District. This would enable connection of the windfarms and the proposed 1400MW 
Tarchon Energy interconnector to the new 400kV Norwich to Tilbury powerline.  
 
The Committee was informed that the preferred location of the EACN substation was 
close to the existing 132kV substation south of Lawford and west of Little Bromley. The 
land-take would be around 20hectares (taking into account the need for landscaping).  It 
was also anticipated that two additional 132kV ‘customer’ substations serving each of 
the two separate windfarms could be located in and around the same area.  
 
The Committee was advised that the preferred route for the 400kV powerline would 
enter the District of Tendring to the north of Ardleigh, coming in through the Dedham 
Vale Area of Outstanding Natural Beauty (AONB) and joining the EACN.  Overhead 
pylons would then run out of the EACN substation passing further north of Ardleigh than 
previously proposed.  As part of the revised proposals the undergrounding of the cables 
would run continuously through the AONB to the substation at Lawford.  
 
It was reported that Essex County Council was working on behalf of all affected local 
authorities to coordinate a technical response to each stage of the DCO project. 
However, Tendring District Council (TDC) could provide its own response and might 
wish to do so from a community perspective.  
 
Informed by initial feedback from communities and informal discussion with TDC 
Members, Officers had prepared a draft response to the non-statutory consultation on 
which comments were invited from the Planning Policy and Local Planning Committee. 
With the agreement of the Leader of the Council and the Housing & Planning Portfolio 
Holder, it was intended that a final version of the response would be submitted to 
National Grid before the consultation period closed on 21st August 2023. 
 
It was suggested by Officers that the response included the following points and 
observations:  
 

 “The Council recognises that this proposal will be determined through the NSIP 
process by central government, supports the comments submitted via Essex 
County Council but wishes to make a number of comments on behalf of its 
communities.  

 
 Concern that alternative routes, including a potential underground route for 

powerlines beneath the seabed around the coast have been discounted and 
suggest that such options are considered further.  

 
 Lack of information on the Tarchon Energy Interconnector means a further 

consultation will be required as we are at present unable to comment. 
 
 Concern about the landscape, visual and potential health impact of giant overhead 

pylons, particularly where they run close to existing communities such as Ardleigh.  
 

Page 10



 Planning Policy and Local Plan Committee 
 

27 July 2023  

 

 Concern that overhead powerlines are a technology that has been in place for some 
100 years and are known to lose a considerable amount of power along the length 
of their route and are considered an inefficient and outdated means of transporting 
energy.  

 
 Suggest that more of the powerline route is underground – particularly the relatively 

short stretches between the EACN, Ardleigh and out towards Colchester.  
 
 Concern about the scale and height of the substation in the preferred location and 

the impact on rural lanes during the construction period – particularly if two 
customer substations are likely to be sited in a similar location.  

 
 The Tendring District is a key contributor to national renewable energy generation 

with a large proportion of wind and solar farms being located both within the District 
and off its coast – however, the communities in Tendring affected by these 
developments receive all the impacts with little or no tangible benefits.  

 
 The benefits to the affected communities must be maximised through either some 

form of planning gain to protection of the local environment, upholding the integrity 
of the coastline, support for local projects, a focus on providing training and job 
opportunities and local discounts on energy bills.” 

 
The Chairman drew attention to a press release issued by the Department for Levelling 
Up, Housing and Communities on 26 July 2023 on the proposed overhaul of planning in 
order to speed up the delivery of vital projects including off-shore wind, transport links 
and other major infrastructure. The related ‘Nationally Significant Infrastructure Projects’ 
public consultation would close on 19 September 2023. Further information on this 
would be circulated to the Committee in the coming days together with a request to 
submit any comments thereon to the Director (Planning). 
 
At the invitation of the Chairman, the Housing & Planning Portfolio Holder (Councillor 
Baker) and the Chairman of the Planning Committee (Councillor Fowler) addressed this 
Committee on the subject matter of this item.  
 
It was moved by Councillor Chapman BEM, seconded by Councillor Scott and:- 
 
RESOLVED that -  
 
(a) the comments expressed by Members at the meeting be incorporated within the 

draft response to the non-statutory consultation on the Norwich to Tilbury project, 
and that Officers, with the agreement of the Leader of the Council and the Housing 
& Planning Portfolio Holder, submit a final version of the response to National Grid; 
and 
 

(b) Officers, in consultation with the Chairman and Vice-Chairman of the Committee 
and taking into account the comments put forward by members of the Committee, 
draw up a proposed response to the Government on its ‘Nationally Significant 
Infrastructure Projects’ consultation, which response will then be submitted to the 
Housing & Planning Portfolio Holder for his consideration. 

 
9. REVIEW OF THE LOCAL PLAN  

 

Page 11



 Planning Policy and Local Plan Committee 
 

27 July 2023  

 

The Committee received a verbal update from the Director (Planning) (Gary Guiver) on 
the review of the Local Plan in which he informed Members that Officers were already 
reviewing the Local Plan especially its policies and the supporting technical evidence. 
There was a requirement under the Regulations that the Local Plan be updated every 
five years but given that this process could take a number of years it was important to 
start as early as practicable. Otherwise, if the Plan was to elapse then the Council 
would, once more, face the spectre of ‘speculative development’. 
 
Mr Guiver informed Members that the current Local Plan would form the basis of the 
review with an intention to extend it into the 2040s. The aim was to strengthen the 
existing Plan policies rather than start again from scratch. Factors that would need to be 
taken into account included:- 
 

(i) Central Government changes to the planning system especially in relation to the 
Plan making process and national planning policy frameworks; 

 
(ii) the projected Housing Need for the District; and 

 
(iii) this Council’s relationship with Colchester City Council and whether there was an 

appetite for a ‘joint plan approach’. 
 

The public would be consulted on putting forward ‘reasonable options’ and a ‘call for 
sites’. 
 
Other matters that would need to be taken into account included:- 
 

 the implications arising from Freeport East; 
 whether to pursue a greater range of smaller developments; 
 the Community Infrastructure Levy; 
 access to public transport; 
 community led projects; and 
 the role of neighbourhood plans. 

 
Mr Guiver reported that areas that had already been identified as being in need of 
strengthening included policies relating to:- 
 
 climate change amelioration; 
 affordability; 
 wildlife and bio-diversity net gain; 
 open spaces; and 
 holiday parks. 

 
Members were made aware that reports on all of the above would be submitted to the 
Committee in due course. 
 
The Committee noted the foregoing. 
  

 The meeting was declared closed at 7.47 pm  
  

 
Chairman 

Page 12



 

PUBLIC SPEAKING SCHEME – PLANNING POLICY & LOCAL PLAN 

COMMITTEE  

JANUARY 2016 

 

GENERAL 

The Public Speaking Scheme (“the Scheme”) is made pursuant to Council Procedure 

Rule 40 and gives the opportunity for a member of the public and other interested 

parties/stakeholders to speak to the Council’s elected members on the Planning Policy 

& Local Plan Committee on any specific agenda item to be considered at that public 

meeting. 

The Scheme covers both questions and statements to the Committee on a particular 

agenda item.  Any individual wishing to speak must contact Committee Services (see 

details below). 

NOTICE OF QUESTION 

If an individual wishes to ask a question, at the Planning Policy & Local Plan 

Committee meeting, prior notification of that question must be received.  The principle 

is to provide the Chairman (or an Officer, if the Chairman decides appropriate) the 

ability to fully answer questions, which have been received in advance. 

Notice of a question is received by delivering it in writing or by email to 

Committee Services on democraticservices@tendringdc.gov.uk, by midday on 

Monday 2 October 2023. 

At the meeting, you will be given an opportunity to read out your question to the 

Committee and an answer will be provided.  Supplementary questions are not 

permitted and there is no debate by the Committee at this stage. 

STATEMENTS 

Advance notification of the content of a statement on specific agenda items is not 

required, but to assist the running of the agenda, notification of wishing to speak should 

Page 13

Agenda Item 6

mailto:democraticservices@tendringdc.gov.uk


be given prior to the meeting.  Please contact Committee Services (email 

democraticservices@tendringdc.gov.uk or telephone 01255 686584). 

NUMBER AND TIMING OF QUESTIONS 

At any Planning Policy & Local Plan Committee meeting an individual is limited to 

asking one question or making a statement per agenda item.  On each agenda item, 

no public speaker may speak for longer than three minutes. 

Consistent with the Council Procedure Rules, the time allocated for receiving and 

disposing of questions shall be a maximum 45 minutes.  Any question not disposed of 

at the end of this time shall be the subject of a written response, and published with 

the minutes of the meeting. 

SCOPE OF STATEMENTS OR QUESTIONS 

Please be straightforward and concise and keep your comments to the content 

of the agenda item.  Please be courteous and do not make personal remarks.  

You may wish to come to the meeting with a written statement of exactly what 

you wish to say or read out, having checked beforehand that it will not overrun 

the three minutes allowed.  

Any question or statement which is not directly related to an agenda item for that 

meeting of the Committee will be rejected.  For questions, any rejection will be 

communicated in advance of the meeting by Officers, and for statements made at the 

meeting, this will be confirmed by the Chairman. 

The Council also reserves its right to reject questions or statements if in its opinion the 

content is defamatory, frivolous or offensive or requires the disclosure of confidential 

or exempt information.  

PLANNING POLICY & LOCAL PLAN COMMITTEE MEMBERS & POINTS OF 

CLARIFICATION 

No public speaker can be questioned by the Committee however, through the 

Chairman, relevant points of clarification arising out of the public speaking can be 

requested at the specific agenda item, before the debate commences.  Points of 

clarification can be given by Officers, with the Chairman’s permission. 

WHO DO I CONTACT FOR MORE INFORMATION 

The Council’s website will help you access documents (web: www.tendringdc.gov.uk) 

If you have a query with regard to public speaking, or wish to register to speak, please 

email democraticservices@tendringdc.gov.uk or telephone 01255 686584. 

If your query is in relation to the Local Plan, please contact: 

Page 14

mailto:democraticservices@tendringdc.gov.uk
http://www.tendringdc.gov.uk/
mailto:democraticservices@tendringdc.gov.uk


Tendring District Council, Planning Services, Town Hall, Station Road, Clacton-on-

Sea, Essex CO15 1SE Tel: 01255 686177 email: planning.policy@tendringdc.gov.uk 

Monitoring Officer, Tendring District Council, in consultation with Head of 
Planning and Chairman of the Planning Policy & Local Plan Committee  

(Council Procedure Rule 40)  

(January 2016) 

 

Page 15

mailto:planning.policy@tendringdc.gov.uk


This page is intentionally left blank



PLANNING POLICY AND LOCAL PLAN COMMITTEE 
 

5 OCTOBER 2023 
 

REPORT OF THE DIRECTOR OF PLANNING 
 

A.1  DRAFT JAYWICK SANDS PLACE PLAN  
(Report prepared by Anthony Brindley) 

 
PART 1 – KEY INFORMATION 
 
PURPOSE OF THE REPORT 

To invite the Planning Policy and Local Plan Committee’s comments on the Draft Jaywick Sands 

Place Plan and to seek its recommendation to Cabinet, that the document be published for 

consultation with the public and other interested parties.  

EXECUTIVE SUMMARY 

Jaywick Sands is identified as a Priority Area for Regeneration in the Tendring Local Plan. The 

purpose of the Place Plan is to provide a long term strategy for the regeneration of Jaywick Sands 

with the main objectives being to: 

 

• Transform housing quality and the built environment;   

• Ensure long term flood resilience; 

• Create greater connectivity to neighbouring areas; 

• Attract commerce & new economic opportunities; and 

• Improve people's life chances, access to public services & health & wellbeing. 

 

In order to achieve this, the Place Plan proposes a number interventions including: 

 

• Flood defence and seafront public realm improvements; 

• Improvements to residential areas (including replacement dwellings); 

• Creating space for business, tourism and local services; 

• Improvements to public open space; 

• Increased accessibility and connectivity;  

• Drainage infrastructure; and 

• Ongoing community engagement and stewardship. 

 

These interventions are, in combination, intended to elevate Jaywick Sands from the bottom of the 

English Index of Multiple Deprivation.  

Realising this vision will necessitate significant funding in excess of £120million for which there is no 

available budget at present. It does however provide, for the first time, a costed plan containing 

tangible proposals that can form the basis for discussion with government, the Council’s partners and 

other potential funders and to support future bids for external funding. The full implementation of the 

Page 17

Agenda Item 7



strategy detailed in the Place Plan is expected to span a period of 20 years and any improvements 

are most likely to be achieved in manageable phases. 

The proposals in the Draft Place Plan form part of an overarching strategy, which has been informed 

by previous public consultation and community engagement – including that undertaken in Autumn 

2022. It represents an approach that that has, to date, been developed with the community with a 

view to delivery with strong community stewardship; whereas previous unsuccessful ideas for the 

regeneration of Jaywick Sands have met with local objection as they have been seen as being 

imposed upon the community against their wishes. Officers are hopeful therefore that this Place Plan 

(which rules out extreme, unpopular and undeliverable options) will meet with constructive feedback 

and local support.  

RECOMMENDATIONS 
 
That the Planning Policy and Local Plan Committee: 
 
a) notes the contents of the Draft Jaywick Sands Place Plan: August 2023; and  
 
b) recommends to Cabinet that the above document (forming Appendix 1 to this report) be 

approved for consultation with the public and other interested parties. 
 
 
PART 2 – IMPLICATIONS OF THE DECISION 
 
DELIVERING PRIORITIES 

A corporate priority of the Council is supporting the community in Jaywick Sands and achieving 

regeneration in the area, which is identified as a Priority Area for Regeneration in the Council’s 

adopted Local Plan.  

 
RESOURCES AND RISK 

Resources: TDC Officers are managing this project with HAT Projects Ltd undertaking the 

production of the document and the consultation exercise – funded through the agreed Local Plan 

budget. 

Risks: Undertaking consultation with the community of Jaywick Sands will help to involve the 

residents in the production of the Place Plan and determine whether there is local support. This 

should lower the risk of public opposition and any suggestion that the Council is attempting to impose 

change upon a community, rather than work with the community to achieve the right changes. There 

is a risk that external funding to implement the proposals in the Place Plan may not be forthcoming; 

but this risk would be substantially greater if there were no plan in place identifying tangible and 

costed proposals. Having a Place Plan therefore puts the Council and its partners in a much stronger 

position to access external funding if or when it becomes available.   

 
 

Page 18



LEGAL 

Policy PP14 of the Tendring Local Plan states that ‘Brooklands’, ‘Grasslands’ and ‘the Village’ areas 

of Jaywick Sands are Priority Areas for Regeneration. The policy states that ‘these areas will be a 

focus for investment in social, economic and physical infrastructure and initiatives to improve vitality, 

environmental quality, social inclusion, economic prospects, education, health, community safety, 

accessibility and green infrastructure.’ Paragraph 6.10.5 in the Local Plan continues by stating that 

‘In order to achieve this, the Council in collaboration with the Coastal Communities Team, is 

producing the Jaywick Sands Place Plan. This will provide a development framework for the physical 

regeneration of Jaywick Sands facilitating the provision of new flood resilient homes built to modern 

building standards which will provide a high standard of accommodation for existing residents as 

well as providing land for employment opportunities and recreation and amenity areas. Public 

consultation will be key to its production and the Council recognise that only with the support of the 

local community will the proposals be deliverable.’  

 

The process Officers and our consultants HAT Projects have followed in preparing the Place Plan 

has been similar to that for a Local Plan or Supplementary Planning Document (SPD) – although it 

is not intended that the Place Plan be adopted and utilised as an SPD or a purely planning document 

as it contains a variety of proposed interventions that go beyond simple material planning 

considerations.  As such, the Place Plan is not being advanced as a statutory planning document 

and will not be subject to an independent examination by the Planning Inspectorate before it can be 

finalised and adopted.  

 

It is intended that the Place Plan will be adopted by the Council as its overarching strategy for working 

with partners and the community to regenerate Jaywick Sands over a long-term period. Whilst it will 

be a material consideration in the determination of some planning applications in the Jaywick Sands 

area, the proposals within the Place Plan extend beyond planning interventions. In contrast, the 

Jaywick Sands Design Guide Supplementary Planning Document (SPD), adopted by the Council in 

February 2023 is a formal planning document, providing a detailed and specific interpretation of the 

Local Plan policies, for development in Jaywick Sands and will therefore carry greater weight, as a 

material planning consideration, in the determination of individual planning applications.   

 

There are four main stages in the  production of the Place Plan that the Council and its consultants 

are following: 

 

1. Preparation and informal consultation 

2. Consultation (four to six weeks) 

3. Consideration of representations and completion of the final draft of the Place Plan 

4. Adoption by the Council 

The Committee report requests comments from the Members of the Planning Policy and Local Plan 

Committee and a recommendation to Cabinet to proceed with the formal consultation exercise on 

the Place Plan document.  

 

Page 19



Following the Stage 2 formal consultation exercise, the Council and its consultants will carefully 

consider all representations received before producing a final version of the Place Plan for Members’ 

consideration for adoption. 

OTHER IMPLICATIONS 

Crime and Disorder: In producing the Place Plan, the Police will be consulted so that measures to 

lower the opportunity and frequency of crime can be mitigated. In seeking to achieve long-term 

regeneration in the Jaywick Sands area and tackle issues around deprivation, the intention is that 

issues around crime can be addressed; for example by increase job opportunities, improving access 

to education and improving housing quality.   

 
Equality and Diversity: The Place Plan has been subject to an Equalities Impact Assessment 
(EQIA).  
 

Health Inequalities: The general health in Jaywick Sands is comparatively poor, with over 20% of 

residents in bad health or very bad health according to 2011 census data. Across Jaywick Sands 

only 25% of residents are in very good health, while Tendring district averages at just under 40%, 

and nearly 50% nationally. There is not much variation, though Brooklands and Grasslands are 

worse, with poor health almost five times higher than the national average. As this area actually has 

the youngest age profile of all the Jaywick Local Super Output Areas, it is particularly concerning 

that the concentration of poor health is found in this area. This also correlates with the Index of 

Multiple Deprivation data on health. The improvements outlined in the Place Plan will increase the 

living standards of residents and result in less health inequalities. 

 

Area or Ward affected: West Clacton and Jaywick Sands Ward 

 
PART 3 – SUPPORTING INFORMATION  
 
BACKGROUND 

The aims of the Place Plan, as stated in the Tendring Local Plan, is to "provide a development 

framework for the physical regeneration of Jaywick Sands facilitating the provision of new flood 

resilient homes built to modern building standards which will provide a high standard of 

accommodation for existing residents as well as providing land for employment opportunities and 

recreation and amenity areas.” 

 

In line with the Tendring Local Plan, the Place Plan objectives are to: 

 

• Transform housing quality and the built environment;  

• Ensure long term flood resilience;  

• Create greater connectivity to neighbouring areas; 

• Attract commerce & new economic opportunities; and 

• Improve people's life chances, access to public services & health & wellbeing 

 
Page 20



The Place Plan will also allow the Council to present a coordinated regeneration strategy which is 

costed and forms the basis to bid for Government monies and grants. 

 

In the absence of a Place Plan, the present situation of residents living in inadequate private and 

rented accommodation will continue. The problems are likely to escalate over time, and, given the 

historical rate of development on Jaywick Sands, the probability is only a small number of new or 

replacement dwellings will be constructed. In the scenario of a flood event, the current properties will 

provide only minimal protection. The level of accommodation is a very significant contributor to 

Jaywick Sands being listed as the most deprived area in the country; this would continue. Overall, 

the absence of a Place Plan will mean development and regeneration in Jaywick Sands will occur 

on a piecemeal basis or not happen at all, with the Council only having a limited ability to seek funding 

for regeneration projects.   

 
JAYWICK SANDS PLACE PLAN 

The Place Plan sets out a vision and ambition for the future of Jaywick Sands, along with 

recommendations and actions to achieve it. The plan has been developed through research, 

consultation, and engagement. The plan aims to improve the quality of housing, the physical 

environment, the flood resilience, the connectivity, the economic opportunities, and the public 

services and wellbeing of Jaywick Sands. The plan also recognises the strengths and potential of 

Jaywick Sands, such as its beaches, history, and community. 

In order to achieve this, the Place Plan proposes a series of interventions: 

Flood defence and seafront public realm (see section 7) 

The Place Plan focuses on securing protection against sea level rise, which is crucial for the 

community’s sustainability and is the most costly and challenging aspect of the Plan. The Jaywick 

Sands Place Plan area, located in Flood Zone 3, has approximately 1800 homes at risk of flooding. 

The area contains a high number of poor quality homes vulnerable to flooding, both presently and in 

the future. Current flood risks include depths of 450mm (0.45m) for some homes during a design 

(0.5% Annual Exceedance Probability) flood event, and this could increase to depths of 3m and 

above over the next century. All emergency access and evacuation routes are also significantly 

affected by flooding. This poses a serious threat to life and property. Therefore, enhancing the safety 

of residents during a flood event and improving the flood resistance and resilience of homes is 

crucial. 

Page 21



 

.Isometric sketch showing the main elements of the proposed seafront design strategy along the Brooklands 

 

Sketch visualisation of the proposed new seafront design strategy along the Brooklands seafront 

 

Page 22



 

Indicative cross-section showing the strategic design approach to the Brooklands seafront 

The illustrated design framework (see above) for the seafront area of Jaywick Sands involves 

constructing a new sea wall approximately 10-15m on the seaward side of the existing sea wall. The 

existing sea wall would then be demolished and the space used for improved public realm and beach 

accessibility. An additional rock groyne and beach nourishment may be required to widen the beach 

at the narrowest part of the Village. The design framework minimises the visual impact of the raised 

sea wall by integrating it into a new raised promenade and a landscaped bank on the landward side, 

allowing stepped and ramped access, reconfiguring Brooklands as a one-way street with full 

pavements on both sides and a segregated cycle track, and creating additional seafront facilities 

such as parking, play areas, and space for stalls or kiosks. A new beach boardwalk along the length 

of the beach will also be created, usable by wheelchair users and enabling easier navigation for 

those who find the current distance between the sea wall and the sea edge challenging. 

The Place Plan states that the seafront strategy will result in a wide range of benefits and address a 

number of the strategic objectives of the Place Plan. These include: 

 Increasing the flood safety and flood resilience of the community as a whole 

 Increase in value of property, and therefore the viability of upgrading substandard or non-

flood-resilient homes due to their safety from flooding. Currently flood risk is a factor in keeping 

property values in Jaywick Sands abnormally low (although it is not the sole factor). 

 Increasing value of seafront properties due to a better quality outlook, views and public 

realm/accessibility 

 Additional tourism potential due to better beach access, promenade and beachside facilities 

integrated into public realm 

 A safe and accessible seafront allowing more people to walk and cycle, improving access to 

services and jobs in the wider area and increasing road safety 

 Improved mental and physical health and wellbeing due to the increased accessibility of the 

beach and integration of play, recreation and leisure opportunities into the public realm. 

The delivery timeline of the seafront framework will impact the wider regeneration benefits and 

market-led investment confidence. 

Page 23



The preferred option for upgraded flood defences, integrating new public realm, improved beach 

accessibility, and new facilities, requires a funding commitment of around £108m at 2023 values. If 

delivery is planned for after 2033, when national Flood Defence Grant in Aid (FDGiA) benefits can 

be drawn down to part-fund the scheme, the partnership funding required may be around £84m at 

2023 values. 

 

Visualisation showing the nationally preferred option 

However, if only the nationally preferred option for flood defences were implemented (see above), 

with no additional public realm or seafront amenities, it would require partnership funding of around 

£20m (2023 values). As the Place Plan highlights, without the public amenity improvements, this 

option would result in significant blight to the visual and social amenity of the residents of Jaywick 

Sands. 

Delivery would be phased with the first phase in 2023 and the second planned for around 2058. The 

next steps include further technical studies to develop the design approach, impact assessments 

including an economic impact appraisal to evaluate benefit-cost ratio for the preferred option, and 

exploration of partnership funding options. Some elements of the seafront strategy suitable for ‘quick 

wins’ include implementing a pilot scheme converting Brooklands to a one-way system and 

introducing a footway segregated from the carriageway, and delivery of the beach boardwalk 

connected to existing ramped access points. 

Improvements to residential areas (see section 8) 

The report shows that Jaywick Sands has very low housing quality, which affects the lives, health, 

and wellbeing of the residents and causes deprivation in the community (see evidence in Section 3 
Page 24



and 4). To improve the existing residential areas, the strategy aims to reduce blight and increase the 

number of good quality and flood safe homes by reusing vacant and derelict plots. This will also help 

achieve other Place Plan objectives such as enhancing the public realm.  

The reuse of vacant and derelict plots in Jaywick Sands will require initial investment in plot 

acquisition and development. The development model will either require full funding through the 

Council or through a potential sale and leaseback or rental guarantee arrangement with an 

institutional investor. The underlying increase in value of the properties over time, as values rise in 

Jaywick Sands due to the wider regeneration programme, accrues to the Council. Development of 

new homes on vacant plots will be most effectively achieved using a pattern book of house types 

developed specifically for Jaywick Sands and potentially utilising off-site prefabricated construction. 

At present day values, the purchase and development of vacant and derelict plots in line with the 

recommended strategy may require investment of between £8m-£10m.  

The Place Plan recommends that the next steps should include establishing the: 

 funding requirement for the acquisition of vacant and derelict plots 

 developing an outline pattern book designs for plot redevelopment 

 securing funding for acquisition and development of vacant and derelict plots  

 exploring potential funding options to incentivise owner-occupiers to improve flood resilience 

of their properties 

 Where people would be open to relocating, exploring alternative options for housing 

elsewhere in the Borough 

A quick win that can be delivered in the short term is developing technical guidance for property 

owners for assessing the flood resilience of their properties, implementing improvements and 

preparing flood safety plans. 

Creating space for business, tourism and local services (see section 9)  

The Place Plan advocates a strategy for enhancing the local economy which will build on the existing 

features and potential of Jaywick Sands. There are several areas that have been identified as having 

growth opportunities that would benefit the local community and create local jobs. These include 

filling the gaps in local services that the community needs, such as food and grocery shops, laundry, 

mobile phone repair, dental care, early childhood education and other services. Providing space for 

these services would generate employment and reduce deprivation indicators such as how far 

residents have to travel to access basic shops, which should be within walking distance from every 

home. Jaywick Sands also has a good potential to provide start-up and expansion space for small 

businesses, as there is land available in public ownership, reasonable vehicle access and low 

competition from other developments. This would address the shortage of such space in the wider 

Tendring district. Tendring District Council has already made a positive investment in the Sunspot 

workspace and covered market project, which has been completed recently and has shown a good 

demand for commercial space in Jaywick Sands, especially for shopfront units. Developing the 

tourism and visitor services sector is another key area for growth in Jaywick Sands. This would 

involve creating space for businesses such as retail, food and drink, services and visitor 

Page 25



accommodation, as close as possible to the beach and other local facilities. The Place Plan 

concludes with some suggested next steps, such as forming a working group, conducting feasibility 

studies and offering shopfront improvement grants. 

Public Open Spaces (see section 10) 

The Place Plan aims to enhance public open spaces in Jaywick Sands to support active lifestyles, 

health and wellbeing, biodiversity, sustainable drainage, and other objectives of the plan. The 

strategy will benefit residents and attract new economic activity by improving the visitor experience. 

Currently, Jaywick Sands has two equipped open spaces classified as NEAPs and one informal play 

landscape (LAP). There are three smaller open spaces to the west of The Village that are small 

greens with minimal trees, planting, seating, and other public and environmental assets. A further 

green open space along Garden Road (partially privately owned) is addressed as part of this 

strategy, as is the strip of land along the back of Brooklands, between the ditch and Lotus Way and 

the beach itself. All these spaces require improvements to bring them in line with current standards, 

address deficits (see section 3), and better serve residents. The strategy for improving public open 

spaces has been developed through an assessment of current condition, opportunities and 

constraints, and insights from formal and informal consultation. An outline functional brief has been 

drawn up for each open space to inform outline delivery costs and should be used as a starting point 

for further project development. The identified public open space improvements in Jaywick Sands 

can be delivered as standalone projects and could be considered as potential ‘quick wins’ as they 

do not have significant dependencies with other aspects of the Place Plan framework. Subject to 

funding, the improvements could be delivered within a 2-3 year timeframe.  Delivery and funding 

partners could include community groups, Active Essex/Essex County Council, as well as other grant 

funding schemes aimed at improving health. 

Accessibility and Connectivity (see section 11) 

The Place Plan aims to make Jaywick Sands more accessible and connected for its residents, who 

face many difficulties in reaching essential services, work opportunities, and social networks. The 

Plan suggests enhancing existing paths and creating new ones for walking and cycling, as well as 

improving bus stops, alleyways, and emergency routes. These changes will also benefit residents’ 

health and wellbeing by allowing them to enjoy the natural environment around them. 

 

 

 

 

Page 26



 

Map showing proposed new route and alternative emergency access route to be safeguarded. 

Some of the proposed improvements are: 

 A new path across Tudor Fields that will connect different parts of the community and serve 

as an emergency escape route in case of flooding. 

 A new path from Lotus Way to Crossways that will shorten the travel time to the primary school 

and open up access to green space. 

 Walking-only paths around Tudor Fields and Brooklands/Grasslands that will be suitable for 

walkers and wheelchair users, with places to rest and appreciate nature. However, these 

paths will require consultation with residents to address their concerns about safety, security, 

and maintenance. 

 Alleyways in Brooklands and Grasslands that will be upgraded with better surfaces, lighting, 

and repairs to walls and fences. These alleyways are currently not used much due to their 

poor condition. 

 Bus stops that will be equipped with shelters, lighting, seating, and paving. These bus stops 

are vital for Jaywick Sands residents who depend on public transport. However, these 

Page 27



improvements will need coordination with Essex Highways, who are responsible for their 

maintenance. 

The Place Plan considers these accessibility and connectivity improvements as ‘quick wins’ that can 

be implemented as soon as funding is available. The new path across Tudor Fields could be 

completed within 3 years, depending on funding. The total cost of the improvements may be around 

£5-£5.5m (2023 values). 

The next steps include securing funding for further project development, such as design and 

feasibility studies to determine the exact costs and delivery timescales. Funding sources for 

implementation should then be sought and secured. 

 

Map showing connectivity improvements 

 

 

 

 

Page 28



Drainage Infrastructure (see section 12) 

Jaywick Sands has been experiencing issues with foul and surface water drainage, as well as a lack 

of maintenance of many streets within the village. This is due to the historic development of the 

village and the confusion around responsibilities for maintaining and improving the streets and the 

drainage network. The increasing intensity of rainfall due to climate change has worsened the 

situation, leading to an increased frequency of surface water flooding. 

Brooklands and Grasslands do not have an existing adopted surface water drainage system, 

although a limited surface water system directed to a culvert at Brooklands Ditch was installed in 

2015. Surface water flooding is a regular occurrence for Brooklands in particular and requires 

improvement. 

To address these issues, partnership working with a number of statutory providers and bodies will 

be required. Once an agreed approach has been established, physical works to improve the network 

up to current standards, and to make it resilient to future increased storm water flows as a result of 

climate change, will be costly and disruptive and will require phasing. Commuted sums or a funding 

agreement for ongoing maintenance will also need to be established. The scale of funding required 

cannot be established without further engagement with statutory undertakers, including Anglian 

Water and the Environment Agency, and more detailed technical studies. 

The Place Plan states that the next steps for this element of the Place Plan should include: 

 Establishing a working group with Anglian Water, Essex Highways/ Essex County Council, 

and the Environment Agency to develop an agreed approach and responsibilities matrix. 

 Undertaking technical studies to establish the physical upgrades required and associated 

costs. 

 Securing funding for implementation and future maintenance 

Community Engagement and Stewardship (see section 13)  

The Place Plan highlights that community engagement is crucial to achieving the objectives. The 

lack of a formal governance structure and diverse backgrounds of the community members have 

made engagement efforts challenging. The Place Plan suggests that engagement should be 

consistent and trust-building, involving various methods from doorstep conversations to formal 

consultations and workshops. It acknowledges that addressing complex issues is challenging and 

resource-intensive but vital for informed decision-making by residents. 

The Place Plan recommends developing a community governance model involving a representative 

range of community members, such as an elected council, residents association, or another structure 

that includes local businesses and existing community organisations. It also suggests considering a 

funded program for capacity building for local community leaders. In the interim, it proposes 

developing a statement of community involvement to clarify how Tendring District Council will work 

with the community until a long-term governance model is agreed upon. It also recommends 

Page 29



appointing a dedicated community liaison officer for local engagement in Jaywick Sands until an 

agreed milestone in the delivery of the Place Plan. 

Delivering the Place Plan vision will require coordinated work by a range of partners and with the full 

involvement of the community. It must be emphasised that while the Place Plan sets out a vision and 

an accompanying framework for guiding change in Jaywick Sands, achieving this will require 

substantial investment and is currently unfunded. Delivering the strategy set out in the Place Plan in 

full is likely to require a 20 year timeframe. 

 

Consultation 

The Place Plan will be subject to six weeks of public consultation incorporating publicity and 

exhibitions in Jaywick Sands. 

 

APPENDICES 

Appendix 1: Draft Jaywick Sands Place Plan  

 
BACKGROUND DOCUMENTS 

Draft Jaywick Sands Place Plan Equalities Impact Assessment. 

 

Page 30



HAT Projects HAT Projects, Trinity Works, 24 Trinity St, Colchester, CO1 1JN September 2023

DRAFT Final Report
Jaywick Sands Place Plan

P
age 31



Page 2

Jaywick Sands Place Plan: Final Report

September 2023 HAT Projects

Contents
1. Executive Summary          3

2. How the Place Plan has been developed       4

3. Vision and summary of the Place Plan framework       6

4. Background and baseline conditions        10

5. Policy context          31

6. Developing the Place Plan strategy         34

7. Flood defences and seafront public realm       40

8. Improving residential areas         47

9. Creating space for business, tourism and local services     52

10. Improving public open spaces        55

11. Accessibility and connectivity        60

12. Drainage infrastructure         65

13. Community engagement and stewardship       67

14. Delivery and action plan         68

Appendix A: High level delivery costs        71

Appendix B: Application of the Sequential and the Exception Tests     72

Appendix C: Assessment of options for flood defences       74

Appendix D. Initial strategic options appraisal       95

Appendix E: Early options explored and rejected for development across all TDC owned land 98

Appendix F. Outline masterplan for development on land either side of Lotus Way  107

List of figures            114

P
age 32



Page 3

Jaywick Sands Place Plan: Final Report

September 2023 HAT Projects

Executive Summary

1. Executive Summary
The Jaywick Sands Place Plan is a framework for regeneration of Jaywick Sands over the coming years. It sets out a vision and ambition for 
what Jaywick Sands can become in the future, alongside recommendations for achieving this through tangible actions and initiatives. The 
Place Plan has been developed through wide research, consultation and engagement and is now presented for further public consultation 
prior to adoption by Tendring District Council as a non-statutory development framework.

1 Tendring Local Plan, Policy PP14, supporting text 6.10.5

Jaywick Sands is identified as a Priority Area for Regeneration 
under Policy PP14 of the adopted Tendring Local Plan. Policy 
PP14 states that Priority Areas for Regeneration will be a focus 
for investment in social, economic and physical infrastructure 
and initiatives to improve vitality, environmental quality, social 
inclusion, economic prospects, education, health, community 
safety, accessibility and green infrastructure, and that the Council 
will support proposals for new development which are consistent 
with achieving its regeneration aims. 

The two primary challenges in Jaywick Sands are deprivation and 
flood risk. Jaywick Sands includes the very lowest ranked area 
in the English Index of Multiple Deprivation (2019), and two 
areas which are within the lowest 10% of all areas in England. In 
addition, most of Jaywick Sands falls within Flood Zone 3. Actual 
flood risk today includes flood depths of 1300mm (1.3m) for some 
homes along the seafront in the design (0.5% AEP) flood event, 
and rises to depths of 3m and above over the next 100 years. 
Therefore, improving the safety of residents in a flood event, and 
the flood resistance and resilience of homes, is an important part of 
meeting the aims of Policy PP14.

Tendring District Council has commissioned the Place Plan as a 
step in the ongoing cross-sectoral work to change the prospects for 
residents for the better. 

The aims of the Place Plan is to "provide a development framework 
for the physical regeneration of Jaywick Sands facilitating the 
provision of new flood resilient homes built to modern building 
standards which will provide a high standard of accommodation 
for existing residents as well as providing land for employment 
opportunities and recreation and amenity areas."[1] In line with the 
Tendring Local Plan, the Place Plan objectives are:

• Transform housing quality and the built environment; 
• Ensure long term flood resilience; 
• Create greater connectivity to neighbouring areas;
• Attract commerce & new economic opportunities; and
• Improve people's life chances, access to public services & health 

& wellbeing

The Council has also stated that public consultation must be 
central to the production of the Place Plan and only with the 
support of the local community will the proposals be deliverable. 

Jaywick Sands has many qualities that can help it become a 
thriving community if its challenges are overcome. With wonderful 
beaches, a rich history and a strong community, if its future is 
secured through improved flood defences and if the quality of 
housing and the physical environment is improved, it can become a 
fantastic small town with a sustainable future. 

This report outlines the strategic, physical and social context for 
the Place Plan, and the recommended strategy for Jaywick Sand's 
renewal.

This report has been produced by HAT Projects, with input from 
Igloo Regeneration. Maccreanor Lavington, DK-CM, Potter Raper 
and Antea also contributed to the early stages of the work.

"In Jaywick Sands, regeneration projects 
will continue to raise the standard of living 
in this part of Clacton. Jaywick Sands 
will have seen, through the provision of a 
deliverable development framework, a 
sustainable community with associated 
economic, community and employment 
opportunities."

Tendring Local Plan vision

P
age 33



Page 4

Jaywick Sands Place Plan: Final Report

September 2023 HAT Projects

How the Place Plan has been developed

2. How the Place Plan has been developed
The Place Plan has been developed over a number of years 
commencing with initial scoping, research and informal community 
and stakeholder engagement by the consultant team in 2018. 
With a pause over the Covid-19 pandemic, work was restarted in 
late 2021 and a broad public consultation on initial options was 
undertaken in autumn 2022. The insights gained through the 
consultation alongside further studies undertaken by others, most 
significantly the Environment Agency's Coastal Defences Study 
2022, have led to the final proposed Place Plan vision, spatial 
framework and delivery plan presented in this report.

2.1 Initial options appraisal

A range of initial strategic options were developed during 
the first stage of development for the Place Plan. The options 
focused on approaches to improving housing quality and the 
built environment; connectivity; commerce and economic 
opportunities; and improving people’s life chances. Options for 
ensuring long term flood resilience were only partially considered, 
from the perspective of improving the flood resilience and safety 
of homes themselves rather than the community as a whole 
(improved flood defences). This was because the Environment 
Agency was completing a review of the flood defences and without 
this evidence base it would not be possible to develop a range of 
options that could be reasonably assessed.

The options developed during the initial stage considered a range 
of approaches to rehousing residents of substandard homes, and 
assumed that the powers to enforce on substandard homes are 
available and put to use. These options deliberately included 
extreme scenarios in order to ensure all approaches had been 
robustly tested. The options considered included:
1. Full decant and demolition of Jaywick Sands with residents 

rehoused in other areas
2. Comprehensive redevelopment of Brooklands and parts of the 

Village into new flood resilient housing and other uses
3. New mixed tenure development on all land owned by Tendring 

District Council including land either side of Lotus Way and 
Tudor Fields, including land outside the settlement framework, 
enabling decant and redevelopment of existing substandard 
homes and additional market housing

4. New affordable and social housing development on land owned 
by Tendring District Council inside the settlement framework 
only, enabling decant and redevelopment of existing substandard 
homes

5. Development on individual (vacant) plots owned by Tendring 
District Council within Brooklands

6. Purchase and redevelopment of consolidated parcels of adjoining 
plots in Brooklands and the Village, to redevelopment alongside 
Tendring owned plots

7. Public realm, environmental improvements and standalone 
projects to boost the local economy and address infrastructure 
deficits within Brooklands and the Village only (no new or 
replacement homes)

These options were assessed for their high level feasibility and 
their fit against the objectives of the Place Plan. High level viability 
assessments were also completed to understand the broad issues 
around deliverability.

Through the assessment of the advantages and disadvantages of 
these options, 4-7 were identified as initially preferred options to 
take forward for public consultation.

2.2 Findings from consultation in 2022

Consultation was undertaken during September and October 2022 
with the Jaywick community as well as with statutory authorities 
and stakeholders. This was a broad-based consultation as it was the 
first time that the community as a whole was being engaged with 
the Place Plan work.

The consultation revealed a number of important insights from 
both statutory bodies and the local community, with regard to the 
objectives of the Place Plan. These are summarised below within 
the broad themes that the consultation was structured around.

Overall priorities
• The beach, and the community spirit, were seen as the most 

positive aspects of Jaywick Sands
• The priority most frequently mentioned by residents, was 

addressing the blight resulting from derelict buildings and 

disused plots.
• Residents are highly concerned about the maintenance of the 

public realm, fly tipping and rubbish related issues
• Residents like the character of Jaywick Sands, including 

the eclectic and unique character of the homes and plot 
patterns. They do not wish to see that character altered, while 
recognizing that in parts of Jaywick Sands homes are too small, 
particularly for families.

Housing quality
• Residents were critical of the failure of landlords to adequately 

maintain properties, as well as accepting problem tenants who 
caused wider social issues.

• Most homeowners that responded to the consultation are proud 
of their properties and wish to continue to make improvements 
to them

• There was support for building new homes on vacant plots, but 
several respondents stated that building on double plots should 
be the minimum, as single plots were too small.

• Building new homes was seen as positive if it reduced the 
number of derelict plots and encouraged other property owners 
to improve their homes, but was not broadly welcomed as an 
aim in itself.

• The new properties recently built by TDC are unpopular 
with residents, because they are seen as unattractive; 
out of character; unsafe and unsuitable for residents with 
disabilities or young children and the cause of overlooking and 
overshadowing to neighbouring properties.

• Residents raised concerns about the loss of green space and 
wildlife impacts if homes were built on currently undeveloped 
land

Flood risk
• The Environment Agency stated a clear position in their 

consultation response, that they would oppose a regeneration 
strategy that resulted in a net increase in the number of 
residents in the flood-prone areas of Jaywick Sands.

• The Fire Service also raised evacuation as a concern, including 
the lack of a flood safe road or access route out of the 
community.

• Residents also expressed concern about increasing the number 

P
age 34



of people requiring evacuation in the case of a flood.
• Residents were keen to see improved sea defences as well as 

improvements to the flood safety and resilience of individual 
homes.

• Homeowners are motivated to improve the flood resilience of 
their properties but lack knowledge about how to achieve this.

• Some residents felt they would like to move from Jaywick Sands 
if flooding became more regular, but the cost of doing so was a 
barrier.

Streets and spaces
• Residents almost all welcomed the idea of making Brooklands 

into a one-way street with the resultant improvements to safety 
for pedestrians and cyclists. 

• Residents welcomed improvements to public realm around the 
community including more tree planting, play facilities and 
planting.

• Residents wanted to see more facilities in public spaces 
and green spaces, including outdoor gym equipment; play 
equipment and allotments

• The currently poor accessibility for wheelchair users and 
other disabled people was frequently mentioned, including to 
the seafront and beach; to Clacton; and to shops and services 
within Jaywick Sands itself 

• A beach boardwalk was suggested as a way to improve access to 
the beach for residents and visitors

• The lack of facilities for visitors to the beach was mentioned
• The lack of bus shelters was frequently mentioned as a barrier 

to use of public transport.

Shops and services
• The lack of a supermarket in Jaywick Sands, and the lack of 

access to shops for Brooklands residents, was very frequently 
raised

• Residents frequently mentioned the under-provision and lack 
of choice in terms of grocery shops and basic day-to-day needs 
such as cash machines.

• Community facilities, including play areas; sports facilities; GP/
dentist provision and public toilets were mentioned by residents 
as lacking

• The new workspace and market building (under construction 
at the time of the consultation) was frequently mentioned as 
an opportunity but there was a lack of understanding among 
residents about how the units were going to be let and how this 

would support the wider economy of Jaywick.

Other
• The rural setting and access to green spaces and the beach 

was very frequently mentioned as a positive aspect of living in 
Jaywick Sands, from a wellbeing perspective 

• Safe and secure housing was widely recognised as being 
important for people’s wellbeing and life chances. Many 
residents recognised the potential of the beach as an economic 
driver

• Residents were keen to see more shops, cafes and tourist 
attractions

2.3 Other studies and workstreams

Environment Agency Coastal Defences Study

Alongside the development and initial consultation on the Place 
Plan, the Environment Agency undertook a major study into the 
options and costs for upgrading the coastal defences on the West 
Clacton to Jaywick Sands seafront.

 The aim of the study was to identify and cost a preferred option 
in line with Treasury and DEFRA guidance and the associated 
Economic, Technical and Environmental requirements. 

The completion of this study has allowed the Place Plan team to 
assess options for flood defence improvements with regard to their 
costs, benefits and impacts on the regeneration of Jaywick Sands 
as a whole. Further detail on the options considered is given in 
appendix C.

Healthy Housing Initiative

The Healthy Housing Initiative currently in progress, is a 
significant step towards addressing the priorities identified by 
residents and the objectives of the Place Plan. It will not only have 
a substantial impact on reducing poor quality homes, but will also 
address the waste and fly tipping issues, and improve public open 
spaces in the community.

 It is important that the latter element of the programme is 
informed by the wider Place Plan strategy.

Viability assessment

High level viability assessment of development options within 
Jaywick Sands confirmed that the viability of both new-build 
homes on currently undeveloped land; and development of new 
homes on plots within the existing built-up areas; is heavily 
negative. This is due to the low property values for new-build 
homes within Jaywick Sands; the relatively high costs of acquiring 
plots to redevelop due to the relatively high rental yield for 
even low-quality properties; and the disproportionately high 
construction costs for development in Jaywick Sands due to poor 
infrastructure and ground conditions.

This confirmed that unsubsidised private sector-led development 
cannot be relied upon to deliver the change required to improve 
Jaywick Sands and that achieving the vision of the Place Plan 
will require substantial grant funding or long-term social impact 
investing.

Other projects currently being implemented in Jaywick Sands

A range of physical regeneration projects are already starting to 
have a positive impact on quality of life and economic opportunities 
within Jaywick Sands:

• The opening and activation of the new workspace and market 
building, and associated public realm, with markets, events 
and activities drawing in locals and visitors and changing 
perceptions of Jaywick Sands

• Improvements to the seafront walking and cycling route to 
Clacton through the Active Essex programme

• Upgrades to the sea defences at Cockett Wick by the 
Environment Agency, reducing the risk of flooding from this 
section of the sea wall, which was assessed as having a lower 
crest height and worse condition than the other parts of the sea 
wall.

The Place Plan has taken these projects into account in developing 
the development framework. Future projects, whether led by 
Tendring District Council or by other delivery agencies, should 
be aligned with the Place Plan framework to ensure a joined-up 
approach.

Page 5

Jaywick Sands Place Plan: Final Report

September 2023 HAT Projects

How the Place Plan has been developed

P
age 35



Page 6

Jaywick Sands Place Plan: Final Report

September 2023 HAT Projects

Vision and summary of the Place Plan framework 

3. Vision and summary of the Place Plan framework

3.1 Vision

The vision for Jaywick Sands is to be a thriving 
community that makes the most of its coastal location 
and unique character, while being resilient to the risks 
posed by sea level rise.

• Improved flood defences will maintain protection 
against the sea while creating a attractive and 
accessible seafront for residents and visitors, 
increasing tourism and the local jobs it supports

• Residential streets will see vacant and derelict 
plots brought into use for a range of functions. New 
homes will be distinctive and beautifully designed, 
and flood safe, on well-sized plots that provide good 
amenity for their residents

• Property owners will be improving existing homes 
and rental properties, and have the support and 
guidance they need to make them more flood safe

• Streets and spaces will be green, attractive and well-
used, helping residents lead active lives and making 
it easier to get around.

• The community will have the shops and services it 
needs within a short walk of every home. 

The Place Plan development framework includes the following 
components:

• Flood defence design framework that integrates wider 
improvements to the seafront public realm, accessibility of the 
beach, and minimises the impact on existing seafront properties. 
This includes converting Brooklands to a one-way street with 
footways on both sides and a fully segregated cycle track.

• Design and delivery framework for improving the residential 
areas by redeveloping vacant and derelict plots for suitable new 
uses, and replacing poor quality homes that are unsafe and lack 
flood resilience, with good quality new homes, in line with the 
adopted Jaywick Sands Design Guide SPD

• Land use plan identifying areas where commercial and 
community uses should be safeguarded and additional space 
developed to ensure day-to-day needs for shops, services and 
social infrastructure are met in full.

• Improvement to green spaces to support active lifestyles, 
wellbeing and community activity, alongside greening and 
biodiversity gains. 

• Improvement to walking and wheeling routes, including a 
new north-south route across Tudor Fields which can be used 
for emergency access and evacuation in a flood event, and 
improvements to bus stops to increase the use and accessibility 
of public transport.

• Recommendations for improvements to surface water and foul 
drainage infrastructure

Over the long term, the improvement of flood defences is a pre-
condition for Jaywick Sands to thrive and sustain a community. 
While improvement of flood defences will make Jaywick Sands 
safer, there will always remain residual risk and in the event of 
overtopping or breach of defences, evacuation of residents will 
need to be practical and safe. 

For this reason, the Place Plan framework is designed to ensure 
there is no increase in the population living within the parts of 
Jaywick Sands at risk of flooding now and in the future, and to 
increase the safety and flood resilience of the community. New 
homes will only be developed when this assists with replacing 
existing, less safe, homes off the market, by rehousing residents.

Given the residual flood risk that will remain even when flood 
defences are improved, residents - particularly those who have 
poor mobility or long-term health conditions - should have options 
for where and how they wish to live. The Place Plan therefore 
includes:

• An aspiration to develop financial viable options for residents to 
relocate outside the area of flood risk, should they wish to do so

• Guidance and technical support for property owners to improve 
the flood resilience and safety of their homes, and an aspiration 
to develop funding options.

The community of Jaywick Sands must be at the heart of the 
regeneration process and fully involved with how it is delivered. 
The Place Plan must therefore involve: 

• A community engagement and stewardship strategy to 
support genuine resident involvement and capacity building, 
to capitalise on the strong local culture of mutual aid, and to 
build a positive partnership between the local authorities and 
statutory bodies, and the local community.

Delivering real change in Jaywick Sands will be a long term process 
and the Place Plan should be considered a living framework that 
is updated and evolved as conditions alter. This report includes 
recommended next steps, quick wins, and a high level delivery and 
funding assessment in order to assist Tendring District Council and 
wider stakeholders in delivering on the Place Plan vision.

P
age 36



Page 7

Jaywick Sands Place Plan: Final Report

September 2023 HAT Projects

Vision and summary of the Place Plan framework 

3.2  Spatial framework

Renewed flood defences integrating improved public 
realm, improved accessibility to beach, and conversion 
of Brooklands to a one-way street

Existing residential areas where new design and 
delivery approach to redeveloping vacant and derelict 
plots, and replacing poor quality homes that are unsafe 
and lack flood resilience, with good quality new homes, 
is applicable

Areas where existing commercial and community 
uses should be safeguarded, and where redevelopment 
to create additional business, retail and community 
facilities should be permitted.

Sites where development of new business, retail 
and community facilities, as part of a masterplanned 
approach (with new and replacement parking), is 
appropriate.

Improved public open spaces to support active 
lifestyles, wellbeing and community activity, alongside 
greening and biodiversity gains. 

New walking and wheeling route across Tudor Fields, 
suitable for emergency access and evacuation in a flood 
event.

New fully accessible access points to beach

New beach boardwalk suitable for wheeling and 
walking

New/improved footpaths increasing access to green 
spaces for recreation and exercise

Improvements to existing alleyways

Improvements to bus stop facilities

Potential future residential / holiday accommodation 
development (no net increase in permanent residents 
within Flood Zone 2/3)

Settlement boundary

Priority Area for Regeneration and Place Plan boundary

Local Plan policy designations

Place Plan components

Fig. 1. Spatial framework of Jaywick Sands Place Plan

P
age 37



Objectives (from Tendring Local Plan) How the Place Plan meets this objective

• Design and delivery framework for redeveloping vacant plots for 
suitable new uses, and replacing poor quality homes with new, high 
quality and flood resilient homes

• Flood defence design framework that integrates wider improvements 
to the seafront public realm, accessibility of the beach, and minimises 
the impact on existing seafront properties. 

• Public realm design framework and delivery plan that will improve the 
safety and attractiveness of streets and spaces

• Flood defence design framework that maintains a 0.5% AEP standard 
of protection for c.100 years. 

• Design and delivery framework for replacing poor quality homes with 
new, high quality and flood resilient homes

• New emergency access and evacuation route at a safe level

• New and improved walking and wheeling routes including more direct 
route to the primary school and GP surgery and a car-free cycle route 
along the seafront

• Improvements to bus stops.

• Sites identified for development of additional commercial space.

• Significant improvements to the beach and seafront to increase the 
visitor economy and associated local jobs

• Design and delivery framework for replacing poor quality homes with 
new, high quality and flood resilient homes

• Sites identified for development of additional commercial space, 
increasing employment and training opportunities 

• New walking and cycling route that reduces the distance to the 
primary school for a substantial proportion of the community

• Sites identified for additional retail and local services

• Improvements to active travel routes and public open spaces designed 
to encourage active lifestyles and improve health and wellbeing

Success indicators relevant to the Place Plan

• Proportion of homes which meet the Decent Homes Standard*
• Proportion of homes with central heating*
• Proportion of homes which are flood resilient
• Number of accessible and adaptable and wheelchair adapted homes 

(M4(2) and M4(3) homes as defined in the Approved Documents for the 
Building Regulations)

• Proportion of homes with an EPC rating of C or above
• Reduction in vacant and/or derelict plots or buildings
• Proportion of streets which have been upgraded to an adoptable standard 

in terms of design
• Reduction in environmental crime (fly-tipping)
• Fewer road traffic accidents*

• Improved standard of protection from flood defences
• Proportion of homes which are flood resilient
• Improved access for emergency services in the event of a flood

• Road distance to: post office; primary school; general store or 
supermarket; GP surgery*

• Increase in quantity (km length) of segregated and well-lit cycle routes 
to local destinations.

• Number of bus stops with shelters and seating

Transform housing 
quality and the built 

environment

Ensure long term flood 
resilience

Create greater 
connectivity to 

neighbouring areas

Improve people's life 
chances, access to public 

services & health & 
wellbeing

Attract commerce & new 
economic opportunities

• Increased job density and increased number of locally based businesses
• Lower unemployment*
• Increased visitor numbers and spend

* These indicators form part 
of the English Indices of 
Deprivation 2019 (IoD2019) 
assessment and therefore 
improvements to those would 
directly impact on the measured 
deprivation of Jaywick Sands.

• Reduced household overcrowding*
• Increased proportion of homes meeting Decent Homes Standard*
• Reduced income deprivation (as per IoD2019 Income domain 

indicators)*
• Lower unemployment*
• Improved levels of education and skills in the community (as per 

IoD2019 Education, skills and training domain indicators)*
• Road distance to: post office; primary school; general store or 

supermarket; GP surgery*
• Increased availability and range of local shops and services within a 15 

minute walking radius of each home.
• Improved health indicators (as per IoD2019 Health deprivation and 

disability domain indicators)*

Page 8

Jaywick Sands Place Plan: Final Report

September 2023 HAT Projects

Vision and summary of the Place Plan framework 

3.3 How the Place Plan meets the objectives in the Tendring Local Plan

P
age 38



Page 9

Jaywick Sands Place Plan: Final Report

September 2023 HAT Projects

Vision and summary of the Place Plan framework 

3.4 Delivering the Place Plan

Delivering the Place Plan vision will require coordinated work by a 
range of partners and with the full involvement of the community. 
It must be emphasised that while the Place Plan sets out a vision 
and an accompanying framework for guiding change in Jaywick 
Sands, achieving this will require substantial investment and is 
currently unfunded. Delivering the strategy set out in the Place 
Plan in full is likely to require a 20 year timeframe.

The following is a high-level summary of delivery and funding 
considerations for each part of the development framework. 
Further detail is given in the subsequent chapters.

Flood defence and seafront public realm
• While this element of the Place Plan will be the most 

challenging to deliver, securing protection against sea level rise 
is a precondition for the sustainability of Jaywick Sands as a 
community. 

• The delivery of the preferred option for upgraded flood 
defences, which integrates this with a significant amount of 
new public realm, improved accessibility to the beach and new 
facilities, will require a very substantial funding commitment in 
the region of £84m (2023 values)..

• Delivery of the new seafront will be a highly complex project 
which will need to be phased due to the length of the frontage.

• Flood Grant in Aid (FGiA) will be available after 2030 but 
cannot be drawn down prior to this.

• The one-way system on Brooklands should be piloted at an 
early stage as a temporary intervention pending the delivery of 
the full seafront improvements

• The further beach enhancements, such as the boardwalk, are 
relatively low-cost and deliverable either as a standalone project 
or in conjunction.

Improving residential areas
• In order address the blight resulting from vacant and derelict 

plots, and start to improve housing quality in existing residential 
areas, the priority action is for most currently vacant and 
derelict plots to be purchased. While the value of vacant plots is 
low, this will require capital funding.

• Redeveloping vacant plots for suitable uses, including for new 
flood-safe homes, will also require investment although in the 
long term, as values rise, this is likely to provide a return. Along 

with the purchase of suitable vacant plots, the funding required 
may be in the region of £8-10m (2023 values) for this first 
tranche of redevelopment (which comprises around 30 homes 
and other improvements).

•  A range of potential models can be considered to fund this, 
including long-term institutional investment, but will require 
initial investment via public funding.

• It is essential that a strong link is created between building 
new flood-safe homes and taking existing unsafe homes out of 
circulation, whether through further site purchase or through 
enforcement action on homes of the poorest quality. This will 
require further work to establish the most suitable approach.

• Options to allow residents to relocate outside the areas of flood 
risk require further work to develop, but could result in the 
acquisition of a number of plots that can then be added to the 
redevelopment programme over time.

• Guidance and support for property owners to improve their 
properties and make them more flood resilient is relatively easy 
and inexpensive to provide in comparison to the costs of site 
purchase and redevelopment. This should be considered as a 
'quick win' for early implementation.

Business space, shops and local services
• Consideration should be given to directly developing and letting 

further space for commercial use and to accommodate local 
services of which there is an evidenced deficit.

• This will need to be informed by the evaluation of the Sunspot 
workspace building and will require funding to be sought 
and committed. The nature of funding required should be 
established through further feasibility and demand study work.

• Incentives for existing property and business owners to upgrade 
their commercial units - for example, shopfront improvement 
grants - should also be considered. These can be a relatively 
low-cost way to improve the environment and the streetscape 
and could be considered as a quick win.

• Partnership working with service providers will be required 
to establish the scope and management strategy for additional 
local services and to date little response has been received from 
service providers.

Public open spaces
• Public open space improvements are relatively low-cost and 

simple to deliver, and will have a substantial impact on both the 
quality of place and the quality of life for residents.

• The public open space projects should be delivered as 'quick 
wins' levering funding from a range of sources.

• Funding required to deliver all the open space improvements 
identified may be in the region of £3-£3.5m.

Accessibility and connectivity
• The implementation of a new walking and cycling route across 

Tudor Fields, which can also be used for emergency evacuation 
and access, should be seen as a strategic priority. While this 
is the most substantial cost associated with accessibility 
improvements, it will have the greatest impact on residents.

• Other accessibility and connectivity improvements are small-
scale and relatively low-cost, and can be delivered as a package 
or as a series of stand-alone projects as funding becomes 
available. These are also suitable for 'quick wins' which can have 
a high impact.

• Funding required to deliver all the accessibility and connectivity 
improvements identified may be in the region of £5-£5.5m.

Drainage infrastructure
• The surface water and foul drainage network will require 

partnership working with the statutory providers to address. 
• Works to improve the network and make it resilient to 

increased stormwater flows as a result of climate change will be 
costly and disruptive and will require phasing.

• The scale of funding required cannot be established without 
further engagement with statutory providers including Anglian 
Water and the Environment Agency.

Community engagement and stewardship
• Effective community engagement is a prerequisite for successful 

regeneration in Jaywick Sands. Capacity building in community 
leadership should be considered and robust governance and 
participatory structures put in place at an early stage.

• Sustained commitment to funding community engagement on 
the ground in the community is required.

P
age 39



Page 10

Jaywick Sands Place Plan: Final Report

September 2023 HAT Projects

Background and baseline conditions

4. Background and baseline conditions
Jaywick Sands is located on the Essex coast, in Tendring District. 
The village of just under 4,800 residents (2,600 households)[1] is 
sited along the seafront a few miles south-west of Clacton-on-Sea.

A century ago the village did not exist. The plotlands settlement 
was founded in 1928 and most of the estate was not purpose 
built for permanent year round occupation. The responsibility 
for provision of services, and for protection against flooding, 
has remained a point of contention between residents and the 
authorities since the founding of the estate. 

The original appeal of Jaywick Sands was as an affordable 
place, relatively close to London, where Londoners could 
independently own a plot and a chalet for holidays and later, 
retirement. Elsewhere, plotlands communities of this nature are 
almost unrecognisable today, having been either redeveloped or 
demolished. A combination of social, political, economical and 
geographic factors have meant that Jaywick Sands has retained its 
distinctive low-rise, self-built character, and strong community, 
although currently it is best known for including officially the most 
deprived statistical area in the UK.[2], and for being at high risk of 
tidal flooding which is worsening as climate change takes place.

The Council's objectives for Jaywick Sands in the Tendring Local 
Plan aim to address these challenges. These objectives are to:

• Transform housing quality and the built environment; 
• Ensure long term flood resilience; 
• Create greater connectivity to neighbouring areas;
• Attract commerce & new economic opportunities; and
• Improve people's life chances, access to public services & health 

& wellbeing

Wide partnership working is required to deliver these objectives. 
The Place Plan, as a development framework for physical change, 
can directly support some of these objectives, and indirectly 
support the delivery of others. This section sets out the current 
baseline conditions relating to each objective, as the evidence base 
supporting the development of the Place Plan strategy.

1 Office for National Statistics (2012): 2011 Census data

2 Index of Multiple Deprivation (2021): 2019  data Fig. 2. Location of Jaywick Sands in the wider area 

to Chelmsford /London

to Hoek van 
Holland

Colchester

Felixstowe

Manningtree

Sudbury Ipswich

Harwich

Clacton

Jaywick Sands

Mersea Island

Brightlingsea

Walton on the Naze

P
age 40



Page 11

Jaywick Sands Place Plan: Final Report

September 2023 HAT Projects

Background and baseline conditions

4.1  Development of Jaywick Sands over time

1928
• Frank C. Stedman, resort developer, purchases land at Jaywick.
• Construction begins on road link between Jaywick Lane and 

Clacton  (West Road).

1929 
• Stedman begins to build the first few chalets in Jaywick Sands, 

initially as permanent homes west of Lion Point. Works are 
interrupted by disputes with local authority around flooding 
and service provision.

• Development of 800 homes, described as seasonal 'beach huts' 
in Brooklands & Grasslands area.

1930-1934
• Construction of chalets in the Village, on slightly more generous 

plots, often tandem plots, which were also considered and 
advertised as seasonal homes or beach huts. In practice these 
were often occupied for extended periods, and in some cases 
year round rates were paid.

• Formation of Jaywick Sands Freeholders Association.

1935-1939
• Development of the Tudor Estate to the north of the Village as 

permanent homes.
• Opening of Butlin's Clacton holiday camp.

1945 - 1952
• Plot holders return to Jaywick Sands, pre-war holiday makers 

become post-war retirees.
• Sea defences improved, portion of costs covered by residents of 

Jaywick.
• Flooding and erosion of seafront areas continues to be an issue.

1953
•  Major flooding of East Coast, 35 lives are lost in Jaywick.

1929

1938

1953

0m 500m 1km

Key
Brooklands & Grasslands

Village

Tudor Estate

Guinness Trust housing

Martello Tower

Butlin's 

Other holiday park

Clacton urban area

Fig. 4.  Jaywick Sands, c1930 ©Unknown

Fig. 5.  Estate office, 1936 ©Unknown

Fig. 6.  Vintage postcard, 1950s ©Unknown

Fig. 3.  Development of Jaywick Sands. Source: Historic map 
records.

P
age 41



Page 12

Jaywick Sands Place Plan: Final Report

September 2023 HAT Projects

Background and baseline conditions

1954-1970
• Rapid recovery of Jaywick Sands.
• Development of Seawick holiday park at St Osyth Beach.
• Retirees continue to move to Jaywick Sands.
• Brooklands and Grasslands remain without basic services.

1971-79
• Failed Council attempt to compulsorily purchase and demolish 

most of Brooklands and Grasslands.
• Local government restructure results in new Tendring District 

Council, who begin to issue formal planning guidance for 
plotlands, but space requirements cannot be met on small plots.

• Recession drives in Jaywick residents who cannot afford to buy 
elsewhere.

• Formation of Brooklands and Grasslands Residents Association.

1980-1989
• Basic utilities including drainage are installed in Brooklands and 

Grasslands area.
• Butlin's Clacton closes.

1990-1999
• Jaywick Community Resource Centre opens.
• Jaywick Enterprise Centre opens.

2000
• Guinness Trust builds 30 houses and 10 bungalows - wins 

awards at the time. Planned second phase never completed.

2007
• TDC commissioned masterplan proposes demolition of 500 

homes in Brooklands, is abandoned after community opposition.

2009
• Jaywick Martello Tower converted to arts, heritage and 

community venue.
• Jaywick Sands Freeholders Association wound up.

2010 
• Jaywick is named most deprived place in England on Index of 

Multiple Deprivation.

2015
• Jaywick is again named most deprived place in England on 

Index of Multiple Deprivation.
• Jaywick Vision Plan 2015-2025 report and consultations.
• Improvements to Brooklands & Grasslands streets (drainage 

and surfacing) - completed 2017.

2018

1979

1969

0m 500m 1km

Fig. 8.  Flood in 1953

Fig. 9.  The beach, 1980s

Fig. 10.  Sunspot, 1950s 
Fig. 7.  Development of Jaywick Sands. Source: OS historic map 
records.

P
age 42



Tendring 018A

Brooklands/Grasslands

Village

Tudor Estate
Tendring 018B

Tendring 018D Tendring 018C

Tendring 017C

Tendring 015E

Fig. 11.  Boundaries of Lower Super Output Areas in Jaywick Sands

Page 13

Jaywick Sands Place Plan: Final Report

September 2023 HAT Projects

Background and baseline conditions

4.2 Jaywick today

The Jaywick Sands Place Plan covers the existing built up areas 
known as the Village, Grasslands and Brooklands, alongside 
approximately 30 hectares of adjoining land recently acquired by 
Tendring District Council. 

Jaywick sits within the West Clacton and Jaywick Sands ward. 
Jaywick Sands as a whole, including the Tudor Estate is divided for 
statistical analysis into three Lower Super Output Areas (LSOAs), 
which do not align with physical subdivisions within Jaywick, but 
comprise areas of similar size in population terms. The LSOAs 
are used in a range of national datasets, including Census and the 
Index of Multiple Deprivation.

Tendring 018A LSOA includes all of Brooklands, Grasslands and 
part of the Village - the oldest parts of the settlement. This LSOA 
was ranked as the most deprived area in England and Wales on the 
Index of Multiple Deprivation in 2010, 2015 and again in 2019. 
The adjacent LSOA, Tendring 018C, is also in the bottom 5% 
according to the Index of Multiple Deprivation 2019, and Tendring 
018B (mainly the north of the Tudor Estate) scores in the bottom 
decile across 3 of the 7 deprivation indices. These statistics are 
further supported by 2011 census data, other reports and datasets.

Despite the challenges faced by those living in the area today, the 
community is largely strong and resilient. Various organisations, 
led by local community leaders, are actively working to improve life 
in Jaywick Sands, alongside the work of grassroots charities and 
social enterprises, and initiatives supported by the public sector at 
local, county and national level.

Some of the social enterprises, residents groups and other 
organisations active in Jaywick Sands are:

• Jaywick & Tudor Residents Association
• Jaywick Residents Forum
• Jaywick Sands CIC
• Jaywick Sands CLT
• Inclusion Ventures
• Jaywick Sands Happy Club
• Martello Tower/Friends of Martello Tower
• Community Resource Centre
• Golf Green Hall
• Dig 4 Jaywick
• Community Volunteering Service Tendring
• TDC Neighborhood Wardens

Residents' views

Aspects of Jaywick Sands that the community feel are 
important, positive or want to change were identified by 
residents themselves through consultation on the Place Plan 
held in autumn 2022. The aims of the consultation were to 
centre the local community in the process of the regeneration 
strategy, inform on key issues, gain insight on their priorities 
and build trust for continued collaboration. Examples of the 
most frequently mentioned aspects included:

'I love the slow pace of life, access to a beautiful beach, friendly 
people, I like the fact I feel safe here.'

'The beach & the sense of community'

'The unspoilt beach. The surrounding green fields. Living in a 
small friendly village. Low traffic. Rural location.'

'Empty properties, should be tidied up - it's disgusting & 
embarrassing.'

'Improve housing. Clear rubbish in public areas, and maintain 
the roads.'

'Cleaner, more bins, more rubbish collection, improved 
recycling'

Fig. 12.  Sea Holly Way Fig. 13. View of the grassy dunes at Jaywick beach

P
age 43



Page 14

Jaywick Sands Place Plan: Final Report

September 2023 HAT Projects

Background and baseline conditions

4.3 Age profile

Jaywick has an aging population with almost a quarter of 
residents aged over 65.  Tendring also has a higher than average 
concentration of older people, which is not unusual for coastal 
districts as they tend to be retirement destinations, even more so 
for populations directly on the coast, such as Jaywick. The national 
average is around 10% aged 75 or over, with the bulk of the 
population aged between 19 and 49. 

At LSOA level, it is clear that the older generations are 
concentrated to the east and north of Jaywick Sands (018B, 
and 018C i.e. the Tudor Estate and north Village), whereas in 
Grasslands, Brooklands and the west part of the Village (018A)
although the houses are smaller and in worse condition, there is a 
higher concentration of children and young people. There are 345 
children (under 18) in LSOA 018A.[1]

1 ONS (2021): Mid 2020 Population Estimates

4.4 Household composition

Jaywick Sands has a high proportion of single person households 
compared to both Tendring and national averages. However, of the 
46% of households which comprise only one person, more than 
half are aged over 65, which is lower than the rest of the district.[2] 
This indicates a significant portion of the relatively high number of 
inhabitants living in single person households, are not part of the 
retirement community.

Compared with the district and the wider national averages, few 
households have dependent children, which is consistent with the 
overall age profile. The proportion of households with dependent 
children is around 30% nationally, in Jaywick Sands the figure is 
around half of that, which is in accordance with the data on age.[3]

Over 20% of households in Jaywick Sands are lone parent, which is 
above the national and Tendring average.[4]

Overcrowding in Brooklands, Grasslands and The Village (LSOA 
018A) is indexed at 0.94 while it is very low in the other two 
output areas[5] . This compares to an average in Tendring of  0.51 
and a national average of 0.86. It can be surmised that the very 
small house size, and high proportion of children in Brooklands and 
Grasslands has led to an unacceptable level of overcrowding which 
contributes to the high level of deprivation in these areas.

4.5 Health profile

The general health in Jaywick Sands is poor, with over 20% of 
residents in 'bad health' or 'very bad health'[6]. Across Jaywick 
Sands less than 25% of  residents are in 'very good health', while 
Tendring district averages at 40%, and nearly 50% nationally. 

There is not much variation between LSOAs, though Brooklands 
and Grasslands are worse off, with poor health almost five times 
higher than the national average. As this area actually has the 
youngest age profile of all the Jaywick LSOAs, it is particularly 
concerning that the concentration of poor health is found in this 
area. This also correlates with IoMD data on health.

2 ONS (2023): 2021 Census data

3 ONS (2023): 2021 Census data

4 ONS (2023): 2021 Census data

5 Index of Multiple Deprivation (2021) 2019 data

6 ONS (2023): 2021 Census data

4.6 Economic profile

The Tendring Economic Strategy evidence base (2019) shows 
that Jaywick Sands has an extremely low availability of local 
employment. There are only 325 jobs in the settlement, 
representing a job density of 1 job to every 16 residents: this 
compares to a ratio of 1:3 for Tendring as a whole.Fig. 15.  Diagram showing age profile from Jaywick LSOA level    

ONS (2021): Mid 2020 Population Estimates

Fig. 16.  Diagram showing health profile at Jaywick LSOA level 
ONS (2023): 2021 Census data, health.

Fig. 14. Diagram showing age profile
ONS (2021): Mid 2020 Population Estimates

18% 10% 12%

13%
11% 13%

17%

7%
11%

43%

46%
45%

10%
27% 18%

Tendring 018A Tendring 018B Tendring 018C

2021 Age profile: Jaywick

0-18 19-34 35-49 50-74 75+

21%
25% 27%

39%

48%

33%

38% 35%

36%

34%
26%

24% 24%

17%

13%14%

11% 11%
6% 4%5% 2% 3% 2% 1%

018A 018B 018C Tendring National

General health: Very good health General health: Good health

General health: Fair health General health: Bad health

General health: Very bad health

22% 19% 14%

21%
15%

12%

19%
14%

12%

29%
37%

44%

9% 14% 17%

National Tendring Jaywick

2021 Age profile: Comparison

0-18 19-34 35-49 50-74 75+

P
age 44



Page 15

Jaywick Sands Place Plan: Final Report

September 2023 HAT Projects

Background and baseline conditions

Jobs within Jaywick Sands comprise:
• Tourism (80 jobs) 
• Retail (70 jobs)
• Health and care (130 jobs)

ONS Business register and employment data shows largest 
employers in Tendring district are:

• Wholesale retail and trade 
• Human health & social work
• Education

Other significant sectors include, accommodation/food services, 
manufacturing, construction, transport and storage.

Barriers to these wider opportunities include geographical isolation 
from centres of employment and education or training, as well 
as an insufficient and unaffordable public transport service. The 
general high level of deprivation exacerbates the situation further.

4.7 Employment and skills profile

Residents in full and part-time employment are significantly fewer 
than the national and district averages. Of employed residents, a 
higher proportion are self-employed than the national and district 
averages.

Approximately 60% of the population is classed as economically 
inactive, much higher than the district and national averages[7]. 
The 41% of retired residents contribute to this, though proportions 
of long term sick and disabled persons are also very high, both of 
these categories are around three times the national average. 

The proportion of residents classed as looking after the family is 
similar to the national average, though the statistics on household 
composition show that proportionally, Jaywick Sands has half as 
many households with dependent children as the national average.

Employed residents of Jaywick Sands typically work in:
• Low skilled occupations such as care and leisure
• Elementary occupations
• Skilled trades

Self employment of skilled tradespeople is evident through 
informal conversations with residents, many of whom have 

7 ONS (2023): 2021 Census data

connections with people in those sectors.

4.8 Education & skills

There are few students going into higher education, and post-16 
education take-up is lower than average. The number of residents 
of working age with no formal qualification at all is high, around 
43%.[8] 

8 ONS (2023): 2021 Census data

Fig. 17.  Diagram showing qualifications profile. 
ONS (2012): 2011 Census data

Fig. 18.  Diagram showing employment profile 
ONS (2012): 2011 Census data

Residents' views

When asked what could be done to improve life in Jaywick 
Sands, residents' responses included:

' Greater employment opportunities'

'More business for working wise so they can keep up with the 
rents'

'Bus improvement to get to and from Jaywick'

9%
12% 13%

15%

26%

36%

6%

9%

10%

4%

3%

3%

41%

35%

23%6%

5% 5%
12%

6% 4%8%
3% 3%

Jaywick Tendring National

Chart Title

Employee: Part-time Employee: Full-time

Self-employed  Unemployed

Full time Student Retired

Looking after home or family Long-term sick or disabled

Other

43%

26%
18%

12%

13%

10%

12%

15%

13%

6%

7%

5%

10%

16%

17%

13%
20%

34%

4% 3% 3%

Jawyick Tendring National

Chart Title

No qualifications Level 1  qualifications

Level 2 qualifications  Apprenticeship

Level 3 qualifications Level 4 qualifications and above

Other qualifications

P
age 45



Page 16

Jaywick Sands Place Plan: Final Report

September 2023 HAT Projects

Background and baseline conditions

4.9 District level services and connectivity

One of the key economic and social challenges of Jaywick Sands 
is its physical isolation. For a community where car ownership is 
much lower than average, due to the low income of its residents, 
access to jobs and services is challenging and leads to a cycle of 
unemployment, poor health and lack of opportunities for children 
and young people. The cost of public transport also represents a 
barrier to seeking employment outside of Jaywick itself.

The mapping demonstrates the physical distance of Jaywick to key 
services and amenities through its geography, many of which are 
also identified in the Jaywick Sands Infrastructure Assessment 
(JSIA). They are also factors considered in the Indices of Multiple 
Deprivation, which measures physical as well as financial  barriers 
to services, alongside other indicators of deprivation.  

• The bus service to Clacton 4/4A (Hedingham) runs daily from 
between 7am and 10pm,  Mondays to Saturday. At peak times 
there are around 3no. buses an hour, with up to 5 between 9am 
and 10am. Outside of these times the service is reduced to 
hourly. Journeys at 11pm operate on Saturdays only.  The bus 
operates hourly on Sundays from 9am to 6pm. The journey time 
is around 20 minutes. 

• The bus service 76 or 76X (Hedingham) to Colchester begins 
in Jaywick, running twice before 8:30am Monday to Saturday, 
though it does not stop in Jaywick on the return journey. 
Residents can take  the 4/4A to and frm Clacton from where 
the 74 (Hedingham) and 76 (First Essex) operate between 
Clacton and Colchester more regularly.

• Colchester General Hospital is a 20 mile distance, equating to a 
35 min car journey, or 1h 40min bus journey

• Clacton & District Hospital is located a 5 min car journey or 
20 minute bus journey away. Services are limited, though do 
include a walk-in Minor Injuries Unit.

• The nearest secondary schools are located in Clacton. The 
distance to the existing secondary schools are well above the 
recommended 1,500m distance.

• Jaywick Community Library and West Clacton Library are 
within a 2.5km catchment, with Clacton Library a 20 min bus 
journey away.

• There are a number of convenience stores in Jaywick, located 
in the Village and Tudor Estate. The closest supermarkets are 
in Clacton, with a the majority of larger stores north and east of 
the centre, farthest from Jaywick Sands.

Key
 Supermarket (Superstore)

 Supermarket (local)

 Secondary School/Academy

 Medical Centre/Minor Hospital

 Bus route 76X (to Colchester)

 Bus route 4 (to Clacton)

Fig. 19.  Distance of key services and amenities for Jaywick wider area

2.5km

5km

7.5km

Clacton-on-Sea

Holland-on-Sea

Jaywick

Seawick

St Osyth

Point Clear

Brightlingsea

Little Clacton

Weeley

Thorpe-le-Soken

Great Bentley

to Colchester

P
age 46



Page 17

Jaywick Sands Place Plan: Final Report

September 2023 HAT Projects

Background and baseline conditions

4.10 Ward level services and connectivity 

The form and plan of Jaywick Sands is set within the drainage 
ditches that have divided the marshes for centuries, as evidenced 
in historic maps of the area. This pattern has resulted in a single 
main access road in and out, as a result residents of Brooklands, 
Grasslands and parts of the Village, are very far from the primary 
healthcare services, primary school and other amenities which 
are located mainly in the Tudor Estate. Access to commercial 
amenities are also poor for these residents.

• Brooklands former commercial strip (1) is currently derelict.
• The recently opened Sunspot building offers space for start up 

and growing businesses (9).
• There is small congregation at St. Christopher’s Church(2) and 

Methodist Church(3) exists, All Saints Church (4) has not been 
used a Roman Catholic place of worship since 2016, though 
another Christian denomination do currently use the building.

• There are a relatively high number of community groups within 
Jaywick Sands, operating out of a number of buildings in the 
area, including purpose built community halls, pubs, church 
halls and other premises. 

• The quantity of green infrastructure and open space, LEAPs 
and NEAP is sufficient. Though many of the amenity 
greenspace sites are low quality or poorly maintained, there 
are some community maintained greenspaces of relatively high 
quality.

• There is no need for more outdoor sports spaces, but there is 
significant lack of indoor sports provision, particularly with 
regard to swimming pool provision. 

• There is a GP surgery, pharmacy and dental practice(5) in the 
Tudor Estate, but it has limited capacity for expansion.

• There is a primary school and pre-school (6) (Sir Martin 
Frobisher, an academy) on the Tudor Estate,  and another pre-
school at Hemmington House(7), on Broadway, linked to Little 
Pals Nursery based at Tendring Education Centre.

• Jaywick Community Library, based at Golf Green Hall(8), 
is open four mornings a week (on Thursdays, Fridays and 
Sundays, the library is closed completely) West Clacton Library, 
also located at the TEC, on Jaywick Lane. It is not easily 
accessible to pedestrians.

`

 Site Boundary

 Place of Worship

 Education (incl SEN)

 Healthcare

 Care home

 Community Building

 Commercial - Active

 Commercial - Derelict 

 Holiday Park

 Parks/Greenspace

 Golf Course 

               LSOA Boundary 

Bus stop 

Car park

Fig. 20.  Key services and amenities for Jaywick. 

1

2

4
5

3

8

9

7

6

5

Key

400m

400m

400m

P
age 47



Page 18

Jaywick Sands Place Plan: Final Report

September 2023 HAT Projects

Background and baseline conditions

4.11 Street network and parking

The majority of the roads in Jaywick Sands were completed to 
facilitate the original development. The concrete for Golf Green 
road was the first to be laid, after the main connection to Clacton 
via West Road. Jaywick Lane links the settlement to the B1027, St 
Johns Road.

The condition of roads has been poor historically, with a 
complicated ownership and maintenance history. Major 
infrastructure improvements in 2015 (finished by the end of 2017 
significantly improved the accessibility and appearance of the 
carriageways and footways within Brooklands and Grasslands. 

Brooklands Avenue, along the seafront, is a two-way road in 
network terms but does not have adequate width for two lanes, 
and reduces to the equivalent of a single lane at some points. It 
does not have a footway on either side of the road, except for the 
block immediately west of the junction with Lotus Way where a 
footway on the north side of the road only has been created as part 
of the Sunspot development.  A private track continues along to 
the Martello Tower and surrounding holiday park, which can also 
be entered from the west, though there is no through route for 
general traffic.

With the exception of the Tudor estate, small plot sizes, mean that 
parking tends to be on the road, though low car ownership rates 
reduces the impact of this on the streetscape. 

There are small carparks associated with the Community Resource 
Centre, Enterprise Centre, as well as the Martello Tower. One 
of two public car parks is Tamarisk Road car park, situated east 
of Lion Point, in the Village. Capacity of this car park is around 
50 places. There is an additional car park on St Christophers 
Way - a grassed area of around 0.5ha which could accommodate 
150 parking spaces, though is not well located for visitor use due 
narrow access lanes and residential surroundings.

4.12 Pedestrian and cycle routes 

Narrow alleys between avenues and streets in the village have 
survived as part of the original plot pattern, these are often poorly 
maintained and underlit. Public Rights of Way exist along beach 
and though Crossways Park.

The England Coastal Path running along the Jaywick seafront has 

Key

   2nd category priority road

   Local road 

   Private road

   Public Right of Way

   Alleys and footpaths

   Holiday Camp road

                 Car park

                 National Cycle Route 150 (NCR 150)

                 Proposed Cycle Route (connected to NCR 150)
                 

recently been improved with new signage and access rights being 
put into place. 

It is possible to walk east along the coast and slightly inland, 
to Point Clear, where a ferry operates in the summer months 
connecting the coastal path to Brightlingsea and East Mersea.

Essex County Council has announced more accessible and 
environmentalyl friendly bike route from Jaywick to Clacton. The 
proposed scheme is split into three parts and the first one will 
connect Jaywick's Tamarisk Road car park to the National Cycle 
Route 150 which starts at The Close (Jaywick East). Resurfacing 
works have recently been completed, though other improvments 
such as lighting are limited at Jaywick Sands.

Fig. 21. Existing movement network

Fig. 22. Jaywick Sands seafront

P
age 48



Page 19

Jaywick Sands Place Plan: Final Report

September 2023 HAT Projects

Background and baseline conditions

SAC (Special Area of Consevation)

SSSI Region (Site of Special Scientific Interest)

Local Wildlife Sites

EA Flood Risk Zone 3

Local Nature Reserves

National Nature Reserves

Ramsar (Wetlands Convention/Strategy)

Designated Heritage Assets 

4.13 District environmental analysis

Jaywick Sands' coastal location has significant ecological and 
geological value and is part of a wider network of habitats.

Prior to the founding of Jaywick Sands, the site was farmland and 
marshland. The geology and complex geodiversity found below 
the surface today is a result of the pre-historic movement of 
watercourses (early Thames and Medway Rivers), that left behind 
the sands and gravels. The following points summarise the findings 
from various reports and documents[1] on the wider site:

• This part of the Tendring coastline is known for significant 
archeological and geological findings; artefacts from the 
Paleolithic period found along the deposit channels are known 
to be the earliest evidence of human activity in the region. 

• South-west Tendring has a high concentration of protected 
sites; there are several locally, nationally and internationally 
recognised areas , many of which relate to the coastal grazing 
marshes, closely associated with inland watercourses and 
floodplains as well as creeks.

• Other important sites in the area are old mineral workings of 
Villa Farm Quarry and Arlesford Lodge.

• The Essex Estuaries Special Area of Conservation extends 
across to Jaywick Sands from the mouth of the Colne to Lion 
Point, between Brooklands and the Village.

• Much of the wider area is still agricultural land, though 
developments continue to encroach on farmland and put 
pressure on protected areas.

• Grade II listed buildings in the area include Jaywick Martello 
Tower and Cockett Wick Farmhouse as well as a Scheduled 
Ancient Monument at the Decoy Pond north-east of 
Brooklands

The wider habitat and environmental constraints on development 
were scoped in 2019 as part of the related Sustainability Appraisal 
and Habitats Regulation Assessment commissioned by TDC.

1(RPS Archeological Assessment July 2018, AGB Environmental July 2018, Tendring Geodiversity 

Characterisation Report 2009

Fig. 23. Environmental designations in the wider area around Jaywick Sands. Source: Natural England and Historic England data

Fig. 24. View of the beach and Martello Tower Fig. 25. View of the grassy dunes at Jaywick beach

P
age 49



Page 20

Jaywick Sands Place Plan: Final Report

September 2023 HAT Projects

Background and baseline conditions

4.14 Local environmental analysis

Jaywick Sands sits behind a sea wall, separating the dense 
plotlands sites from a long stretch of beach with national and 
international environmental significance.  Inland, the undeveloped 
areas also provide valuable habitats and hold designated and non-
designated ecological value. The following points summarise the 
environmental context in and around site area.

Beach
• The Clacton Channel Deposits lie beneath most of the site, 

stretching between Jaywick Sands and West Cliff at Clacton, 
and are particularly rich in Paleolithic matter and artifacts. 
They are protected by three separate areas that make up the 
Clacton Cliffs SSSI.

• Coastal protection and buildup of sand/shingle obscures the 
SSSI regions below ground level, and development is unlikely 
to disturb this, though there is the opportunity to increase 
public knowledge of the geology and associated archeological 
importance of the site, from the Ice Age onwards.

• The beach at Jaywick Sands is prone to erosion, the simple 
groynes protect from erosion, and the fishtail groynes allow 
monitoring of erosion and effectiveness of beach management. 

• The stable areas of beach south of the sea wall are designated 
County Wildlife Sites, so any development on this area will 
require compensatory habitat creation elsewhere. 

Undeveloped sites
• Within the Place Plan site boundary, areas of dense scrub, 

marsh grazing land provide habitats for birds, water vole and 
reptiles, and have been identified as potential habits for other 
protected species.

• The greenfield site of Tudor Fields is a designated Local Wildlife 
Site so any development on this area will require compensatory 
habitat creation elsewhere. As there is limited area within 
the Place Plan red line boundary, this will need to be created 
outside the site and may require further land purchase by TDC, 
or accommodated by compensatory agreement with adjacent 
landowners. 

Brownfield and built up areas
• While there are few ecologically significant sites within the built 

up area, small gardens, allotments, and open spaces punctuate 
the dense street pattern, as well as walking routes along the 
raised banks that follow the historic pattern of dykes and 
ditches. 

• Designated open and green space is generally in poor condition, 
though satisfactory in term of quantity. 

• Other non-designated but publicly accessible green and open 
spaces, provided and maintained by various community groups, 
are a significant asset to the residential areas, and evidence of 
the strong community spirit.

• The derelict plots hold little ecological value and some have 
issues with contamination. 

• Jaywick Water Recycling Centre (WRC) is exceeding 
capacity for treatment of water as identified in the 2017 
HRA assessment for the Tendring Local Plan. Adequate 
drainage infrastructure and mitigation of potential harmful 
impacts on the environment would need to be ensured for any 
development, see section 12.

Fig. 26. Local environmental designations in Jaywick Sands

Fig. 27. View of Tudor Fields (Local Wildlife Site)

Amenity greenspace
Undesignated greenspace
Public car park
SAC
SSSI Region 
NEAP

Local Wildlife Site
Community Allotment
Church grounds
Grass/grazing land
Sand beach
LEAP

P
age 50



Page 21

Jaywick Sands Place Plan: Final Report

September 2023 HAT Projects

Background and baseline conditions

4.15 Flood risk

The Jaywick Sands Place Plan area sits within Flood Zone 3, which 
amounts to around 1800 homes currently at risk of flooding. Flood 
Zone 3 is defined as an area which could be affected by flooding 
from the sea in a 0.5% AEP (1 in 200 chance of happening each 
year), or a 1%  AEP (1 in 100) chance of river flooding, without 
taking into account any existing defences.

The extent of Flood Zone 3 is similar to the extent of the 1953 
flood, though this was not an overtopping scenario, but a breach 
further west that flowed through to Jaywick. 

Since 1953, improvements to the sea defences have taken place 
and existing defences include:

• Sea wall (from St Osyth beach up to Clacton)
• Embankment (runs north/south from west of Martello Tower to 

Cockett Wick Farm)
• Beach deposit, with 2no. simple and 3no. fishtail groynes to 

limit erosion.
• The outer bank and dyke, running behind Grasslands acts as an 

additional defence.
• Works currently under way (2023) to improve the sae defences 

around Cockett Wick (1) (the seafront area identified as poor 
on figure 28.)

In the most recent Strategic Flood Risk Assessment (2023) for 
Jaywick Sands, most of the area was assessed within a NaFRA 
(National Flood Risk Assessment) classification of Low. A 
Low classification means that the area has an actual chance of 
flooding at the present day, taking into account current defences, 
of between 1 in 1000 and 1 in 100. An NaFRA classification of 
Medium means an actual risk of between 1 in 100 and 1 in 30 in 
any given year and High indicates above 1 in 30.

Under the updated modelling, Jaywick Sands has a high proportion 
of poor quality homes which are at risk of flooding, now and in the 
future. Actual flood risk today includes flood depths of 450mm 
(0.45m) for some homes in the design (0.5% AEP) flood event, 
and rises to depths of 3m and above over the next 100 years. All 
emergency access/evacuation routes also flood significantly. This 
represents a severe risk to life and property. Therefore, improving 
the safety of residents in a flood event, and the flood resistance 

Flood Zone 3: NaFRA Classification Low

NaFRA Classification: Medium

NaFRA Classification: High

NaFRA flood defences condition: fair or good

NaFRA flood defences condition: poor

Main river (Environment Agency classification)

Key

Fig. 28. Flood risk and defences at Jaywick Sands. Source: 2015 Jaywick Sands Stategic Flood Risk Assessment, 2023

1

P
age 51



Page 22

Jaywick Sands Place Plan: Final Report

September 2023 HAT Projects

Background and baseline conditions

and resilience of homes, is an important part of meeting the aims of 
Policy PP14.

There is also a risk of fluvial flooding from Jaywick ditch, 
concentrated in the fields below the Tudor Estate.

The Shoreline Management Plan has a ‘Hold the Line’ policy 

position for the coastal defences protecting Jaywick Sands, which 
states that an appropriate flood defence for the community will 
be maintained into the future, although the standard of protection 
is not defined. This is an unfunded aspiration for the future flood 
management of the frontage, and its delivery will require continued 
partnership working, and significant partnership funding. 

The Environment Agency is currently undertaking a strategic 
review of the coastline defences, modelling of flood risk and costs 
for upgrades and protection which will determine their preferred 
approach to upgrading defences, the standard of protection 
that would be provided, and the costs including the funding gap 
between the standard funding formula and the estimated cost 
of the preferred option. This review was shared with the project 
team in early 2023 and has informed the development of the Flood 
defences and seafront public realm (pp 40-46)

One of the major challenges in continuing to protect Jaywick 
Sands against flooding in the future is the length of flood defences 
required to ensure this protection. Fig. 29. shows the extent of 
defences affecting Jaywick Sands. 

 Impact of flood risk on regeneration opportunities

All new development within Flood Zone 3 should demonstrate that 
it has passed the sequential and the exception tests where required 
and as set out in the National Planning Policy Framework and 
Planning Practice Guidance 3. A more detailed briefing note on 
the application of the sequential and exception test can be found in 
Appendix B.

Fig. 29. Depths of inundation predicted in a climate change to Climate Change scenario for a 0.5% AEP event. 
Source: Environment Agency, 2022

Fig. 30.  Extent of the flood 'cell' in which Jaywick Sands is located. Upgrades to all the defences 
shown would be required to continue to protect Jaywick Sands in the future. Source: Jaywick 
SFRA, 2023

¯

Jaywick Strategic Flood Risk
Assessment 2015 update
APPENDIX C - FLOOD DEPTHS

Overtopping Scenarios: Maximum Flood Depths
(m)

This document is the property of Jeremy Benn Associates Ltd. It shall not be
reproduced in whole or in part, nor disclosed to a third party, without the permission of
Jeremy Benn Associates Ltd.

Legend

Reproduced from Ordnance Survey mapping with the permission of Ordnance Survey on 
behalf of the Controller of Her Majesty's Stationary Office. © Crown copyright.  Unauthorised 
reproduction infringes Crown copyright and may lead to prosecution or civil proceedings.  
Tendring District Council Licence:100018684 (2015)

Defences
embankment

wall

0.5% AEP + climate change to 2112
Depth (m)

0.0 - 0.25

0.25 - 0.5

0.5 - 1.0

1.0 - 2.0

2.0 - 3.0

3.0 or deeper

0 0.8 1.60.4
km

CommentsDateREF
A

B

This plan has been prepared to represent tidal flood risk
to Jaywick as a result of overtopping of defences. 

Modelling has been undertaken using TUFLOW, 
simulating three tidal cycles with the peak level occurring 
on the second peak.  Further information on the
modellingapproach is provided in the technical appendix
to the main report (Appendix J)

Technical Note

Mar 15 Draft
Apr 15 Final

P
age 52



Page 23

Jaywick Sands Place Plan: Final Report

September 2023 HAT Projects

Background and baseline conditions

Fig. 31.  Buick Avenue

Fig. 32.  Beach and the wall

Fig. 33.  Brooklands

Fig. 34.  House on the seafront

Fig. 35.  Village house

4.16 Character areas

Each of the named areas in Jaywick Sands has a distinctive 
character deriving from the size and layout of its plots and the 
form of the homes that could be accommodated on them. 73% of 
dwellings in Jaywick Sands are bungalows[1] . The result is a very 
unique development form and character, of over 2,500 detached 
chalet-style homes, which vary from plot to plot so that each 
building has an individual personality expressed through its design. 

1. Office for National Statistics (2012): 2011 Census data

Residents' comments

' I think they are amazing. a lot of history behind it 
all.'

'All different with own character and much improved 
since roads have been done'

'Small scale, one way streets, access to beach or fields 
mostly detached dwellings with space outside.'

P
age 53



Page 24

Jaywick Sands Place Plan: Final Report

September 2023 HAT Projects

Background and baseline conditions

4.16.1 Brooklands/Grasslands

This was the first area to be completed, and contains 
approximately 775 homes.

• Originally timber framed chalets, advertised as 'beach huts'.
• Narrow lanes running back from Brooklands Avenue, which 

follows the sea wall on the landward side.
• The sea wall is quite high along Brooklands, resulting in ground 

floor views to the sea being blocked
• The plots are dense, with little amenity space - typically 15 x 

7m
• Many homes appear to be the original chalets, albeit often 

overclad with a variety of materials and with alterations and 
extensions.

• Plot size tends not to allow off-street parking 
• Grasslands has open views over marshland/fields to the north
• The Guinness Trust development is of a very different character
• Density (calculation excludes open space, but includes roads 

and pavements within original estate area) 49 dwellings per 
hectare

•  This increases to around 60 dwellings per hectare (when taking 
into account caravans & demolished/empty plots)

TDC had previously estimated 60-100 DpH in Brooklands - and 
were working to 30 DpH for development of the site, which is 
The Essex Design Guide's suggested minimum of DpH for new 
developments on brownfield sites.

5
Initial Appraisals

Jaywick Sands Place Plan
Existing Settlement Proposals

Character

The original estate was built in three 
phases, each phase creating a different 
neighbourhood with clear characteristics. 
In every case, but to a varyind 

Proposals for new development within the 
settlement are therefore distinct for each 
subarea of the ‘original’ settlement. The 
development pattern of the settlement, 
of ‘holiday chalet’ cottages built on small 
plots and prior to widespread usage of 
motor vehicles, presents a particular 
challenge to contemporary development, 
though to a varying degree across its 
different phases.

Brooklands
The Village

The Village Seafront

Tandem Plots

Brooklands Seafront

Fig. 36.  Grasslands

Fig. 37.  Grasslands map

Fig. 38.  Plot diagram - Brooklands/Grasslands

Fig. 39.  Plot diagram - Brooklands seafront

5
Initial Appraisals

Jaywick Sands Place Plan
Existing Settlement Proposals

Character

The original estate was built in three 
phases, each phase creating a different 
neighbourhood with clear characteristics. 
In every case, but to a varyind 

Proposals for new development within the 
settlement are therefore distinct for each 
subarea of the ‘original’ settlement. The 
development pattern of the settlement, 
of ‘holiday chalet’ cottages built on small 
plots and prior to widespread usage of 
motor vehicles, presents a particular 
challenge to contemporary development, 
though to a varying degree across its 
different phases.

Brooklands
The Village

The Village Seafront

Tandem Plots

Brooklands Seafront

P
age 54



Page 25

Jaywick Sands Place Plan: Final Report

September 2023 HAT Projects

Background and baseline conditions

4.16.2 The Village

Contains 1134 homes.
• Larger plots than Brooklands/Grasslands - typically 8.5 x 20m - 

with some accommodating off-street parking - but most homes 
still lack amenity space.

• Along Meadow Way, Golf Green Road and Crossways, there are 
tandem plots, with a second row of homes 'piggy backed' behind 
those that face the street. 

• Some small 'greens' but homes back, rather than front, onto 
these spaces.

• Strip of cafes, takeaways, shops and bars along Broadway, as 
well as a  small retail pocket to the west, along Tamarisk Way. 

• Density (calculation excludes open space, but includes roads 
and pavements within original estate area) 29.5 Dwellings per 
Hectare, 1134 dwellings in 38.4 hectares.

5
Initial Appraisals

Jaywick Sands Place Plan
Existing Settlement Proposals

Character

The original estate was built in three 
phases, each phase creating a different 
neighbourhood with clear characteristics. 
In every case, but to a varyind 

Proposals for new development within the 
settlement are therefore distinct for each 
subarea of the ‘original’ settlement. The 
development pattern of the settlement, 
of ‘holiday chalet’ cottages built on small 
plots and prior to widespread usage of 
motor vehicles, presents a particular 
challenge to contemporary development, 
though to a varying degree across its 
different phases.

Brooklands
The Village

The Village Seafront

Tandem Plots

Brooklands Seafront

Fig. 40.  The Village

5
Initial Appraisals

Jaywick Sands Place Plan
Existing Settlement Proposals

Character

The original estate was built in three 
phases, each phase creating a different 
neighbourhood with clear characteristics. 
In every case, but to a varyind 

Proposals for new development within the 
settlement are therefore distinct for each 
subarea of the ‘original’ settlement. The 
development pattern of the settlement, 
of ‘holiday chalet’ cottages built on small 
plots and prior to widespread usage of 
motor vehicles, presents a particular 
challenge to contemporary development, 
though to a varying degree across its 
different phases.

Brooklands
The Village

The Village Seafront

Tandem Plots

Brooklands Seafront

Fig. 41.  The Village map

Fig. 42. Plot diagram - The Village typical streets

Fig. 43.  Plot diagram - The Village seafront

P
age 55



Page 26

Jaywick Sands Place Plan: Final Report

September 2023 HAT Projects

Background and baseline conditions

4.16.3 Tudor Estate

Though building in the Tudor Estate, farthest from the seafront, 
had begun in the 1930s, the area was not fully built out until the 
1970s, when the central green around which the original houses 
were built, was filled in. 

• Much larger plots - typically 10.5 x 45m - resulting in generous 
front and back gardens, and off street parking

• Much larger homes, mostly L-shaped or rectangular. 
• Large front gardens with driveways lead up to double fronted 

facades, often with the entrance way along a side wall. 
• The original buildings have hipped roofs, occasionally broken by 

a gable ended ground floor extension, or dormer resulting from 
a loft conversion. 

• Density (calculation excludes open space, but includes roads 
and pavements within original estate area) 17.5 Dwellings per 
Hectare , 958 dwellings in 55.2 hectares.

Fig. 44.  Tudor Estate

Fig. 45.  Tudor Estate map

Fig. 46.  Tudor Estate street

Fig. 47.  Tudor Estate street

P
age 56



Page 27

Jaywick Sands Place Plan: Final Report

September 2023 HAT Projects

Background and baseline conditions

4.17 Housing condition

Housing standards vary across Jaywick Sands. The 2019 Index 
of Multiple Deprivation estimates that 33% of housing in LSOA 
018A (the most poorly performing part of Jaywick)  does not 
meet the Decent Homes Standard but this is considered to be 
a significant underestimate due to the methodology employed.  

A visual condition survey was undertaken by the design team, 
in which housing was scored based on its external appearance, 
which found that many of the dwellings in Brooklands could 
be considered in poor or very poor condition. Local Authorities 
are obliged under the Housing Act 2004[1] to keep housing 
conditions under review in order to identify actions required to 
be taken under the provision of the law. Tendring District Council 
commissioned a district wide survey in 2015 and found more 
households suffering from a low income, excess cold hazards 
and fuel poverty than the average in England.[2] A further report 
completed by the council in 2022 found that a high proportion of 
private rented housing in Jaywick Sands were identifies to have 
Category 1 and 2 hazards to health present.[3] 

The areas with the poorest housing condition haves significantly 
more private rented, and fewer owner occupied household spaces 
than other parts of Jaywick Sands, as well as falling well below 
district and national levels. There is a clear correlation between 
low owner occupation and poor housing conditions in Jaywick 
Sands.

The proportion of homes in Brooklands, Grasslands and the Village 
without any usual occupants is around twice as high as the national 
average, at 12.3% in the 2021 census[4]. This category includes 
vacant homes alongside second and holiday homes.

1 UK Government (2004) The Housing Act

2 Tendring (2015) BRE Dwelling Level Housing Stock Models 

3 Tendring (2022) Housing PHF Report

4 ONS (2023): 2021 Census data, Number of dwellings by housing characteristics in England and Wales, 2021 

compared with 2011. 

Fig. 48.  Diagram showing housing tenure at Jaywick LSOA level 
Census 2021.

Fig. 49. Examples of occupied housing in poor condition.

Fig. 50. An example of vacant and derelict housing in poor 
condition.

0%

10%

20%

30%

40%

50%

60%

70%

80%

90%

100%

Ten
drin

g 0
18A

Ten
drin

g 0
18B

Ten
drin

g 0
18C

Ten
drin

g a
ve

ra
ge

Nati
on

al a
ver

ag
e

Does not apply

Private rented or
lives rent free

Owned with a
mortgage or loan or
shared ownership

 Owned outright

P
age 57



Page 28

Jaywick Sands Place Plan: Final Report

September 2023 HAT Projects

Background and baseline conditions

4.18 Local services and infrastructure deficits

A range of local deficits have been identified through reports 
prepared by others to support the Place Plan development 
- specifically through a 2018 Jaywick Sands Infrastructure 
Assessment and a 2022 Historic Deficits Assessment update 
report, both produced by Navigus Planning.

This section of the Place Plan report summarises the existing 
(historic) deficits noted from this report as well as other reports 
and evidence compiled by the project team.

Education

The following deficits in education are noted in the 2022 update to 
the Jaywick Sands Infrastructure Assessment:

• A deficit in early years childcare in Jaywick Sands at ward level 
and contributes to local deprivation issues. 

• Distance and cost of travel to the nearest day nursery are 
barriers to access for people living in Jaywick Sands.

• ECC reports that there is a surplus of places in the area that 
serves Jaywick Sands including at the nearest primary school

• No reported deficit in provision for secondary education.

Health

The existing health and support services for the Jaywick Sands 
area are struggling to manage acute and wide ranging health issues 
faced by the community. At ward level, 16% of the population have 
bad or very bad health, and over 40% are affected by long term 
illness or disability. The public health services are overstretched 
here and cost of travel to nearby health providers is a barrier to 
access, exacerbating existing issues. Similar issue affect those 
facing mental health and substance misuse issues.

Other issues reported by the community include difficulty 
accessing GP appointments, lack of dental services, needle disposal 
services, prescriptions, and other drop-in services.

North East Essex Clinical Commissioning Group (NEECCG) 
indicated that a review of health provision was taking place and 
that there were potential opportunities within the Place Plan 
to explore additional facilities, but no additional detail has been 
received to date.

Green infrastructure, open space, leisure and play

While there is not a quantitative deficit in terms of the amount of 
open space within Jaywick Sands, qualitative deficits are outlined 
in the Tendring Open Space Assessment Report where only 
one open space in Jaywick Sands (Crossways) was assessed as 
being of high quality with regard to play and only one open space 
(Brooklands Gardens) was assessed of being of good quality with 
regard to amenity greenspace space generally. In the Nagivus 
reports specific to Jaywick Sands, the following existing deficits are 
noted:

• No classified parks and gardens within a 1km catchment of 
Jaywick Sands. 

• A deficit in youth provision (additional MUGA required to meet 
the Local Plan standard).

• No grass playing pitches or artificial turf pitches serving the 
Jaywick area although there is no specific standard applicable to 
Jaywick.

• Existing publicly accessible natural green space within 
catchment of Jaywick Sands is of low quality, and too far away 
from much of the community to be accessible.

• Existing open spaces within the community score poorly 
because of lack of facilities and the standard of appearance of 
maintenance.

• Deficit in allotment provision (0.25 hectares per 1000 people 
within 15 minutes walking time of the population) (2022 
update).

Foul and surface water drainage

Since the completion of the Infrastructure assessment and report 
updates, issues with the foul drainage system have been identified, 
including regular blocking of foul drains affecting resident and 
construction work in Jaywick Sands. The maintenance plan 
Anglian Water implement for the area does not include annual 
maintenance for all of the network, but is based on a reporting and 
responding system.

There is no adopted existing surface water drainage to Brooklands 
and Grasslands, although a limited surface water system directed 
to a culvert at Brooklands Ditch was installed in 2015. Surface 
water flooding is a regular occurrence for Brooklands in particular 
and requires improvement.

Mains water

There is no information presently available regarding any capacity 
issues for mains water.

Gas 

There is no existing gas pipeline services to Brooklands and 
Grasslands but due to the move to decarbonise domestic properties 
this is not considered a deficit.

Electricity

There are not issues reported in relation to capacity to provide 
power to Jaywick Sands.

Telecoms & data

There is no information presently available regarding any capacity 
issues for telecoms capacity. Openreach Clacton Exchange serves 
the Jaywick Sands area and broadband data connections are 
available in most areas.

Access to food

Jaywick Sands lacks access to food and household goods, there 
is no standard for access to food however cost and lack of public 
transport are barriers to access nearby supermarkets and shopping 
centres. 

Community Centres

There is no national standard for community centre provision. 
An assumed reasonable standard of 0.2m2 per person is inferred 
from locally applied standards across the UK. This would suggest a 
deficit in the provision within Jaywick Sands at present. 

Library

There are no distance standards for libraries and therefore the 
report does not comment on the level of provision.  The report 
notes that West Clacton Library, the nearest library to Jaywick 
Sands, may be at risk of closure. 

P
age 58



Page 29

Jaywick Sands Place Plan: Final Report

September 2023 HAT Projects

Background and baseline conditions

Tendring District Council have acquired a substantial portfolio of 
sites, including:

• Large greenfield sites between the Village and the Tudor Estate, 
known as Tudor Fields (1)

• The remainder of the north side of Grasslands, around the 
Guinness Trust development (2)

• The central Market site including the former Sunspot site, 
between Brooklands and the Village (3)

• The Mermaid site on Brooklands Gardens (4)
• 16no. individual plots within Brooklands (5)

The ownership of the existing housing areas is currently not fully 
analysed due to a lack of Land Registry information being made 
available to the team. However, we are aware of some holdings of 
multiple plots where planning consents have been achieved for 
redevelopment, though not implemented.

Ownership of the beach and the unadopted streets is currently 
unclear.

Martello Tower ownership sits with Essex County Council but the 
land surrounding it continues to remain in the ownership of the 
Caravan Park. This limits its use for additional events.

4.19 Land ownership

4

5

5

3

2

1

Fig. 51. Map showing Tendring District Council land ownership in Jaywick Sands

P
age 59



Page 30

Jaywick Sands Place Plan: Final Report

September 2023 HAT Projects

Background and baseline conditions

4.20 Values and viability

Viability of development in Jaywick Sands is challenging due to 
a combination of low property values and high costs. This will 
present funding challenges for the delivery of the Place Plan and 
the next stages of work will seek to quantify this further for the 
preferred approach which is identified following feedback at public 
consultation.

Costs of development

Development costs in Jaywick Sands are significantly higher than 
other comparable sites locally due to a variety of factors:

• Costs associated with the flood risk and resilience conditions 
measures required for all homes, including non-habitable space 
at ground floor level. Poor ground conditions - the ground 
conditions (former saltmarsh) require more complex foundation 
and drainage design than typical development sites

• Contamination on sites nearer to the existing housing areas
• Costs associated with the ecological importance of the sites - 

the requirement to relocate sensitive species
• Complexity of layout required due to shape of landholding, 

retaining an adequate ditch/drainage network, adjacencies to 
existing homes.

• Infrastructure costs

Values

Jaywick Sands currently has some of the lowest property values in 
the country, but also a sharp value gradient between the best and 
worst value homes. See table below for values between 2020 and 
2023, compiled from the property website Rightmove (accessed 
February 2023). The key factors that bring values down in Jaywick 
Sands are the blight , poor reputation of the area, very poor housing 
quality and flood risk. To raise values mean that all these issues 
need to be addressed by the Place Plan.

Area 1 bed property 2 bed property
High Low Average High Low Average

Tudor Estate[1] N/A N/A N/A £440,000 £180,000 £250,000

The Village £140,000 £80,000 £110,000 £180,000 £75,000 £122,000

Brooklands & 
Grasslands

£59,000 £61,000 £60,000 £180,000 £53,000 £94,000

1 No variable available for bedrooms, typically houses are 2 bedroom..

Hartley Gardens
1700 homes in total

Delivery estimates:
30 p/a 2028-2031
60 p/a 2031-2033
up to 1490 post 2033

Rouses Farm
950 homes in total

Delivery estimates:
30 p/a 2026-2030
60 p/a 2030-2033
up to 650 post 2033

Hartley Gardens

Rouses Farm

Jaywick Sands 

There are several large new homes developments in the housing 
trajectory for the Clacton area. The delivery of these sites - in 
locations where demand is currently much higher than in Jaywick 
Sands - is also a factor in assessing the viability of substantial new 
housebuilding in Jaywick Sands.

Figure 52 (right) illustrates nearby allocated housing sites Rouses 
Farm and Hartley Gardens. Outline planning consent has been 
granted for 950 homes at Rouses Farm off Jaywick Lane, which 
will include 20% affordable housing, land for a new school and 
other associated community infrastructure. Applications for the 
detailed reserved matters are expected to be submitted by the 
developers Persimmon Homes by the end of 2023 and the first 
homes are expected to come forward in 2024/25 and built out over 
a 10-year period. 

The Hartley Gardens site further north, extending towards the 
A133 and Little Clacton is allocated in the Council’s Local Plan 
for the largest development in the Clacton area and will include 
around 1,700 homes with necessary medical and educational facili-
ties, transport infrastructure, open spaces and possible commercial 
and employment space. Homes England is actively involved in the 
delivery of this scheme, is leading on the masterplanning approach 
and will act as master developer working in collaboration with a 
number of landowning parties. The proposal will be the subject of 
a Supplementary Planning Document (SPD) to be prepared by the 
Council for consultation and adoption in 2024 with the first plan-
ning applications expected to follow shortly after and the possibil-
ity of development beginning as early as 2025/26, building out over 
a period of 10-15 years.

The new developments at Rouses Farm and Hartley Gardens bring 
the opportunity to support the regeneration of Jaywick Sands as 
part of a wider strategy for growth in the west Clacton corridor by 
bringing improvements and investment in transport infrastructure 
that could improve access to and from Jaywick Sands, new com-
munity facilities that will not only support the proposed develop-

Fig. 52. Map showing locations of nearby allocated housing sites

ments but benefit the wider existing population and new market 
and affordable housing that could play a role in meeting the needs 
of households either or a temporary or permanent basis while the 
housing stock in Jaywick Sands is improved over time.  

By working positively with Homes England and other partners, 
there is significant potential to coordinate activities at Jaywick 
Sands, Rouses Farm and Hartley Gardens to achieve maximum 
benefit to the regeneration of the area and the delivery of quality 
housing and new infrastructure for the new and existing communi-
ties. 

P
age 60



Page 31

Jaywick Sands Place Plan: Final Report

September 2023 HAT Projects

Policy context

5. Policy context
National Planning Policy Framework 

The National Planning Policy Framework (NPPF), published 
in 2012 and updated in 2021, sets out to facilitate sustainable 
development through simplifying and consolidating national 
planning guidance. 

Three over-arching objectives are set out in the framework; 
1. economic 
2. social and 
3. environmental. 

The objectives set out in the NPPF are to be delivered through 
local and regional planning policy, sitting within the national 
framework but developed for the particular circumstances and 
character of each area.

The Local Plan for Tendring District identifies policies in the NPPF 
that are relevant to Jaywick Sands, including policies that propose 
to:

• use land within settlements in preference to “greenfield” 
sites, particularly derelict and previously developed land and 
buildings known as “brownfield” land

• promote development with a mix of uses so that people can live 
much closer to their jobs, shops and other facilities;

• ensure that there is a better balance between employment and 
housing and put jobs and homes near each other to reduce the 
need to travel long distances to work;

• encourage better design of new development to create high 
quality living and working environments and make best use of 
land resources;

• ensure that the scale of proposed development fits in well with 
the size and character of existing settlements

• stimulate economic regeneration in areas where there is high 
unemployment and few job opportunities;

• promote energy efficiency and renewable energy and reduce 
pollution of land, air and water

• ensure major developments to have at least 10% of dwellings 
available for 'affordable home ownership'

The NPPF also sets out the requirements for the sequential and 

exception tests which apply to development within Flood Zone 3, 
and the application of these tests in Jaywick Sands has been set out 
in detail within the preceding chapter.

Local Planning Policy 

The Jaywick Sands Place Plan is intended to support the Tendring 
Local Plan, and supports core policy guidance from both Tendring 
District Council and Essex County Council for the priority area of 
Jaywick Sands.

Local Plan 2013 -2033 

The 2013-2033 Tendring District Local Plan is a two part 
document consisting of a part relating to Tendring itself, and 
and a joint plan for North Essex with Colchester and Braintree, 
which includes the proposed Tendring Colchester Borders Garden 
Community.

The Local Plan's vision and objectives section includes specific 
mention of Jaywick Sands:

"In Jaywick Sands, regeneration projects will continue to 
raise the standard of living in this part of Clacton. Jaywick 
Sands will have seen, through the provision of a deliverable 
development framework, a sustainable community with associated 
economic,community and employment opportunities."

Settlement hierarchy and boundaries

Under Policy SPL 1 Managing Growth Jaywick is included within 
the Clacton-on-Sea settlement boundary, which is ranked as 
one of the highest Strategic Urban Settlements in the Settlement 
Hierarchy. Unlike in the 2007 Local Plan, the settlement boundary 
is drawn to include the area north of Brooklands and in between 
Brooklands and the Village, but not the 'Tudor Fields' area that 
lies within the Place Plan boundary. The Policy SPL 2 Settlement 
Development Boundaries states that there is a presumption in 
favour of new development within settlement boundaries, and 
outside of settlement boundaries, "the Council will consider any 
planning application in relation to the Settlement Hierarchy and 

any other relevant policies in this plan. An exemption to this policy 
is provided through the Rural Exception Site Policy LP6."

Green space and protected natural landscapes

Several local green spaces within the Place Plan area are 
identified in the proposals map within the Place Plan area and 
safeguarded under Policy HP 4 Safeguarded Open Space whereby 
"Development that would result in the loss of the whole or part 
of areas designated as Safeguarded Open Space, as defined on the 
Policies Map and Local Maps will not be permitted" unless either 
a replacement area is provided, or it is proved that the space is no 
longer appropriate or required. 

Under Policy PPL 2 Coastal Protection Belt the whole of the 
Tudor Fields area outside of the settlement boundary but within 
the Place Plan boundary is identified as protected. The policy 
states that within the Coastal Protection Belt, the Council will 

"a. protect the open character of the undeveloped coastline and 
refuse planning permission for development which does not have 
a compelling functional or operational requirement to be located 
there; and 

b. where development does have a compelling functional or 
operational requirement to be there, its design should respond 
appropriately to the landscape and historic character of its 
context".

Under Policy PPL 4 Biodiversity and Geodiversity the Tudor 
Fields area within the Place Plan boundary is identified as a Local 
Wildlife site and, as such, protected from development "likely to 
have an adverse impact on such sites or features[...].Where new 
development would harm biodiversity or geodiversity, planning 
permission will only be granted in exceptional circumstances, 
where the benefits of the development demonstrably outweigh 
the harm caused and where adequate mitigation or, as a last resort, 
compensation measures are included, to ensure no net loss, and 
preferably a net gain, in biodiversity."

P
age 61



±

© Crown Copyright and database right 2020. Ordnance Survey Licence No.100018684.

South-East
Tendring

West
Tendring

North-East
Tendring

West 
Tendring

North East 
Tendring

The Tendring District Local Plan

2013 - 2033 and Beyond

Policies Map 2

South East Tendring

SCALE 1:27500

0 1,200
Meters

Page 32

Jaywick Sands Place Plan: Final Report

September 2023 HAT Projects

Policy context

Housing and employment land allocation

No specific allocated sites for housing are located in Jaywick Sands 
under the emerging Local Plan although the undeveloped land 
between Brooklands and the Village and along Lotus Way was 
assessed in the Strategic Housing Land Availability Assessment  
(SHLAA). This concluded that the Objectively Assessed Need 
(OAN) of the district for 11,000 homes over the Local Plan period, 
would be met without this site coming forward, but that if other 
sites failed to deliver then it would be suitable for development. 

The Lotus Way site was assessed at a very high density of 100 
home per hectare for the purposes of the SHLAA, resulting in an 
assessed capacity of 700 homes. This is not likely to be deliverable 
in real terms due to the site layout and constraints, the importance 
of developing appropriately in design terms, as well as the 
requirement for open space, social infrastructure, and other non-
residential uses to meet other policies within the emerging Local 
Plan.

No employment land allocations are identified in Jaywick Sands 
under the emerging Local Plan.

Village services and other facilities

Under Policy PP 3 Village and Neighbourhood Centres three 
areas of Jaywick Sands - Broadway, Tudor Parade and the junction 
of Tamarisk Way/Broadway are defined as neighbourhood centres 
to be protected and enhanced. 

Under Policy PP 11 Holiday Parks the caravan park to the west of 
Jaywick Sands is identified as a safeguarded site protected against 
redevelopment. 

Regeneration

Jaywick Sands is identified under Policy PP 14 Priority Areas 
for Regeneration as a priority for focused investment in "social, 
economic and physical infrastructure and initiatives to improve 
vitality, environmental quality, social inclusion, economic 
prospects, education, health, community safety, accessibility and 
green infrastructure." 

Fig. 53. Extract from Tendring Local Plan Policies Map

Employment Allocation

Employment Site 

Housing Allocations

Mixed Use Allocations

Primary Shopping Area

Settlement Development Boundary

Town, Village & N/hood Centres

Priority Areas for Regeneration

Ardleigh Reservoir Catchment Area

Areas of Special Character

Conservation Area

Cemeteries & Crematorium

++

++ ++

++++ Bathside Bay

Bramble Island Safeguarded Area

Harwich International Port

Safeguarded Holiday Parks

Ancient Woodland

Coastal Protection Belt

Dedham Vale AONB

Historic Parks & Gardens

++ ++++

+ +  

Safeguarding Civil Technical Sites

Strategic Green Gaps

!
!

!
!

! ! ! !

!
!

!
!

!!!!!

Local Nature Reserves

Local Wildlife Sites(LoWS)

National Nature Reserves

Sites of Special Scientific Interest 
(SSSI)

Special areas of Conservation (SAC)

Special Protection Areas (SPA)

^ Scheduled Monuments

77

77 77

7777 *Flood Zone 3

77

77 77

7777 *Flood Zone 2

**Article 4 Direction

*The Flood Zone shown on the maps should only be used as a guide. 
The Environment Agency Flood risk maps should always be used for 
the latest flood risk information and to distinguish between 
Flood Zones 2 and 3.

** Article 4 Direction for Houses in Multiple Occupation covers the
whole district and therefore cannot be annotated on the maps.

It is important that the Maps and Keys are read in conjunction with
the Written Statement.

Historic Towns

The Tendring District Local Plan
2013 - 2033 and Beyond

Map Key
Local Plan/District Boundary

Allocated Mineral Extract Site

Safeguarding Sand/ Gravel Areas

Safeguarded Open Space

Tendring & Colchester Borders
Garden CommunitySuffolk Coast & Heaths AONB 

Ramsar Site 

! ! ! Protected Lanes 

P
age 62



Page 33

Jaywick Sands Place Plan: Final Report

September 2023 HAT Projects

Policy context

General requirements

A number of other Local Plan policies will be applicable to new 
development within the Place Plan boundary. The following is 
not an exhaustive list but highlights several policies that are being 
considered in the development of the Place Plan as they place 
constraints or guide the form of development, the infrastructure 
and amenity requirements and other key spatial fixes. 

Under Policy SPL 3 Sustainable Design "All new development 
(including changes of use) should make positive contribution 
to the quality of the local environment and protect or enhance 
local character." There is specific mention of the requirement 
for development not to have a materially damaging impact on 
the privacy, daylight or other amenities of occupiers of nearby 
properties. This is a consideration for Jaywick Sands due to the 
density and close proximity of existing dwellings to each other 
in the Brooklands/Grasslands and Village areas, and the already 
limited amenity space that they enjoy.

Under Policy HP 1 Improving Health And Wellbeing all 
development sites delivering 50 or more dwellings will require 
a Health Impact Assessment and developer contributions will 
be sought where new development will result in a shortfall or 
worsening of heath provision. This policy also requires increased 
contact with nature and access to the District’s open spaces and 
offering opportunities for physical activities through the Haven 
Gateway Green Infrastructure and Open Space Strategies.

Under Policy HP 2 Community Facilities New development 
is required to support and enhance community facilities where 
appropriate according to assessed need.

Under Policy HP 3 Green Infrastructure all new development 
"must be designed to include and protect and enhance existing 
Green Infrastructure in the local area" and development will 
be managed to secure a net gain in green infrastructure and 
biodiversity.

Under Policy HP 5 Open Space, Sports and Recreation Facilities 
standards for the provision of open space are set including 
provision of accessible natural green space in accordance with 
Natural England's Accessible Natural Greenspace Standards.

Under Policy LP 2 Housing Choice developments of 11 or 
more (net) dwellings will be required to reflect the housing mix 
identified in the latest SHMAA unless there are specific mix 
requirements for a particular site as set out in site-specific policies, 
or genuine viability reasons. Innovative development proposals will 
be supported with regard to co-housing, custom build and other 
specialist housing types. 

Policy LP 4 Housing Layout prescribes that residential 
development sites of 1.5 hectares and above must provide at least 
10% of the gross site area as public open space. 

Under Policy LP 5 Affordable and Council Housing at least 
30% of new homes must be affordable or council housing unless a 
developer contribution is made.

The Policy LP 6 Rural Exception Sites contains the usual 
provisions for provision of affordable and/or council housing 
outside settlement boundaries in response to identified local 
housing need.

Policy LP 8 Backland Residential Development specifically 
mentions Jaywick Sands and restricts the form of backland 
development to avoid 'tandem' development and to safeguard 
amenity space and accessibility.

Under Policy PPL 1 Development and Flood Risk, new 
development in areas of high flood risk "must be designed to 
be resilient in the event of a flood and ensure that, in the case 
of new residential development, that there are no bedrooms at 
ground floor level and that a means of escape is possible from first 
floor level."  Further detailed assessment of the constraints and 
requirements with regard to flood risk and resilience are given in 
the preceding chapter.

Jaywick Sands Design Guide Supplementary Planning 
Document

The Jaywick Sands Design Guide SPD was developed and adopted 
in 2022 following formal consultation. The Design Guide has been 
developed to assist applicants, agents, and planning officers in 
balancing design requirements with the wider regeneration aims of 
PPL14. It was formulated because the Council wish to encourage 
the replacement of poor quality homes with better quality, more 

resilient homes that provide a safer and better quality environment 
for their residents. However within the Priority Area for 
Regeneration, many plot sizes are very small and a strict adherence 
to every standard usually applied to residential development in 
Tendring would prevent some owners of single plot homes from 
upgrading them to a better standard, as it would not be possible to 
design a fully compliant replacement home.

Tendring District Council recognises that proposals to replace 
existing homes with new, better quality homes, but which do not 
increase the number of people living within the area of flood risk, 
will increase the safety and resilience of the community even if 
they do not meet every design standard in full. The SPD therefore 
sets out which design standards can be relaxed for proposals of this 
nature, which include the required floor level for habitable rooms, 
and minimum parking requirements. It provides clear guidance 
and worked examples to assist applicants in preparing compliant 
proposals.

Proposals that will increase the number of people living in 
Jaywick Sands and at risk of flooding, must meet all the design 
standards and requirements that would apply in other locations 
in Tendring. The SPD also sets out worked examples to show how 
these standards should be applied in the context and built form 
pattern of Jaywick Sands, to create good quality development that 
contributes to the regeneration of Jaywick Sands.

The SPD was developed in close consultation with the 
Environment Agency and supports the Place Plan by setting out 
the design requirements for new development of all kinds. The 
overall aims of the SPD and the Place Plan are aligned.

P
age 63



Page 34

Jaywick Sands Place Plan: Final Report

September 2023 HAT Projects

Developing the Place Plan strategy 

6.1 Place-based opportunities and constraints

Jaywick Sands presents real place-making opportunities to create 
a sustainable and resilient community with a unique offer to 
existing and new residents. In developing the Place Plan strategy 
the aim has been to build on these opportunities and the positive 
aspects of Jaywick Sands as a place, alongside working within the 
environmental and spatial constraints.

At a strategic level, these opportunities include:
• The quality and quantity of outstanding sandy, sheltered beach, 

easily accessible by car and reasonably accessible by other 
transport modes. The seafront has huge untapped potential for 
tourism, both of day visitors and overnight, and to be a major 
economic generator without losing its quality of environment.

• The rich history and unique character of Jaywick Sands' built 
form, which can be rejuvenated by a new generation of flood 
resilient homes which reinforce the distinctive character of the 
settlement, but which would be undermined by poor quality 
development.

• A substantial amount of land, both within and outside the 
development framework, is already in public ownership, 
reducing a barrier to delivery.

• Proximity to an ecologically rich rural landscape is good and can 
be improved, making Jaywick Sands an attractive location to 
live, visit and work.

• Recent improvements such as the extension of the Coastal Path 
and cycle route to Clacton, as well as the Sunspot commercial 
space, market and community garden, are already creating 
positive impacts and changing perceptions.

• Design guidance already in place (Jaywick Sands Design 
Guide Supplementary Planning Document) including clear 
requirements for flood resilience and incentives for betterment 
of existing properties.

Constraints include:
• Poor public transport connectivity with limited potential for 

improvement, will mean additional tourism is likely to be car-
based, creating challenges for parking, congestion and carbon 
emissions. 

• All development will be required to meet the agreed standards 
of flood resistance and resilience, meaning building forms are 
constrained. The tight plot pattern and closely spaced streets 
constrain the form of development that can be accommodated 
while also meeting flood resilience standards

• Ditches and banks form part of the flood defence and drainage 
network and need to be retained, or alternatives integrated in 
any plans 

• Foul and surface water drainage infrastructure is currently 
inadequate and will require substantial improvement in order 
to support existing development as well as any increase in 

commercial activity.
• Local Wildlife Site designation on Tudor Fields and on the 

beach itself would require off-site habitat creation to mitigate 
development impacts. Areas within the settlement framework 
also have high levels of protected species which adds to the 
costs of development

• Geological SSSI on beach will require mitigation measures for 
beachfront development.

Fig. 54. Diagram of place-based opportunities and constraints

6. Developing the Place Plan strategy

Positive development already 
taking place in the heart of the 
community. Land available for 
further commercial development

Outstanding sheltered, 
sandy beach - not 
sufficiently well-
known and with a lack 
of facilities

Ecologically rich rural 
landscape on the 
doorstep - but with 
poor public access

Proximity to large catchment of 
visitors on holiday parks

Improved 
cycle route 
to Clacton 
- but very 

poor public 
transport

P
age 64



Page 35

Jaywick Sands Place Plan: Final Report

September 2023 HAT Projects

Developing the Place Plan strategy 

Coastline

• A wonderful and currently under-utilised 
beach ideally suited to watersports along with 
other informal recreational use

• Beach shape has substantially changed since 
the introduction of the groynes, leading to a 
much larger sand beach.

• New Coastal Path will bring increased visitor 
numbers, and a different visitor profile, to 
Jaywick Sands using sustainable forms of 
transport.

Rural landscape

• Rural grassland and water meadow setting - 
close proximity to countryside although not 
publicly accessible - visual benefit only

• Wildlife and ecologically rich - both an 
opportunity and a challenge for new 
development

Character, built form and heritage

• Unique and intact pattern of development 
• Characteristic, eclectic customised small 

homes
• An important part of British social history 

evidenced in built form
• A source of inspiration to architects, 

designers, artists and writers
• Very tight plot pattern and closely placed 

streets constrain the form of development 
that can be accommodated while also 
meeting flood resilience standards

Fig. 55. Map and photographs of Jaywick Sands' coastline

Fig. 56. Map and photographs of the rural landscape of Jaywick Sands

Fig. 57. Map and photographs showing the unique pattern and character of buildings found in Jaywick Sands

P
age 65



Page 36

Jaywick Sands Place Plan: Final Report

September 2023 HAT Projects

Developing the Place Plan strategy 

Flood risk

• All development will be required to meet 
an agreed standard of flood resistance and 
resilience

• Ditches and banks form part of the flood 
defence and drainage network and need to 
be retained, or alternatives integrated in any 
plans

• Surface water drainage is inadequate in 
parts of the community, so infrastructure 
improvements are required.

Ecology

• Local Wildlife Site designation on Tudor 
Fields would require off-site habitat creation 
to mitigate development impacts

• Areas within the settlement framework also 
have high levels of protected species which 
adds to the costs of development

Fig. 58. Map showing the areas at risk from flooding in Jaywick Sands, photographs of the sea wall and examples of flood-resilient buildings in Jaywick Sands

Fig. 59. Map and photographs showing local wildlife site in Jaywick Sands

P
age 66



Page 37

Jaywick Sands Place Plan: Final Report

September 2023 HAT Projects

Developing the Place Plan strategy 

6.2 Meeting strategic objectives and success 
indicators

The Place Plan will be an important tool in the wider mission 
to deliver on the objectives for Jaywick Sands, as set out in the 
Tendring Local Plan. In order to develop an effective and targeted 
strategy, it is important to set out the measurables that can be used 
to understand if each objective was being met, and how the Place 
Plan can directly or indirectly create change against those success 
indicators. This forms a coherent theory of change to guide the 
Place Plan strategy.

 For each objective, based on the background data and local 
engagement, a range of suggested success indicators is set out, 
which have been developed by the project team. Those marked 
with an * are indicators which form part of the English Indices 
of Deprivation 2019 (IoD2019) assessment and therefore 
improvements to those would directly impact on the measured 
deprivation of Jaywick Sands.

Creating positive change against these indicator measures will 
require a multi-sectoral approach and action by the full range 
of partners and organisations in the area. Some can be directly 
impacted by the Place Plan as a development framework, while 
others can only be improved through other programmes. The 
theory of change for the role of the Place Plan in meeting each 
objective is outlined below.

6.3 Transform housing quality and the built 
environment

Housing quality in Jaywick Sands is very poor and evidence for 
this can be found across a number of data sources - for more 
information refer to section 3. This is a major contributor to poor 
life outcomes for residents and the deprivation experienced in 
the community. Addressing poor housing quality intersects with 
a number of other objectives, in particular flood resilience and 
improving health & wellbeing.

Measurable success indicators relating to the housing quality part 
of this objective include:

• Proportion of homes which meet the Decent Homes Standard
• Proportion of homes with central heating*

• Proportion of homes which are flood resilient.
• Number of accessible and adaptable and wheelchair adapted 

homes (M4(2) and M4(3) homes as defined in the Approved 
Documents for the Building Regulations)

• Proportion of homes with an EPC rating of C or above

The built environment more broadly in Jaywick Sands is of mixed 
quality. While there are some aspects of the environment, and parts 
of the community, which are strongly positive in terms of character, 
layout and quality of buildings and public realm, there are other 
aspects which are challenging. These include the blight caused by 
derelict buildings and vacant plots as well as a lack of maintenance 
and care for both buildings and public spaces,; some poor quality 
public spaces which do not have a strong sense of purpose, do not 
support biodiversity and lack trees and other positive features; and 
streetscapes - in particular Brooklands - which do not all provide 
an accessible or safe environment for pedestrians and cyclists.

Measurable success indicators relating to the built environment 
more widely include:

• Reduction in vacant and/or derelict plots or buildings
• Number of streets upgraded to a safe, adoptable standard.
• Reduction in environmental crime (fly-tipping)
• Increased canopy cover from trees in the public realm
• Fewer road traffic accidents*

Theory of change and role of the Place Plan
• The Place Plan must include a design and delivery framework 

for redevelopment of vacant and derelict plots, which, subject 
to funding, would deliver new good quality homes. This will 
raise the overall quality of the built environment and encourage 
greater pride in place among residents and property owners 
who will be incentivised to better maintain or upgrade their 
properties.

Fig. 60. Jaywick Sands from the air - showing the extensive beach and rural setting

P
age 67



Page 38

Jaywick Sands Place Plan: Final Report

September 2023 HAT Projects

Developing the Place Plan strategy 

• Poor quality and unsafe homes will need to be upgraded, 
where possible, or taken out of the market and redeveloped, 
where upgrading is not viable or feasible. The Place Plan as 
a development framework can contribute towards this but 
primarily this remains an enforcement and funding challenge.

• A flood defence design framework that creates a high quality 
seafront public realm and minimises visual impacts on existing 
properties, will help raise property value and confidence in the 
local market, incentivising property owners to upgrade poor 
quality homes. As values increase, redevelopment of properties 
that are not flood safe, will become commercially viable, reducing 
the requirement for public funding to achieve this objective.

• An appropriately-designed flood defence framework will also 
enable Brooklands to be upgraded to a good quality, safe street 
for all users.

• The Place Plan public realm design framework will, subject to 
funding, improve the safety, functionality and biodiversity of 
public streets and spaces, including additional tree planting, 
street furniture and other improvements. This will improve 
the quality of the built environment and greater pride in place, 
resulting in less environmental crime.

6.4 Ensure long term flood resilience

The flood resilience of Jaywick Sands is very poor. The standard 
of protection offered by the existing flood defences is decreasing 
as climate change takes effect, and there is already a present day 
risk of flooding to depths of up to .45m in parts of the community, 
for the typical design flood risk event (for more information refer 
to section 3). Access for the emergency services in the event of a 
flood is very poor and the construction of homes means that they 
are highly vulnerable to flooding, with the majority likely to be 
uninhabitable after a flood event.

 Measurable success indicators relating to this objective include:
• Maintain a 0.5% AEP standard of protection from flood 

defences, for the foreseeable future (c. 100 years) taking into 
account sea level rise from climate change

• Proportion of homes which meet a basic standard of flood 
resilient.

• Improved access for emergency services in the event of a flood

Theory of change and role of the Place Plan
• The Place Plan must include a costed and feasible flood defence 

design framework that maintains a 0.5% AEP standard of 
protection for c.100 years. This is the most important component 
of ensuring long term flood resilience.

• A design and delivery framework for replacing poor quality 
homes with new, high quality and flood resilient homes will 
improve the proportion of homes which are flood resilient at a 
property level. This will also provide good quality case studies to 
demonstrate flood resilient design and construction approaches 
to other property owners who will become better informed and 
incentivised to maintain or upgrade their properties.

• Homes which are not flood resilient will need to be upgraded, 
where possible, or taken out of the market and redeveloped, 
where upgrading is not viable or feasible. The Place Plan as a 
development framework can contribute towards this but this 
requires further development of incentives as flood resilience, by 
itself, is not a statutory requirement for existing homes, unlike 
other housing hazards.

• A development framework that includes a new or improved 
emergency access and evacuation route at a safe level will 
increase the flood resilience of the community.

6.5 Create greater connectivity to neighbouring areas

Jaywick Sands, like many coastal towns, suffers from poor 
connectivity to jobs, local services, leisure and cultural activities. 
With one road in, no train station and very limited bus services, 
locations which are not far away geographically can take a long 
time to reach by public transport. Local services, in particular 
the primary school and GP surgery, are located at a considerable 
distance from parts of Jaywick Sands, in particular Brooklands and 
Grasslands. Recent initiatives have started to improve walking and 
cycling rates in the area but parts of the community have no safe 
cycling routes.

Measurable success indicators relating to connectivity include:
• Road distance to: post office; primary school; general store or 

supermarket; GP surgery*
• Increase in quantity (km length) of segregated and well-lit cycle 

routes to local destinations.
• Number of bus stops with shelters and seating

Theory of change and role of the Place Plan
• New and improved walking and wheeling routes as part of the 

development framework would, if delivered, create a more direct 
route to the primary school and GP surgery, for residents in 
Brooklands/Grasslands.

• Public realm and flood defence framework can be designed to 
include a segregated cycle route along the seafront, which would 
increase the feasibility of using cycling to access work and local 
services.

• Improvements to bus stops to include shelters and seating where 
these are not currently available, would increase the use of bus 
services by residents.

6.6 Attract commerce & new economic opportunities

Jaywick Sands has very low job density (for more detail, refer 
to section 3) and this, together with the poor connectivity to 
neighbouring areas and low car ownership in the community, 
contributes to high unemployment for residents. However, with 
a fantastic beach and a relatively large population catchment 
with little in the way of local shops and services, there are clear 
opportunities for business growth and the current workspace and 
market scheme under development will be part of this economic 
transformation.

Success indicators for economic growth include:
• Increased job density and increased number of locally based 

businesses
• Reduced vacant commercial premises
• Lower unemployment*
• Increased visitor numbers and spend

Theory of change and role of the Place Plan
• The Place Plan development framework should identify sites and 

areas where additional commercial space should be developed 
and existing space safeguarded from change of use. This will 
ensure that commercial space continues to be available and, 
subject to funding, can be increased.

• A flood defence design framework that creates a high quality 
seafront public realm will increase the attractiveness of the beach 
to visitors and incentivise more tourism-based businesses to 

P
age 68



Page 39

Jaywick Sands Place Plan: Final Report

September 2023 HAT Projects

Developing the Place Plan strategy 

locate or grow in Jaywick Sands. 

•  The redevelopment of vacant and derelict plots, alongside 
improved flood defences, and better quality public realm,  will 
decrease blight and improve the reputation of Jaywick Sands 
as well increase confidence in the long-term flood safety of the 
area. This will encourage investment in commercial property 
improvements and incentivise more businesses to consider 
Jaywick Sands as a location.

6.7 Improve people's life chances, access to public 
services & health & wellbeing

This objective includes a wide range of factors and responds to 
the evidence that residents in Jaywick Sands have lower incomes, 
lower educational attainment, poorer physical and mental health 
and experience more crime than averages for either Tendring or 
England as a whole. While a number of these factors cannot be 
directly impacted by the Place Plan, the development framework 
can support efforts to improve these outcomes, in particular 
by creating space for local shops and services, employment 
opportunities, better quality housing, open spaces and recreational 
opportunities.

Success indicators for this objective include:
• Reduced household overcrowding*
• Increased proportion of homes meeting Decent Homes 

Standard*
• Reduced income deprivation (as per Indices of Deprivation 

Income domain indicators)*
• Lower unemployment*
• Improved levels of education and skills in the community (as 

per Indices of Deprivation Education, skills and training domain 
indicators)*

• Road distance to: post office; primary school; general store or 
supermarket; GP surgery*

• Increased availability and range of local shops and services 
within a 15 minute walking radius of each home.

• Improved health indicators (as per Indices of Deprivation 
Health deprivation and disability domain indicators)*

Theory of change and role of the Place Plan
• A  design and delivery framework for redevelopment of vacant 

and derelict plots, which, subject to funding, would deliver new 

good quality homes, would reduce overcrowding and increase 
the proportion of good quality homes.

• Poor quality and unsafe homes will need to be upgraded, 
where possible, or taken out of the market and redeveloped, 
where upgrading is not viable or feasible. The Place Plan as 
a development framework can contribute towards this but 
primarily this remains an enforcement and funding challenge.

• Sites identified for development of additional commercial space, 
and safeguarding of existing commercial space, will sustain 
and increase locally available jobs, assisting in reducing income 
deprivation and unemployment

• New walking and cycling route that reduces the distance to the 
primary school, as well as better bus stop facilities, will assist 
in reducing school non-attendance and increasing educational 
attainment. This will also improve accessibility to other services 
including GP surgeries.

• Sites identified for additional retail and local services within 
the development framework, will lead to additional shops and 
services being provided within walking distance of every home.

• Improvements to active travel routes and public open spaces will 
encourage active lifestyles and improve health and wellbeing 
outcomes.

6.8 Place Plan structure

The Place Plan is structured in seven themes which together make 
up a comprehensive development framework that addresses the 
strategic objectives, opportunities and constraints set out above. 
The seven themes are:

• Flood defence and seafront public realm
• Improving residential areas
• Creating space for business, tourism and local services
• Public open spaces
• Accessibility and connectivity
• Drainage infrastructure
• Community engagement and stewardship

Within each theme, a spatial framework is set out and specific 
strategies / development briefs outlined.

P
age 69



Page 40

Jaywick Sands Place Plan: Final Report

September 2023 HAT Projects

Flood defences and seafront public realm

7. Flood defences and seafront public realm

West Clacton to Jaywick Coastal Defences Study 
 

  

ENV0001833C-JAC-ZZ-00-RP-C-0001 2 

 

The majority of DU1 is covered by another project currently developing a capital scheme and so is not 
considered further in this study. That scheme is improving the 330 m long Cockett Wick sea wall to provide a 
0.5% AEP SoP. It involves wall raising and construction of a new revetment along its length. The design allows 
for further raising of the wall and revetment in year 50. The Cockett Wick scheme uses benefits for this 
frontage that extend into DU2 and DU3 but only for the next 15 years when they can again be claimed for 
future schemes in the area.  

The study area coastline is low-lying and was severely flooded in 1953. To reduce flood risk, various coastal 
defences have been constructed over the years, consisting of seawalls, revetments, rock armour, rock groynes, 
fishtail groynes, offshore breakwaters, and flood gates. The beach forms a key part of the defence system and 
has been recharged over the years. The coastal defences help protect the residential properties and 
community, commercial properties (including the Martello Beach Holiday Park), and Jaywick Martello Tower 
(a Scheduled Monument) within Jaywick and West Clacton from tidal flooding. Despite previous defence 
improvements, in December 2013 and January 2017 severe tidal flood risk warnings resulted in evacuation 
of all residents of Jaywick causing enormous disruption.  

 

Figure 1 – West Clacton to Jaywick frontage.  

7.1 Background and aims

The current flood defences along the seafront of Jaywick Sands 
provide less protection to the community every year, due to 
sea level rise as a result of climate change. A 0.5% AEP (annual 
Exceedance Probability, meaning the chance in any given year of 
defences being overtopped) is the standard of protection that is 
nationally the benchmark for tidal flood defences, but currently 
much of the frontage already offers a lower standard of protection. 
The existing defences are ageing and while the worst area, at 
Cockett Wick, is currently (2023) being upgraded with wall raising 
and rock reinforcement, a condition survey by the Environment 
Agency has established that the residual life of the defences along 
Brooklands, will last only until around 2038. Beyond this date, the 
risk of a failure or breach of the sea wall increases, which would 
lead to widespread flooding. 

If a 0.5% AEP standard of protection is to be maintained, defences 
will need to be upgraded and this will involve a significant capital 
investment. It is important that the design of improved flood 
defences does not protect the area while involving other potentially 
negative impacts on the regeneration objectives, quality of life for 
residents and economic prospects.

This part of the Place Plan strategy sets out a design framework 
for upgrading the flood defences so that they continue to provide a 
0.5% AEP standard of protection for the next 100 years, alongside 
creating an improved public realm, accessibility to the beach and 
seafront facilities. This is an expanded design approach to the 
option developed by the Environment Agency as the nationally 
preferred option in line with Treasury and DEFRA guidance and 
will require substantial additional funding. The seafront strategy 
will result in a wide range of benefits and address a number of the 
strategic objectives of the Place Plan. These include:

• Increasing the flood safety and flood resilience of the 
community as a whole

• Increase in value of property, and therefore the viability of 
upgrading substandard or non-flood-resilient homes due to 
their safety from flooding. Currently flood risk is a factor in 
keeping property values in Jaywick Sands abnormally low, 

West Clacton to Jaywick Coastal Defences Study 
 

  

ENV0001833C-JAC-ZZ-00-RP-C-0001 4 

 

Table 1 – Standard of Protection provided by existing defences against wave overtopping 

 DU2 DU3 DU4 DU5 

YYeeaarr  00  ((22002222))  0.5% AEP 1% AEP 1% AEP 3.3% AEP 

YYeeaarr  5500  ((22007722))  2% AEP 5% AEP 5% AEP 10% AEP 

YYeeaarr  110000  ((22112222))  33.3% AEP 100% AEP 100% AEP >100% AEP 

2.4 Coastal processes 
A review of coastal processes was undertaken for the study frontage and a technical report can be found in 
Appendix A. The review included an assessment of beach changes between 2000 and 2020 using data from 
the regional coastal monitoring programme (coastalmonitoring.org). These changes were placed in context 
of the construction of beach control structures (groynes and breakwaters) and beach recharge schemes 
between 1986 and 2008.  

The assessment found a slight trend of beach build up, even outside recharge schemes. However, there are 
still high annual variations, likely caused by storm events. Although the beach appears to be generally stable 
over the long-term, continued monitoring and analysis of beach levels was recommended. It was noted that 
further modifications to or additional beach control structures/beach recharge may be required in future due 
to sea level rise as this will increase nearshore water depths and wave heights possibly resulting in increased 
beach erosion. When beach control structures deteriorate or become damaged by storms, the retained 
beaches will begin to erode and could be lost if major damage is not repaired. Loss of the beach control 
structures and retained beaches would lead to rapid deterioration of the seawall and significantly increase the 
risk of flooding.  

2.5 Asset condition assessment 
In August 2018 Mott MacDonald completed a visual walkover survey of the sea defences along the WC2J 
frontage. In their report (see Appendix D) they identified and assessed the condition of the following types of 
sea defences: seawalls; flood gates; concrete and grouted stone revetments; rock armour; fish tail groynes; 
and offshore breakwaters. See examples of each along the frontage in the figures below. The report 
presented residual life assessments of each of the sea defence structures, i.e., the length of time until the 
defences will no longer perform their function adequately due to gradual deterioration. The Environment 
Agency has confirmed that there have been no further significant repairs or major storm damage to the 
defences since that would amend the results. The condition assessment was therefore used by Jacobs to 
identify when interventions may be required over the next 100 years.  

The primary concern on this stretch of coast would be failure and subsequent breach of a seawall. This would 
lead to widespread flooding in the area as much of it is below mean high water spring tide level. Table 2 
shows the year in which this is expected to occur for each DU.  

Table 2 – Residual life of seawalls at each DU i.e., the year that breach risk increases. 

DU2 DU3 DU4 DU5 

Year 16 (2038) Year 76 (2098) Year 14 (2036) Year 62 (2084) 

 

 

 

West Clacton to Jaywick Coastal Defences Study 
 

  

ENV0001833C-JAC-ZZ-00-RP-C-0001 4 

 

Table 1 – Standard of Protection provided by existing defences against wave overtopping 

 DU2 DU3 DU4 DU5 

YYeeaarr  00  ((22002222))  0.5% AEP 1% AEP 1% AEP 3.3% AEP 

YYeeaarr  5500  ((22007722))  2% AEP 5% AEP 5% AEP 10% AEP 

YYeeaarr  110000  ((22112222))  33.3% AEP 100% AEP 100% AEP >100% AEP 

2.4 Coastal processes 
A review of coastal processes was undertaken for the study frontage and a technical report can be found in 
Appendix A. The review included an assessment of beach changes between 2000 and 2020 using data from 
the regional coastal monitoring programme (coastalmonitoring.org). These changes were placed in context 
of the construction of beach control structures (groynes and breakwaters) and beach recharge schemes 
between 1986 and 2008.  

The assessment found a slight trend of beach build up, even outside recharge schemes. However, there are 
still high annual variations, likely caused by storm events. Although the beach appears to be generally stable 
over the long-term, continued monitoring and analysis of beach levels was recommended. It was noted that 
further modifications to or additional beach control structures/beach recharge may be required in future due 
to sea level rise as this will increase nearshore water depths and wave heights possibly resulting in increased 
beach erosion. When beach control structures deteriorate or become damaged by storms, the retained 
beaches will begin to erode and could be lost if major damage is not repaired. Loss of the beach control 
structures and retained beaches would lead to rapid deterioration of the seawall and significantly increase the 
risk of flooding.  

2.5 Asset condition assessment 
In August 2018 Mott MacDonald completed a visual walkover survey of the sea defences along the WC2J 
frontage. In their report (see Appendix D) they identified and assessed the condition of the following types of 
sea defences: seawalls; flood gates; concrete and grouted stone revetments; rock armour; fish tail groynes; 
and offshore breakwaters. See examples of each along the frontage in the figures below. The report 
presented residual life assessments of each of the sea defence structures, i.e., the length of time until the 
defences will no longer perform their function adequately due to gradual deterioration. The Environment 
Agency has confirmed that there have been no further significant repairs or major storm damage to the 
defences since that would amend the results. The condition assessment was therefore used by Jacobs to 
identify when interventions may be required over the next 100 years.  

The primary concern on this stretch of coast would be failure and subsequent breach of a seawall. This would 
lead to widespread flooding in the area as much of it is below mean high water spring tide level. Table 2 
shows the year in which this is expected to occur for each DU.  

Table 2 – Residual life of seawalls at each DU i.e., the year that breach risk increases. 

DU2 DU3 DU4 DU5 

Year 16 (2038) Year 76 (2098) Year 14 (2036) Year 62 (2084) 

 

 

 

although it is not the sole factor.
• Increasing value of seafront properties due to better quality 

outlook, views and public realm/accessibility
• Additional tourism potential due to better beach access, 

promenade and beachside facilities integrated into public realm
• A safe and accessible seafront allowing more people to walk and 

cycle, improving access to services and jobs in the wider area 
and increasing road safety

• Improved mental and physical health and wellbeing due to the 
increased accessibility of the beach and integration of play, 
recreation and leisure opportunities into the public realm.

The majority of DU1 is currently undergoing improvements 
and so is not considered further in this study. That scheme is 
improving the 330 m long Cockett Wick sea wall to provide a 
0.5% AEP standard of protection (SoP). It involves wall raising 
and construction of a new revetment along its length. Refer to 
Appendix C for further details.

The background and full options assessment that has led to the 
identification of the preferred and recommended design option can 
also be found in Appendix C.

Fig. 61. Map and tables showing the defence units relevant to Jaywick Sands and the expected lifespan. Source: Jaywick Sands Coastal 
Defence Study 2023, Environment Agency.

P
age 70



Page 41

Jaywick Sands Place Plan: Final Report

September 2023 HAT Projects

Flood defences and seafront public realm

7.2 Design framework

The design framework for the seafront area involves the 
construction of a new sea wall along the whole frontage, 
approximately 10-15m on the seaward side of the existing sea wall, 
so that the construction of the new wall (including construction 
traffic loading) would not damage the existing sea wall during the 
works. The existing sea wall would then be demolished and the 
space used for other purposes, including improved public realm and 
accessibility to the beach.

An additional rock groyne is likely to be required in order to 
widen the beach at the narrowest part of the Village, along with 
some additional beach nourishment at that location, while for the 
rest of the frontage broadly the same level of beach recharge and 
maintenance would be required as in the baseline option.

This design framework minimises the visual impact of the raised 
sea wall on the views from existing homes, by integrating the 
sea wall into a new raised promenade and a landscaped bank on 
the landward side. This allows stepped and ramped access to be 
created, as well as the opportunity to reconfigure Brooklands as a 
one-way street with full pavements (footways) on both sides and a 
fully segregated cycle track. The additional space created between 
the street and the promenade also allows additional seafront 
facilities, including parking, play areas, space for stalls or kiosks 
and other amenities, to be created This will support increased 
visitor numbers to the beach.

The design framework also includes a new beach boardwalk along 
the length of the beach, usable by wheelchair users as well as 
buggies and enabling those who find the current distance between 

the sea wall and the sea edge challenging to navigate. 

The Jaywick Sands beach will, through this design framework, 
be the most wheelchair accessible beach in north Essex if not the 
whole county, giving it a unique selling point in attracting visitors 
and driving economic benefits.

New sea wall

Additional new public realm created 
behind new sea wall

Potential new rock 
groyne

Fig. 62. Map of design framework for flood defences and the seafront

P
age 71



Page 42

Jaywick Sands Place Plan: Final Report

September 2023 HAT Projects

Flood defences and seafront public realm

7.3 Design framework in detail: Brooklands

The area between the new sea wall and Brooklands offers 
the opportunity for substantial public realm and accessibility 
improvements.

The design framework creates a new raised promenade on top of 
the sea wall, with ramps and steps giving access to the beach, and 
a re-designed Brooklands road with footways on both sides and a 
segregated cycle track. New street lighting would be installed both 
at street level and on the higher level of the promenade.

On the beach side, a decked area allows visitors who find the sandy 
beach difficult to navigate, an accessible area to enjoy the beach, 
and this connects to the beachfront boardwalk which runs the 
length of the beach.

The space between Brooklands and the new promenade allows 
for a range of amenities and facilities serving both residents and 
visitors, such as play areas, cycle and car parking, kiosks or stalls, 
and landscaped garden areas. On the top level of the promenade, 
there is the potential to create seafront canopy shelters to allow 
the beach to be enjoyed in all weather.

One-way street with fully segregated 
cycle track and full footways on both 
sides

Raised, fully accessible promenade with 
steps and ramps both sides

Deck on beach side

Fig. 63. Sketch visualisation of the new seafront design strategy along the Brooklands seafront Fig. 64. Isometric sketch showing the main elements of the seafront design strategy along the Brooklands seafront

Fig. 65. Indicative cross-section showing the strategic design approach to the Brooklands seafront

P
age 72



Page 43

Jaywick Sands Place Plan: Final Report

September 2023 HAT Projects

Flood defences and seafront public realm

7.4 Design framework in detail: Brooklands (continued from previous page)

Raised 
promenade

One-way carriageway

Cycle track

Footway

Footway

Accessible ‘deck’ on beach side - level surface in 
concrete or timber

Potential connection to deck 
boardwalk on beach - part of 
public realm strategy

Play, community garden, seating 
areas could be created

Car and cycle parking could be 
accommodated for residents 
and/or visitors

Fig. 66. Indicative cross-section showing the design framework for the Brooklands seafront and the distance to high water at the narrowest point of the beach

Fig. 67. Indicative plan of the design strategy for the Brooklands seafront showing integration of improved streetscape, public realm, accessibility and amenities.

P
age 73



Page 44

Jaywick Sands Place Plan: Final Report

September 2023 HAT Projects

Flood defences and seafront public realm

7.5 Design framework in detail: The Village seafront

The new raised promenade would continue at the same level along 
the Village seafront although as the existing seafront path is higher 
than the road along Brooklands, the relative height of the new 
promenade would be lower. Construction would not affect existing 
homes or access arrangements.

The existing path can be improved and maintained as shared 
walking and wheeling route with the addition of street lighting to 
make it safe and accessible at night. As along Brooklands, stepped 
and ramped access would be created to the raised promenade, 
making the seafront fully accessible, and the beachfront deck and 
boardwalk would be in a similar form. 

The space between the existing path and the new promenade can 
again be used for a range of amenities such as play, community 
gardens, informal seating and cycle parking. 

Raised, fully accessible promenade with 
steps and ramps both sides

Deck on beach side

Pedestrian and 
cycle shared space 
promenade

Fig. 68. Indicative cross-section showing the design approach to the Village seafront

Fig. 69. Sketch visualisation of the new seafront design strategy along the Village seafront Fig. 70. Isometric sketch showing the main elements of the seafront design strategy along the Village seafront

P
age 74



Page 45

Jaywick Sands Place Plan: Final Report

September 2023 HAT Projects

Flood defences and seafront public realm

7.5 Design framework in detail: The Village (continued from previous page)

Raised 
promenade

Existing steps up to  
existing promenade level

Shared foot and cycle path at level of existing path 
at the front of the Village

Accessible ‘deck’ on beach side - level surface in 
concrete or timber

Potential connection to deck 
boardwalk on beach - part of 
public realm strategy

Play, community garden, seating 
areas could be created

Fig. 71. Indicative cross-section showing the design framework for the Village seafront and the distance to high water at the narrowest point of the beach

Fig. 72. Indicative plan of the design strategy for the Village seafront showing integration of improved path in front of homes, public realm, accessibility and amenities.

P
age 75



Page 46

Jaywick Sands Place Plan: Final Report

September 2023 HAT Projects

Flood defences and seafront public realm

7.6 Design framework in detail: boardwalk

Currently access to the beach for pushchairs, wheelchair users, 
and other people with mobility issues is limited and impossible 
for many. A new boardwalk, with level access at several points 
along the sea wall will allow more people to access the beach and 
experience the seafront. This would also be a unique amenity for 
Essex, creating a tourism and visitor draw.

The boardwalk concept could be delivered as a 'quick win' in the 
early stages of the Place Plan delivery and then adapted when 
the wider flood defence and seafront public realm scheme was 
delivered.

7.8 Delivery of the flood defences and seafront public 
realm framework

This element of the Place Plan is both fundamental to achieving the 
wider regeneration objectives and the most costly and challenging 
aspect of the Plan to deliver. Securing protection against sea 
level rise is a precondition for the sustainability of Jaywick Sands 
as a community. The timescales for the delivery of the seafront 
framework will affect the wider regeneration benefits resulting 
and will impact on the confidence of market-led investment into 
Jaywick Sands. Until the long-term future of the settlement is felt 
to be secure in terms of flood defence, investment will be limited 
and short-term.

There is no option that will maintain a 0.5% AEP standard of 
protection to existing homes, that will not require substantial 
partnership funding above and beyond the Flood Defence Grant 
in Aid (FDGiA) that, under current funding formulas, would 
be available. Partnership funding means funding from the local 
authority or other sources, and not from the Environment Agency 
through the FDGiA assessment. FDGiA can only be drawn down 
after 2033, because that is when the probability of failure and the 
lowered standard of protection offered by existing sea defences 
starts to trigger these benefits.

The delivery of the preferred option for upgraded flood defences, 
which integrates this with a significant amount of new public 
realm, improved accessibility to the beach and new facilities, will 
require a very substantial total funding commitment in the region 
of £108m at 2023 values (further detail in appendix A). If delivery 
is planned for after 2033, when national FDGiA benefits can be 
drawn down to part-fund the scheme, the partnership funding 
required may be in the region of £84m at 2023 values. Drawdown 
of these benefits after 2033 assumes no change to the national 
framework for assessing and funding tidal flood defences but this 
cannot be guaranteed within the context of evolving climate-
related policy and pressures on public funding.

If the nationally preferred option for flood defences, in accordance 
with the Environment Agency’s recent report, were to be delivered 
with no additional public realm or seafront amenities, this would 
require additional partnership funding, on top of the FDGiA 
available, in the region of £20m (2023 values). Delivery would be 
undertaken in phases with the first phase in 2023 and the second 
planned for around 2058. It should be emphasised that this also 
assumes no change to the national framework for assessing and 
funding tidal flood defences.

7.7 Piloting the Brooklands one-way system

While the full seafront strategy is a long-term objective, the 
one-way system to Brooklands, which was supported at public 
consultation and would deliver substantial improvements to 
pedestrian and cycle accessibility, can be piloted as a quick win. 
This can be achieved through the following:

• Resurfacing Brooklands to an adoptable highways standard of 
construction

• Creating a segregated footway on the north side of the street 
(adjacent to the existing homes) with either temporary wands 
or bollards

This would displace the current informal use of the street for 
on-street parking by residents whose plots are generally not large 
enough to accommodate off-street parking. It would therefore be 
necessary to provide new off-street resident parking through use 
of vacant plots and further details on delivering this are outlined in 
section 8.

Fig. 73. Aerial photograph of an example beach boardwalk

Fig. 75. Photograph of current condition of Brooklands

Fig. 76. Sketch illustration for a one-way system on BrooklandsFig. 74. An example of beach boardwalk with bench

P
age 76



Page 47

Jaywick Sands Place Plan: Final Report

September 2023 HAT Projects

Improving residential areas

8. Improving residential areas

8.1 Background and aims

The purpose of the strategy to improve existing residential areas is 
to reduce the number of vacant and derelict plots, and poor quality 
homes, in order to address blight and increase the proportion of 
homes which are of good quality and flood safe. The reuse of plots 
should also  assist in meeting wider Place Plan objectives including 
improving the public realm.

The strategy is intended to inform the Council's strategy for using 
the plots within its existing portfolio, and acquiring and developing 
further plots where this can assist with meeting the objectives of 
the Place Plan.

The focus is on vacant and derelict plots as these occur in 
substantial quantities and contribute to the overall poor quality of 
the environment within residential areas, particularly Brooklands. 
Vacant and derelict plots[1] occur singly and in pairs, and there 
are few instances where three or more adjoining plots are vacant. 
Options for redevelopment of these plots is constrained by 
adjoining occupied plots. Tendring District Council currently own 
a total of 8 single plots and 5 parcels of multiple plots, including 
side-by-side double plots, two plots back-to-back, and a group of 
plots including the former Mermaid site on Brooklands Gardens.

1 Vacant and derelict plots, as surveyed February 2023, may included plots 
currently used as domestic gardens, vehicle storage, sheds and other uses 
without a permanent and habitable buildings. 

Fig. 77. Vacant plots within Brooklands (TDC in green/other vacant plots in blue)

Fig. 78. Photographs of some of the vacant plots within Brooklands

P
age 77



Page 48

Jaywick Sands Place Plan: Final Report

September 2023 HAT Projects

Improving residential areas

8.2 Options for reuse of vacant plots

Single vacant plots within Brooklands  are undevelopable for new 
homes, as 'betterment' standards as per the Jaywick Sands Design 
Guide SPD would not be applied because no existing home would 
be replaced.  Meeting the requirements for new homes in terms 
of flood safety, along with the standards for ensuring adequate 
neighbour amenity, daylight and sunlight, internal and external 
space standards is not possible on a single plot. Parcels comprising 
two or more plots can be developed to create a compliant new 
home.

At high level, options for reuse of single vacant plots include:
• Sell or lease to owners of adjoining properties, to increase their 

garden size, allow them to redevelop their homes, or to provide 
off-street parking reducing the current problems of on-street 
parking within the very narrow streets.

• Purchase an adjoining vacant plot and redevelop to provide a 
flood safe new home.

• Purchase an adjoining occupied plot and redevelop to provide a 
floor safe new home

Options for reuse of a parcel comprising two adjoining plots 
include:

• Sell/lease to adjoining homeowners to create expanded plots
• Develop a single new flood safe home
• Purchase an adjoining plot and redevelop to create two new 

flood safe homes

Further plots can be purchased to create larger consolidated 
parcels which offer greater redevelopment potential.

Vacant and derelict plots, in consolidated parcels of three or more 
plots depending on layout, also have the potential to be repurposed, 
at low cost, to provide off-street resident parking. This would help 
to offset the loss of informal on-street parking along Brooklands as 
a result of the wider public realm improvements along the seafront 
which will create footways and reduce the carriageway. This could 
also reduce informal on-street parking generally on the narrow 
streets of Brooklands, where plots are too small to accommodate 
off-street parking and the on-street parking creates accessibility 
and emergency access issues as well as a poor quality streetscape.

To accommodate the quantity of parking displaced by the 

Fig. 79. Diagram of single vacant plots acquired 
in order to develop a single 2 bedroom flood 
safe home on side by side or back to back plots 
on typical Brooklands avenue arrangement.

Seafront plots

Plots used: 5

Parking capacity: 10 spaces

Typical plots, back to back

Plots used: 4

Parking capacity: 10 
spaces

Typical plots, side by side

Plots used: 3

Parking capacity: 10 
spaces

Fig. 80. Diagram showing how purchasing 
adjoining plots to a double vacant plot allows 
two new homes to be developed.

Fig. 81. Diagram showing use of Brooklands plots for parking

P
age 78



Page 49

Jaywick Sands Place Plan: Final Report

September 2023 HAT Projects

Improving residential areas

improvement of the Brooklands streetscape, 3-5 ‘blocks’ of parking 
likely to be required (dependent on ratio of provision). These 
parking areas should be spaced as evenly as possible along the 
seafront in order to be as close to users as possible.

8.3 Recommended strategy for vacant and derelict 
plots

The existing TDC-owned single vacant plots next to occupied 
homes should be sold or leased to the adjoining owners with 
covenants that require them to be kept in good condition, used 
for garden / amenity space only, and to accommodate off-street 
parking for the enlarged plot. This is the preferred strategy for 
these plots as purchase of adjoining homes, and redevelopment to 
create a new home, is not cost-effective.

Single vacant plots which are not owned by TDC should not be 
targeted for acquisition. Where these cause blight due to fly-
tipping or lack of maintenance, enforcement action should be taken 
on the legal owners.

TDC should aim to purchase all currently vacant and derelict plots 
which would form parcels of two or more plots. This will allow the 
Council to eradicate the blight that results from the prevalence 
of derelict plots and to bring them back into uses that benefit the 
wider regeneration objectives.

These parcels should be redeveloped to create new flood safe 
homes. The resulting homes should be used to rehouse residents 
from unsafe, poor quality homes and those homes purchased and 
their plots redeveloped in turn. 

A small number of vacant plot parcels should be used for resident 
parking in order to facilitate the wider improvements to the 
Brooklands streetscape. 

Where a consolidated parcel of plots is located close to other non-
residential uses or the seafront, non-residential uses, such as retail, 
workspace, or community facilities should be considered in line 
with the land use strategy in section 9.

An illustrative application of these principles is shown above, 
demonstrating the outcome if all 63 vacant plots which, when 
combined with plots already in TDC's ownership, form parcels of 2 
or more, were added to the TDC portfolio. This would enable:

• 31 new flood safe homes to be built
• 4 parcels to be used for parking, providing approximately 40 

off-street resident parking spaces for Brooklands residents.
• One parcel of plots facing Brooklands Gardens - the 'Mermaid' 

site could be redeveloped to create workspace or community 
facilities, such as early years provision which has a deficit in the 
area.

New flood safe, high quality homes to the standards in the Jaywick Sands Design Guide SPD

Parking areas for Brooklands residents (allocated parking)

TDC-owned single vacant plots leased or sold to adjoining dwelling

Non-TDC owned vacant single plots - not targeted for redevelopment. Incentivise clean-up and maintenance where required.

Fig. 82. Plan showing application of strategy to currently vacant and derelict plots

In line with the Jaywick Sands Design Guide SPD, double plots 
would be developed with detached and semi-detached housing 
meeting the required standards for design, internal and external 
space standards, and parking applicable to new-build development. 
On-plot redevelopment also presents good opportunities for self- 
and custom-built homes.

P
age 79



sale and rent to take enforcement action early, advise potential 
purchasers of the risks and requirements for renting property in 
Jaywick Sands, and to purchase plots if the opportunity arises at 
a sensible value and where plots will assist in meeting the aims 
of this strategy.

As enforcement may result in a duty to rehouse tenants, the 
enforcement process should be undertaken alongside the 
development of new homes on vacant and derelict plots that can be 
used for rehousing, whether permanent or temporary.

8.5 Supporting owner-occupiers to improve flood 
safety

The majority of homes which do not meet the Decent Homes 
Standard are private rented properties rather than owner-
occupied. However, many owner-occupied properties are not flood 
safe and would present a risk to life in a flood event. The principal 
risks arise from the following factors:

• Lack of refuge space above the flood datum, meaning residents 
have no safe space to escape to in the event of a flood

• Lack of flood resilient foundation construction, presenting the 
risk of structural collapse

• Lack of flood resilient services, including electrical and 
drainage, presenting the risk of electrocution, sewage overflow 
and other hazards

Owner-occupiers should be supported to be made aware of the 
risks in their properties and options for upgrading where possible. 
It is recommended that this take the form of guidance, a clear 
methodology for assessing flood risk and a suite of technical 
solutions along with potential low-cost loan funding to incentivise 
property owners to take action. Property owners should also be 
supported to develop flood safety plans for personal evacuation, 
which is particularly relevant to the large proportion of residents 
who have health and/or mobility conditions which will make 
evacuation difficult.

8.6 Developing options for relocation

Through public consultation it has been shown that a small 
proportion of residents would prefer to relocate outside Jaywick 
Sands due to the flood risk. A relocation strategy should be 
developed to allow home owners who might prefer to live 
elsewhere in the district the opportunity to do so by establishing 
viable and deliverable schemes in partnership with other local 
developments. 

Page 50

Jaywick Sands Place Plan: Final Report

September 2023 HAT Projects

Improving residential areas

8.4 Addressing substandard existing homes

While many homes with Jaywick Sands are in good condition, there 
is a substantial minority of private rented sector homes which are 
in very poor quality and well below the Decent Homes Standard, 
and these are generally not flood safe. The construction of new 
homes on vacant or derelict plots must be undertaken alongside 
taking these poor quality and unsafe homes out of circulation. If 
this is not the case, the population of Jaywick Sands will increase, 
running against the strategy to avoid increasing the population at 
risk of a flood event, and the negative impacts on the safety,  life 
chances and health of residents in poor quality homes will not be 
addressed. 

Taking poor quality homes out of circulation is challenging and will 
require the use of a range of incentives and powers. These include:

• Enforcement on rental properties which are found to have 
Category 1 hazards and similar non-compliant conditions

• An offer to purchase substandard homes, such as non-compliant 
rental homes, following which the homes can be demolished 
and the plots redeveloped in line with the approach to currently 
vacant plots as above.

• Monitoring of the market for homes that are advertised for 

Create new 
affordable rent 
homes on TDC 

owned sites
Take substandard homes out 
of the market:
- Enforcement action on 
hazardous homes 
- Offer to purchase 
substandard homes
- Use new homes to rehouse 
tenants as required

Redevelop plots 
to create further 

high quality, 
flood safe homes

Reduce income 
to rogue 

landlords through 
enforcement

Increased flood 
safety and 

housing quality, 
improved built 

environment and 
reputation

Fig. 83. Infographic showing process for replacing poor quality and non-resilient homes with good quality new homes

P
age 80



Page 51

Jaywick Sands Place Plan: Final Report

September 2023 HAT Projects

Improving residential areas

This strategy should be developed to support the regeneration 
and improvement of the existing residential areas through a part-
exchange approach that would allow vacated homes to be upgraded 
or replaced with good quality flood resilient homes. 

8.7 Delivery of improvements to residential areas

Achieving the reuse of vacant and derelict plots will require 
initial investment in plot acquisition and development. Due to the 
poor viability of market housing development in Jaywick Sands, 
the development model will either require full funding through 
the Council or through a potential sale and leaseback or rental 
guarantee arrangement with an institutional investor through the 
underlying increase in value of the properties over time, as values 
rise in Jaywick Sands due to the wider regeneration programme, 
accrues to the Council.

While values are currently net negative for developing new homes 
in Jaywick Sands, this will change when long-term flood defences 
are secured and blight and deprivation addressed. It is therefore 
in the interests of the Council to maintain an underlying interest 
in the capital value of new homes over the long term. It would 
therefore be preferable for new homes developed through the 
strategy to be rented at either affordable rents or market rents.

Development of new homes on vacant plots will be most effectively 
achieved using a pattern book of house types developed specifically 
for Jaywick Sands and potentially utilising off-site prefabricated 
construction. This would reduce construction costs, work with the 
limited site access and working areas available, and achieve a high 
standard of construction with regard to flood resilience and energy 
efficiency. Self- and custom-build homes could also be an option 
for later tranches of development, when values have risen to make 
this viable while providing a return on the initial investment into 
site acquisition and infrastructure.

At present day values, the purchase and development of vacant 
and derelict plots in line with the recommended strategy may 
require investment of between £8m-£10m. Further detail can be 
found in Appendix A.

Fig. 84. Examples of good quality, well-designed homes showing approaches relevant to the character and built form of Jaywick Sands

P
age 81



Page 52

Jaywick Sands Place Plan: Final Report

September 2023 HAT Projects

Creating space for business, tourism and local services

9. Creating space for business, tourism and local services

9.1 Background and aims

This part of the Place Plan strategy is intended to address 
the objectives of attracting commerce and new economic 
opportunities, and improving people's life chances, access to public 
services & health & wellbeing. Being in regular employment results 
in positive impacts on physical and mental health and wellbeing 
which outperform most other public health interventions.

Jaywick Sands has very low job density and high levels of 
unemployment. Encouraging economic development within the 
community will increase access to jobs, raise aspirations and also 
help to address deficits in locally available services such as shops 
and other amenities.

9.2 Growth opportunities in Jaywick Sands

In boosting the local economy the strategy needs to work with the 
existing characteristics of Jaywick Sands and the opportunities 
for growth that it lends itself to. There are a number of evidenced 
areas for potential growth that would support the local community 
as well as creating local jobs.

There are deficits in local services to meet community needs, such 
as food shops and basic groceries, launderette, mobile phone repair, 
dentist, early years provision and other services. Making space for 
services will both generate employment and reduce indicators of 
deprivation such as the distance residents need to travel to access 
basic services such as basic shops, which should be available within 
a short walk of every home.

The wider Tendring district has a shortage of start-up and grow-
on space for small businesses and Jaywick Sands offers a good 
location to meet this need, with available land in public ownership, 
reasonably good vehicle access and few other development 
pressures. Tendring District Council has already taken positive 
steps towards catalysing economic growth through investing in 
the Sunspot workspace and covered market project which has 
recently been completed and the good take-up of units, particularly 
shopfront units, within this development demonstrates that there 

Fig. 85.  Map showing location of non-residential uses in and around Jaywick Sands 

 Place of Worship

 Education 

 Healthcare

 Care home

 Community Building

 Commercial - Active

 Commercial - Derelict 

 Holiday Park 

2

45

400m

400m

400m

P
age 82



Page 53

Jaywick Sands Place Plan: Final Report

September 2023 HAT Projects

Creating space for business, tourism and local services

is a market for commercial space within jaywick Sands.

Developing the tourist and visitor services economy is an obvious 
and important growth area for Jaywick Sands. This should involve 
making space for businesses, including retail, food and drink, 
services and visitor accommodation, as close as possible to the 
beach and other local facilities.

9.3 Spatial framework for non-residential uses

A number of opportunity areas and sites have been identified with 
the potential to support economic growth and meet local service 
needs. These include areas of vacant land owned by the Council as 
well as areas of existing development. 

Safeguarding and improving existing non-residential uses

There are existing commercial clusters on Broadway and at the 
junction of Tamarisk Way and Lotus Way, both of which are 
identified in the Local Plan as local centres and are protected by 
Policy PP 3.  There is also a cluster of non-residential uses around 
Brooklands Gardens. While currently there is little pressure on 
redevelopment of existing non-residential uses, over time this is 
likely to alter and these uses should be safeguarded as important to 
the vitality of the community and meeting local needs. 

Existing non-residential premises that do exist are in a mixed 
condition with many presenting a poor appearance. Existing 
non-residential premises should be incentivised to upgrade their 
appearance through, for example a shopfront grants programme.

Encouraging the growth of local commercial clusters

Development of additional shopfront units in and around existing 
clusters should be encouraged and areas where this would be 
appropriate are shown on the land use framework. 

Sites along the Brooklands seafront are suitable for non-residential 
uses, in particular those which would support the visitor economy. 
Properties along the Village seafront are less suitable for non-
residential uses due to their poorer accessibility for servicing. 
Development of non-residential uses must be carefully planned 
and designed to avoid disruption to neighbouring residential 
occupiers, including from noise, odour and deliveries. For this 

Fig. 86. Plan showing land use framework for business, tourism and local services

Existing non-residential uses (commercial and community) to be safeguarded and improved

Frontages where appropriately designed non-residential uses would be appropriate in order to support additional local 
services and the visitor economy

Sites where development of new business, retail and community facilities, as part of a masterplanned approach, is 
appropriate.

Village Centres as defined on the Tendring Local Plan Policies Map

Seafront public realm and flood defence improvements

A

B

C

P
age 83



Page 54

Jaywick Sands Place Plan: Final Report

September 2023 HAT Projects

Creating space for business, tourism and local services

reason small-scale uses should be preferred unless a consolidated 
large block of plots is assembled and proposed for more 
comprehensive redevelopment.

Developing additional non-residential floorspace on TDC sites

Further use of TDC-owned sites to create additional commercial 
space at affordable rents will help to consolidate Jaywick Sands as a 
business location. As the most suitable sites are within the central 
part of the community, care must be taken to develop commercial 
space that contributes to the overall streetscape and has a positive 
public frontage.

Site A
A prime potential site for further tourism development is the 
existing beachfront car park (site A) due to being sited so centrally. 
Providing adequate accessible car parking is essential to supporting 
the visitor economy but the potential exists to relocate parking 
to nearby sites and redevelop the car park itself for leisure and 
tourism uses. Any redevelopment on this site should integrate 
with beach access, and include good quality public realm. Suitable 
uses would include food and drink or retail and should be low-
rise to ensure it does not dominate the townscape and does not 
overshadow the street and public realm.

Site B
Land on the east side of Lotus Way has the potential for 
commercial workspace or light manufacturing/workshop units to 
meet wider deficits in the area for this type of space. Alternatively 
this area could be used to reprovide an expanded car park provision 
with high quality landscaping and tree planting. The site should be 
masterplanned to present a high quality streetscape, ensure that 
the banks and drainage ditch to the rear continue to function as 
part of the ecological and surface water drainage network

Site C
Land to the west side of Lotus Way would be suitable for further 
commercial or non-residential uses, potentially including social 
infrastructure such as library, early years provision or healthcare as 
it is highly accessible to residents on both sides of the community. 
Masterplanning of the site should create a legible block structure 
and permeable routes that integrate with the existing footpaths 
around the site. Additional parking or servicing should use the 
access bell-mouth now created as part of the Sunspot development.

Indicative potential building 
footprints

Desire lines / permeable movement 
routes to be integrated with 
development

Existing non-residential uses

Frontages where additional 
appropriately designed non-
residential uses would be appropriate

Seafront improvements including 
promenade and flood defences

New/improved access points to beach

Fig. 87. Indicative site strategy for TDC owned development sites in the village centre

9.4 Meeting social infrastructure deficits

Through consultation and through the infrastructure deficits 
report (section 3) a range of local services and social infrastructure 
deficits have been identified. In particular, access to health 
services, dental care and early years childcare should be addressed. 
Library provision would also be beneficial particularly if combined 
with other services in a single hub.

 Further work will be required with partners including the 
NEECCG in order to develop a brief for any new facilities, to 
ensure operational sustainability. This requires scoping and 
feasibility assessments but space is available within the allowances 
for non-residential floorspace should a requirement for physical 
premises be identified.

9.5 Delivering the strategy for business, tourism and 
local services

Delivery of this element of the Place Plan may be achieved through 
the following actions:

• Safeguarding land identified within the land use framework for 
non-residential development

• Encouraging the creation of additional space for businesses 
through development of existing privately owned sites

• Further feasibility studies to establish demand for additional 
Council-led business space development. It is recommended 
that this be targeted at specific sectors and could include 
provision of services such as early years childcare  by private 
sector providers.

• Shopfront improvement grants programme targeted at existing 
commercial properties

High level costs have not been developed for any potential further 
Council-led commercial development as further feasibility and 
demand studies will need to be undertaken.

A

C

B

P
age 84



Page 55

Jaywick Sands Place Plan: Final Report

September 2023 HAT Projects

Improving public open spaces

10. Improving public open spaces

10.1 Background and aims

The aim of this element of the Place Plan is to improve the 
functionality of public open spaces to better support active 
lifestyles, health and wellbeing as well as biodiversity, sustainable 
drainage and other Place Plan objectives. The strategy will benefit 
residents and will attract new economic activity by improving the 
visitor experience.

Jaywick Sands currently has two equipped open spaces classified 
as NEAPs and one informal play landscape (LAP). There are 
three smaller open spaces to the west of The Village. These are 
small greens, faced and backed onto by residential properties, 
with minimal trees, planting, seating and other public and 
environmental assets. A further green open space, along Garden 
Road (partially privately owned) is addressed as part of this 
strategy, as is the strip of land along the back of Brooklands, 
between the ditch and Lotus Way and the beach itself. 

All the spaces above are in need of an update, to bring them in line 
with current standards, address deficits (see section 3) and better 
serve residents. [1] 

10.2 Strategic approach

The strategy for improving the public open spaces has been 
developed through an assessment of current condition, 
opportunities and constraints and in consideration of the insights 
from formal and informal consultation. An outline functional brief 
has been drawn up for each open space, and to inform outline 
delivery costs, and this should be used as the starting point for 
further project development. 

1 Tudor Fields and land behind Lotus Way is not included here, 
however improvements to access to these areas is covered in 
section 11.

Open space Size Existing provision

1 Crossways Park 2ha U12s equipment/ 
MUGA (NEAP)

2 Garden Road 0.8ha None

3 St Christopher's 0.5ha None

4 Fern Way 0.2ha None

5 Sea Crescent 0.15ha None

6 Brooklands Gardens 0.55ha U12s equipment/ 
MUGA (NEAP)

7 Lotus Way 1.4ha Informal play 
landscape (LAP)

Fig. 88. Map of existing public open spaces in Jaywick Sands

4

1

2

3

5
6

7

8

P
age 85



Page 56

Jaywick Sands Place Plan: Final Report

September 2023 HAT Projects

Improving public open spaces

10.3.1 Crossways Park (2ha) 

Existing condition:
• Well-used space including several play areas fulfils 

basic characteristics of a NEAP (for play) and doorstep 
accessible green space (for GI)

• Waterway is attractive and benefits wildlife, and has been 
recently cleared (Essex Wildlife Trust and community 
partners)

• Rest of the space is mown grassland and somewhat sterile
• Surrounded by ‘backs’ of tandem plots which could 

become more attractive and well-used ‘fronts’.

Proposed improvements:
1. Renewal of existing paths and accesses
2. Create perimeter path to improve access to surrounding 

homes/gardens.
3. Add more trees, planting and natural landscape features 

(meadow grass areas, etc) to improve habitat, create more 
visual interest and allow for more varied uses

4. Add more seating / picnic tables and upgrades to play 
equipment

5. Site for additional MUGA (to meet deficit identified in 
infrastructure report) 

10.3.2 Garden Road (0.8ha)

Existing condition:
• Long linear green space
• Central part is not owned by TDC and has been subject 

to speculative unsuccessful planning applications. This 
part could be purchased by TDC to connect their existing 
assets.

• Tandem and single plots back onto the space - some use 
the space as primary access.

Proposed improvements:
1. Renewal of existing paths and accesses 
2. Create perimeter path and better footway along street 
3. Extend current beekeeping operation to create larger 

community garden
4. Natural dog agility course
5. Benches and picnic tables
6. Tree planting and potential
7. SuDS along street 

Fig. 89. Map of existing condition for Crossways Park (top) and green space on 
Garden Road (bottom)

Fig. 90. Map showing proposed improvements for Crossways Park (top) and 
green space on Garden Road (bottom)

2

4

4

5

6

7

7

3

1

3

4

5

2

2

2

1

P
age 86



12 3

4

6

5

Page 57

Jaywick Sands Place Plan: Final Report

September 2023 HAT Projects

Improving public open spaces

10.3.3 St Christopher's Way (0.5ha)

Existing condition:
• Triangular space, only one side is fronted by homes, others 
homes back onto to space.
• Currently used for parking but unsurfaced and no marked bays
• Lightly used for parking - never full
• Near St Christopher’s church (blue circle)
• Surrounded by very small plots

Proposed improvements:
1. Provide limited parking in marked-out on-street bays as part 

of landscaping scheme, alternating with street trees.
2. Provide bollard lighting along street
3. Create path around edge of space to improve informal access 

from back gardens. 
4. Play for younger children/toddlers near church
5. Play for older children at the wider end of the space
6. Tree planting 

1

6

2

3

4

5

10.3.4  Fern Way (0.2ha)

Existing condition:
• Triangular space, only one side is fronted by homes - rest are
backs
• Surrounded by some of the most cramped and poor quality plots
in Jaywick Sands with virtually no gardens
• On-street parking on one side due to lack of on-plot parking
• Grassed with no play / equipment
• Lack of street lighting, at either end of street only

Proposed improvements:
1. Formalise on-street parking as part of landscaped approach 

alternated with trees
2. Provide bollard lighting along street
3. Tree planting
4. Static and natural play features (low maintenance) to provide 

resident amenity
5. Benches and picnic tables.

10.3.5  Sea Crescent (0.15 ha)

Existing condition:
• Fronted and well overlooked by homes to all sides
• No footways
• Grass and one single tree
• Overhead cables pass along the straight edge, on the green 
space
• No seating or encouragement for active use

Proposed improvements:
1. Natural play and benches for informal use
2. Tree planting for shade/environmental/ecological 

benefit
3. New footway along Sea Way
4. Potential for pond/blue SuDS feature

Existing

Proposed

Existing

Existing

Proposed

Proposed

Fig. 91. Map of existing condition of St Christopher's Way

Fig. 93. Maps of existing condition and 
proposed improvements to Fern Way

Fig. 94. Maps of existing 
condition and proposed 
improvements to Sea Crescent

Fig. 92. Map of proposed improvements to St Christopher's Way

1

2

3

4

P
age 87



Page 58

Jaywick Sands Place Plan: Final Report

September 2023 HAT Projects

Improving public open spaces

10.3.6 Brooklands Gardens (0.55ha)

Existing condition
• The only open space in Brooklands (pop. c. 1500) which has
• The smallest plots and private yards/ gardens
• Includes MUGA and other play equipment but not in good 

condition
• Little shade or seating

Proposed improvements:
Substantial improvement to be extremely well used and meet 
the NEAP standard for play and equipment covering all ages and 
maximise amenity:
1. New play (including some bespoke play equipment) for young 

and older children including boundary fencing, bins, planting, 
seating for supervision etc)

2. New boundary, surface, lighting and increase size to (38x18m 
MUGA) 

3. Include outdoor gym equipment for adults
4. Add more seating and picnic tables
5. Add trees for canopy cover and shade
6. New paths

10.3.7 Lotus Way green space (1.4ha)

Existing condition
• Small informal play area (without equipment) near Lotus Way
• (Guinness Trust) homes
• Mix of informal green space and small community gardens
• Linear route with unsurfaced footpath along top of bank - good 

potential route for walking/running
• Not all the links into the rear of Brooklands are easily accessible
• Biodiversity is good due to presence of watercourse but further
• Habitat could be created

Proposed improvements:
1. Surface footpath to provide all-weather path (cost in active 

travel)
2. Improve access points from Brooklands (cost in active travel)
3. Landscape clean up new & biodiverse planting around the 

watercourse & maintain natural green space character 
4. Revitalize existing informal play and seating area

1

1

2

3

3

5

5

6

4

3 1

4

2

2

Existing

Existing

Proposed

Proposed

Fig. 95. Map of existing condition of 
Brooklands Gardens

Fig. 97. Map of existing condition of Lotus Way

Fig. 96. Map of proposed improvements to 
Brooklands Gardens

Fig. 98. Map of proposed improvements to Lotus Way

P
age 88



Page 59

Jaywick Sands Place Plan: Final Report

September 2023 HAT Projects

Improving public open spaces

10.4 Delivery of public open space improvements

Delivery of the identified public open space improvements 
can be achieved as a series of standalone projects and could be 
considered as potential 'quick wins' as they do not have significant 
dependencies on other aspects of the Place Plan framework. 

Delivery and funding partners could include community groups, 
Active Essex/Essex County Council, as well as other grant funding 
schemes aimed at improving health and wellbeing, biodiversity, 
climate resilience or sustainable drainage. 

To deliver all the identified public open space improvements would 
require capital funding in the order of £3-3.5m at 2023 costs. 
Further information and breakdowns can be found in Appendix A.

Fig. 99. Map of existing public open spaces in Jaywick Sands

4

1

2

3

5
6

7

8

Open space Size Existing provision

1 Crossways Park 2ha U12s equipment/ 
MUGA (NEAP)

2 Garden Road 0.8ha None

3 St Christopher's 0.5ha None

4 Fern Way 0.2ha None

5 Sea Crescent 0.15ha None

6 Brooklands Gardens 0.55ha U12s equipment/ 
MUGA (NEAP)

7 Lotus Way 1.4ha Informal play 
landscape (LAP)

P
age 89



Page 60

Jaywick Sands Place Plan: Final Report

September 2023 HAT Projects

Accessibility and connectivity

11.1 Background and aims

Connectivity within and around Jaywick Sands presents a number 
of challenges and these impact the access for residents to basic 
services as well as jobs, family and friends. Some routes, such as 
Brooklands, are also unsafe for vulnerable users due to insufficient 
footways, and others, such as the alleyways that could provide 
good direct through routes, feel unsafe at night.  Emergency access 
and evacuation in a flood event is also limited and a concern to the 
emergency services.

More broadly although Jaywick Sands benefits from being in a 
beautiful coastal location and with nature-rich rural areas to the 
north, public access to these areas is limited and this impacts 
on residents' ability to connect with nature and improve their 
health and wellbeing through exercise and regular time outdoors. 
Increasing the network of routes and access points to both the 
beach and the rural hinterland will improve accessibility and bring 
health benefits.

While wider infrastructure improvements, for example to public 
transport, are beyond the scope of the Place Plan, improvements 
to existing walking and cycling routes, and creation of new routes, 
will create a positive impact on a number of indicators which are 
relevant to the Place Plan objectives.

11.2 Strategic approach

The accessibility and connectivity strategy aims to improve 
existing routes, where they exist, and to create new connections 
in strategic locations. Accessibility and connectivity to the beach, 
and improvements to Brooklands, are addressed through the flood 
defence and seafront public realm strategy as they are integrally 
linked to the delivery of flood defences. This section sets out 
the additional improvements to the movement network that are 
recommended as part of the Place Plan.

11. Accessibility and connectivity

1

6

5

3

5

1

2

3

2

3

4

3

3

4

Improvements to Brooklands (reduce carriageway and  create 
one way vehicle access, two way cycling access and new footway 
and landscaping) - for detail refer to flood defence and seafront 
public realm (section 7)

New walking and wheeling route across Tudor Fields, suitable 
for emergency access and evacuation in a flood event.

Improvements to alleyways

New/improved footpaths increasing access to green spaces for 
recreation and exercise

Level/ramped access at all walkway/footpath transitions

Improved bus stop (footway access, shelter and seating)

Boardwalk route(wheeling and walking) along shoreline - refer 
to flood defence and seafront public realm section

Fig. 100. Map of proposed accessibility and connectivity improvements

P
age 90



Page 61

Jaywick Sands Place Plan: Final Report

September 2023 HAT Projects

Accessibility and connectivity

11.3 New route across Tudor Fields

A new route is proposed across Tudor Fields which will both 
substantially improve connectivity from Brooklands and 
Grasslands to the primary school and GP surgery in the Tudor 
Estate, and can also provide much-needed emergency access and 
evacuation route in a flood events. This addresses the concerns 
highlighted in the consultation by emergency services and the 
Environment Agency about the lack of a flood safe emergency 
route. While it may not be feasible to raise the route to above the 
worst future flood scenarios, the route can be set at a level that 
would be safe in an extreme current day flood event and more 
regular / high probability future flood risk events. A turning head 
area should be provided at the southern end.

A new route from Lotus Way to Crossways for walking and cycling 
would reduce the travel distance to the primary school by as much 
as ten minutes walking time for families within Brooklands and 
Grasslands, where we know there are more families with young 
children. Currently many children need to take the bus to school as 
families do not own cars. A safe off-road route that can be used by 
cycles will also encourage more families to cycle to school, reducing 
travel time substantially.

A further benefit of the new proposed route will be allowing 
access to natural green space, benefitting health and wellbeing and 
helping meet the identified deficit in accessible natural greenspace 
for residents in the most deprived parts of Jaywick Sands. The 
new route would work with further footpath improvements 
(see following section) to increase access while keeping access 
controlled to ensure that impacts on wildlife and biodiversity are 
minimised.

Safeguarding potential alternative emergency route
An alternative emergency egress/access route was suggested for 
consideration within the Place Plan as part of the Environment 
Agency’s initial options assessment. This route, along the back of 
the golf course, connects high ground in the Village to high ground 
West Road. Records show the high point in the village has been 
historically safe from flooding however, it would currently be cut 
off from other safe areas in a flood event. An additional route here 
would allow emergency services further into Jaywick Sands in a 
flood event, however the land required to achieve this route is not 
within TDC's control. 

It is recommended that the option of developing this route in the 

future should be explored with landowners, and development 
which would prevent the delivery of this route should be resisted as 
this provides a long-term flood safe route which would be outside 
the area affected by flooding in 100 year climate change seenarios.

Fig. 101. Map showing proposed new route and alternative emergency access route to be safeguarded.

New walking/wheeling route

Existing streets connected by new route

This provides a shortened walk to school 
(approx. 1.5km)

Current walk to school - 1.7km

Alternative potential emergency access 
route - land to be safeguarded.

P
age 91



Page 62

Jaywick Sands Place Plan: Final Report

September 2023 HAT Projects

Accessibility and connectivity

11.3 New route across Tudor Fields (continued)

The design of the new route would involve widening and raising 
the height of the existing raised bank, which is too narrow to 
currently accommodate vehicles The following outline design 
requirements should be incorporated:

• Surfacing suitable for emergency vehicle access and day-to-day 
walking and cycling - typically a minimum width of 3.5m but 
with passing places at regular intervals.

• Include suitable access control measures at either end to 
prevent unauthorised vehicle access while not preventing 
authorised walking, wheeling and cycling.

• Include boundary treatment such as post and rail fence with 
wildlife friendly wire mesh or similar, to prevent users going off-
route and disturbing wildlife on either side

• Bridges over watercourses to be designed to allow passage of 
wildlife and not to impede surface water drainage.

• Include benches at regular intervals to provide rest stops
• No lighting in order to minimise disturbance to wildlife and 

discourage antisocial night-time use.

Jaywick ditch 

Emergency vehicle  

Existing bank

5% AEP + 100 years climate change 
flood water level

0.1% AEP present day flood water level

Width 3.1m (approx.) Passing places at 
appropriate intervals

Height (to suit 
flood risk scenario)

0.5% AEP + 100 years climate change flood water level

Proposed access route 2a following existing topography

2a

2a

2b

Fig. 102. Proposed routes for emergency access/egress and 0.5% 
AEP + Climate Change (100 years) flood event depths map, depths 
given in metres from existing ground level (EA,  2022)

Fig. 103. Aerial view of proposed access/evacuation route (solid) 
and footpath (dashed)

Fig. 104. Existing raised bank toward Tudor Fields

Fig. 105. Typical section through raised bank

P
age 92



Page 63

Jaywick Sands Place Plan: Final Report

September 2023 HAT Projects

Accessibility and connectivity

11.4 Improvements to existing footpaths

The walking only routes around Tudor Fields and the perimeter of 
Brooklands/Grasslands should be made suitable for walkers and 
wheelchair users as far as possible, over the marsh landscape, with 
points to pass, rest and enjoy nature along the way, and link up 
with existing pathways and make the existing route more pleasant 
and accessible. 

In places, residents have taken on the maintenance of these routes, 
and some are planted and well cared for. In other areas, residents 
have blocked off access with fences and gates. It will be critical to 
engage with residents to understand their concerns about safety, 
security and maintenance expectations for improvements to these 
routes however, the interventions themselves should be simple and 
achievable as stand alone projects.

Further scoping and engagement will be required and design must 
ensure that works will not negatively impact existing environment 
and ecology. Recommended improvements include:

• Stabilisation and widening of banks where required
• Surfacing with hardcore wearing course to rural footpath 

standard
• Stepped and ramped connections at level changes

11.5 Alleyways

The street grid of Brooklands and Grasslands includes cross-routes 
known as the alleyways, which are currently poorly maintained, 
unlit and feel unsafe. Typically home owners are responsible for 
repairing the boundary fences and walls to the alleyways but costs 
mean that most are in poor condition and some are unsafe.

Their poor condition thus prevents the alleyways being used as an 
integral part of the movement network, meaning residents take 
longer routes in order to avoid them. 

Improvements would be a relatively low cost high impact 
intervention and should include the following:

• Resurfacing to an adoptable pedestrian standard
• Repairs to boundary walls/fences
• New lighting - due to narrow width, should be ground-set 

lighting within the path surface

Like the roads in Brooklands, Grasslands and parts of the Village, 
the alleyways are not part of a maintained network, and ongoing 
maintenance should be included as part of highway/infrastructure 
responsibility/ownership decision.

Fig. 106. Hard to access footpath behind Brooklands

Fig. 107. Cared for access to footpath behind Grasslands

Fig. 108. Existing alley between Brooklands plots

P
age 93



Page 64

Jaywick Sands Place Plan: Final Report

September 2023 HAT Projects

Accessibility and connectivity

11.6 Bus stops and shelters

Bus stops form an important part of the infrastructure serving the 
community due to the low rate of car ownership in Jaywick Sands 
and reliance on public transport as a means of accessing services 
and employment. Improving the public transport experience is also 
important as part of supporting increased visitor numbers coming 
to Jaywick Sand by sustainable travel modes. 

The physical bus infrastructure in parts of Jaywick Sands is limited. 
There are several key bus stops without paved footway access, 
seating or shelters, meaning they do not meet user needs and are 
particularly unsuitable for residents with health and mobility 
difficulties. We have identified three stops where there is sufficient 
space to include shelters, lighting, seating and paving, which would 
greatly improve the experience at these frequently used stops.

The stops identified for improvement are within Essex Highways 
maintenance responsibility and will require coordination and 
agreement on provision, design and maintenance of any shelters. 
However at the Sunspot site this has been achieved with ease 
and this provides a useful benchmark for the deliverablility of 
improvements to this aspect of the movement network.

11.7 Delivery of accessibility and connectivity 
improvements

Accessibility and connectivity improvements identified as part of 
this element of the Place Plan are easily achievable and have few 
dependencies on other parts of the strategy.

They can therefore be seen as 'quick wins' that can be brought 
forward as soon as funding becomes available and in order to take 
advantage of potential funding sources, the projects should be 
further scoped with additional technical design and feasibility work 
to ensure a robust basis for funding bids.

High level costs have been developed which suggest that 
implementation of the full suite of improvements identified may 
require funding of £5-£5.5m (2023 values).

Beach Way

Triumph Avenue

Martello Beach Park

Fig. 109. Proposed bus shelter locations (existing stops named)

Fig. 110. Beach Way existing bus stop

P
age 94



Page 65

Jaywick Sands Place Plan: Final Report

September 2023 HAT Projects

Drainage infrastructure

12. Drainage infrastructure

12.1 Background and aims

Jaywick Sands experiences regular issues with foul and surface 
water drainage, along with a lack of maintenance of many streets 
within the village. This arises due to the historic development 
of the village and the confusion around responsibilities for 
maintaining and improving the streets and the drainage network. 
It is worsened by the increasing intensity of rainfall due to climate 
change, leading to an increased frequency of surface water 
flooding.

Most of the streets in the regeneration area are not adopted or 
maintained by the Highways Authority (Essex Highways) and 
are technically private roads. However the original Freeholders 
Association which was intended to be responsible for the private 
roads is no longer in existence, leaving a vacuum regarding 
maintenance responsibility. While Essex County Council funded 
some improvements to the north-south streets in Brooklands in 
2015, it did not take on the maintenance responsibility for the 
streets or their drainage, and as a result no maintenance has taken 
place since that date. Patch repairs to Brooklands itself were 
completed in 2022 by Essex County Council but no full-scale 
improvement to either the carriageway or the drainage. 

Mains foul drainage and surface water drainage should, in theory, 
be separate systems though in many parts of the country they are 
combined into a single combined drainage (sewerage) network. 
Typically mains drainage – foul and surface water – is adopted by 
the local statutory undertaker for drainage (e.g. Anglian Water) 
which is the successor to the former system of Water Boards. 

Within Jaywick Sands, Anglian Water maintain the foul drainage 
network, though it is understood that they do not have an active 
maintenance schedule for all the runs. Drains are not regularly 
maintained, instead they are unblocked as and when issues are 
reported to Anglian Water. 

The surface water drainage network is more complex, see Fig 111:
• Along Lotus Way surface water sewers are maintained by 

Anglian Water. Fig. 111. Map showing the location and ownership drainage infrastructure in Jaywick Sands

P
age 95



Page 66

Jaywick Sands Place Plan: Final Report

September 2023 HAT Projects

Drainage infrastructure

• In Brooklands surface water from the north-south roads 
historically had no formal drainage. Since improvements 
to these streets in 2015 surface water drains towards 
Brooklands ditch, no statutory body takes maintenance 
responsibility for this street drainage.

• The surface water from Brooklands drains into a culvert 
system which outfalls into the sea. The Environment 
Agency is responsible and maintains these assets

There are areas of the settlement where there is no surface 
water drainage system in place, including the seafront road of 
Brooklands itself, and other unimproved streets in the Village. 
There are other parts of the surface water drainage network, 
including sections of culvert and the Jaywick Ditch, which are 
not adopted or maintained by any known authority. In addition, 
within Brooklands, the surface water drainage installed in 2015 
was intended to drain the streets only and there is no provision 
for surface water drainage from homes. As a result it appears that 
many properties have connected their rainwater drainage from 
roofs, etc, into the mains foul drainage, adding flows for which 
this network does not have capacity, leading to backing up and 
overflowing of drains.

In order to support the wider Place Plan objectives and strategy, 
addressing the deficits in the physical drainage infrastructure, 
and putting in place a sustainable management and maintenance 
strategy, will be required. Without an authority taking on 
responsibility for maintenance and improvement of the surface 
water drainage network in areas where there is currently no 
adopted/maintained drainage, the issues experienced by residents 
– including overflows and backing up of the foul drainage network; 
frequent surface water flooding on the streets; and seawater 
flooding onto Brooklands at high tide; will continue and worsen 
with climate change.

12.2 Strategic approach

Addressing the issues with the surface water and foul drainage 
network will require partnership working with a number of 
statutory providers and bodies. It is recommended that adoption 
and improvement of the drainage network forms part of agreeing 
a wider approach to adoption and maintenance of the currently 
unadopted (and therefore unmaintained) streets. While the 
position of Essex Highways has historically been that they will not 

adopt the streets due to their non-compliance with contemporary 
design standards (too narrow), many narrow streets and paths in 
other locations are already maintained by Essex Highways. It is 
unlikely that Anglian Water will adopt a surface water drainage 
network which takes water flows from the street network, without 
there being a statutory body that has agreed to maintain the 
highway drains themselves.

It is therefore recommended that Essex Highways formally adopt 
all the streets which remain unadopted. Adoption of streets is 
usually subject to a payment of a commuted sum to the adopting 
authority, and this will need to be negotiated and funding agreed.

The surface water drainage network will also require investment 
in its improvement as the network is not designed to accommodate 
residential surface water flows and below ground drains may not 
be sufficient to take those flows, even at greenfield runoff rates. 
It is unlikely that any statutory undertaker will agree to adopt 
and maintain the surface water drainage network without these 
improvements having been made, and usually a commuted sum 
is also required for adoption of currently unadopted assets. The 
amount of investment required is not known and would need a 
more detailed study to be undertaken.

Funding could be sought for the improvement work as part of 
wider regeneration plans for Jaywick Sands, on condition that 
an appropriate authority (which may most appropriately be the 
Lead Local Flood Authority with the wider national changes to 
the adoption regime for sustainable drainage systems) would then 
adopt and maintain the network going forward.

The Environment Agency’s responsibilities will also need to be 
clarified, both in relation to drainage through the sea wall and as 
the authority responsible for the main rivers network (ditches) that 
form part of the surface water network. It is also recommended 
that TDC’s and the Environment Agency’s asset maintenance 
responsibilities with regard to watercourses within or adjacent to 
TDC owned land is clarified and any discrepancies or oversights 
are resolved as part of ongoing liaison with the Environment 
Agency.

12.3 Delivery

Works to improve the network up to current standards, and to 

make it resilient to future increased stormwater flows as a result 
of climate change, will be costly and disruptive and will require 
phasing. Commuted sums or a funding agreement for ongoing 
maintenance will also need to be established.

The scale of funding required cannot be established without 
further engagement with statutory undertakers, including Anglian 
Water and the Environment Agency, and more detailed technical 
studies. Funding should be sought to progress this technical work 
as a priority.

P
age 96



Page 67

Jaywick Sands Place Plan: Final Report

September 2023 HAT Projects

Community engagement and stewardship

13. Community engagement and stewardship

Achieving the objectives of the Place Plan will require sustained 
and meaningful involvement of existing residents and businesses 
within the regeneration area. The history of community 
engagement in Jaywick Sands is mixed and has been complicated 
by the wide range of local community organisations that have 
developed over time with differing priorities and perspectives. 
Residents in Jaywick Sands also come from a range of backgrounds 
and include relatively new residents as well as some who have lived 
in the community for a long time. Jaywick Sands is not a parished 
area so has no elected parish councillors or formal community 
governance.

Community engagement requires a sustained and consistent 
approach over time which builds trust. Engagement should take 
place at all levels – from doorstep conversations with residents 
through to joint working with community organisations, formal 
consultations, regular online and offline communications, drop-in 
sessions, workshops and other in-person activity. The Place Plan 
objectives address complex and interconnected issues which are 
challenging, often emotive, and link local and global concerns. 
Engaging the community with these questions and ensuring that 
residents have enough information to make informed decisions, is 
resource-intensive but vital – as the Council has stated within the 
Local Plan, only with the support of the local community will any 
proposals for change be deliverable.

A community governance and stewardship model should be 
developed which has legitimacy through involving a representative 
range of community members with a rotating and refreshed 
membership over time. The right model will need to be developed 
with the local community and could take the form of an elected 
parish or town council, a residents association with defined 
status and remit, or another structure which also enables local 
businesses and existing community organisations to have a defined 
role. Developing this model will take time and to assist with this, 
a funded programme of capacity building for local community 
leaders should be considered. 

In the interim, a statement of community involvement should be 
developed which sets out how Tendring District Council, as the 

regeneration lead for Jaywick Sands, will work with the community 
until such time as a longer-term governance model is agreed. This 
should set out a clear process and expectations for how decisions 
will be made and communicated, with and on behalf of the 
community. It is also recommended that a dedicated community 
liaison officer responsible for local engagement in Jaywick Sands, 
should be provided until an agreed milestone in the delivery of the 
Place Plan.

P
age 97



Page 68

Jaywick Sands Place Plan: Final Report

September 2023 HAT Projects

Community engagement and stewardship

14. Delivery and action plan

Delivering the Place Plan vision will require coordinated work by a 
range of partners and with the full involvement of the community. 
It must be emphasized that while the Place Plan sets out a vision 
and an accompanying framework for guiding change in Jaywick 
Sands, achieving this will require substantial investment and is 
currently unfunded. Delivering the strategy set out in the Place 
Plan in full may, subject to decisions around funding and phasing, 
require a 20 year timeframe.

Expanding on the high level delivery comments within section 
3.4, this section of the report outlines potential timescales and 
recommended next actions for each element of the Place Plan. 
It should be emphasised that this is subject to the outcome from 
public consultation, further feedback from statutory authorities 
and the decision-making processes of the Council as the 
regeneration lead.

14.1 Flood defences and seafront public realm

This element of the Place Plan is both fundamental to achieving the 
wider regeneration objectives and the most costly and challenging 
aspect of the Plan to deliver. Securing protection against sea 
level rise is a precondition for the sustainability of Jaywick Sands 
as a community. The timescales for the delivery of the seafront 
framework will affect the wider regeneration benefits resulting 
and will impact on the confidence of market-led investment into 
Jaywick Sands. Until the long-term future of the settlement is felt 
to be secure in terms of flood defence, investment will be limited 
and short-term.

The delivery of the preferred option for upgraded flood defences, 
which integrates this with a significant amount of new public 
realm, improved accessibility to the beach and new facilities, will 
require a very substantial total funding commitment in the region 
of £108m at 2023 values (further detail in appendix A). If delivery 
is planned for after 2033, when national Flood Defence Grant in 
Aid (FDGiA) benefits can be drawn down to part-fund the scheme, 
the partnership funding required may be in the region of £84m at 
2023 values. Drawdown of these benefits after 2033 assumes no 
change to the national framework for assessing and funding tidal 

flood defences but this cannot be guaranteed within the context of 
evolving climate-related policy and pressures on public funding.

If the nationally preferred option for flood defences alone, with 
no additional public realm or seafront amenities, were to be 
implemented in accordance with the Environment Agency’s recent 
report, this would require partnership funding in the region of 
£20m (2023 values). Delivery would be undertaken in phases with 
the first phase in 2023 and the second planned for around 2058. 
It should be emphasised that this also assumes no change to the 
national framework for assessing and funding tidal flood defences.

Next steps for this element of the Place Plan should include:
• Further technical studies to develop the design approach, in 

consultation with the Environment Agency, and to provide 
additional basis for cost estimates

• Impact assessments including economic impact appraisal to 
evaluate benefit-cost ratio for the preferred option

• Exploration of partnership funding options

Some elements of the seafront strategy are suitable for ‘quick 
wins’ should funding be available, and these would secure more 
immediate benefits to the community. These include:

• Implement pilot scheme converting Brooklands to a one-
way system and introducing footway segregated from the 
carriageway

• Delivery of the beach boardwalk connected to existing ramped 
access points to the beach.

14.2 Improvements to residential areas

Achieving the reuse of vacant and derelict plots will require 
initial investment in plot acquisition and development. Due to the 
poor viability of market housing development in Jaywick Sands, 
the development model will either require full funding through 
the Council or through a potential sale and leaseback or rental 
guarantee arrangement with an institutional investor through the 
underlying increase in value of the properties over time, as values 
rise in Jaywick Sands due to the wider regeneration programme, 
accrues to the Council.

While values are currently net negative for developing new homes 
in Jaywick Sands, this will change when long-term flood defences 
are secured and blight and deprivation addressed. It is therefore 
in the interests of the Council to maintain an underlying interest 
in the capital value of new homes over the long term. It would 
therefore be preferable for new homes developed through the 
strategy to be rented at either affordable rents or market rents.

Development of new homes on vacant plots will be most effectively 
achieved using a pattern book of house types developed specifically 
for Jaywick Sands and potentially utilising off-site prefabricated 
construction. This would reduce construction costs, work with the 
limited site access and working areas available, and achieve a high 
standard of construction with regard to flood resilience and energy 
efficiency. Self- and custom-build homes could also be an option for 
later tranches of development, when values have risen to make this 
viable while providing a return on the initial investment into site 
acquisition and infrastructure.

At present day values, the purchase and development of vacant and 
derelict plots in line with the recommended strategy may require 
investment of between £8m-£10m. Further detail can be found in 
Appendix A.

Next steps for this element of the Place Plan should include:
• Establish funding requirement for the acquisition of vacant and 

derelict plots through market valuation
• Develop outline pattern book designs for plot redevelopment 

and market test to establish development costs
• Secure funding for acquisition and development of vacant and 

derelict plots 
• Explore potential funding options to incentivise owner-

occupiers to improve flood resilience of their properties
• Explore relocation options in partnership with developments in 

the wider district, including Homes England at Hartley Gardens.

In addition the following ‘quick win’ can be delivered in the short 
term:

• Develop technical guidance for property owners for assessing 
the flood resilience of their properties, implementing 

P
age 98



Page 69

Jaywick Sands Place Plan: Final Report

September 2023 HAT Projects

Community engagement and stewardship

improvements and preparing flood safety plans

14.3 Creating space for business, tourism and local 
services

This element of the Place Plan primarily comprises a land use and 
safeguarding framework rather than direct delivery of physical 
regeneration projects. The primary delivery mechanism will 
therefore be through the planning process, however addressing 
deficits in local services and social infrastructure requires further 
joint working with partners, and may require capital funding 
depending on the agreed approach. Further development of 
commercial space on TDC-owned sites should also be scoped. 

High level costs have not been developed for the potential capital 
projects which may emerge from these next steps, as this will be 
dependent on the outcomes from the further feasibility and scoping 
studies.

Next steps for this element of the Place Plan should include:
•  Establish a working group with local healthcare providers 

to scope potential models for local service delivery to meet 
identified needs

•  Further feasibility studies to establish demand for additional 
Council-led business space development. It is recommended 
that this be targeted at specific sectors and could include 
provision of services such as early years childcare by private 
sector providers.

• Shopfront improvement grants programme targeted at existing 
commercial properties

14.4 Public open spaces

Delivery of the identified public open space improvements 
can be achieved as a series of standalone projects and could be 
considered as potential 'quick wins' as they do not have significant 
dependencies with other aspects of the Place Plan framework. 
Subject to funding the identified improvements could be delivered 
within a 2-3 year timeframe.

Delivery and funding partners could include community groups, 
Active Essex/Essex County Council, as well as other grant funding 
schemes aimed at improving health and wellbeing, biodiversity, 
climate resilience or sustainable drainage.

To deliver all the identified public open space improvements would 
require capital funding in the order of £3-3.5m at 2023 costs. 
Further information and breakdowns can be found in Appendix A.

Next steps for this element of the Place Plan should include:
• Further project development including design and feasibility 

studies to establish more detailed costs and delivery timescales
• Funding sources for implementation should then be sought and 

secured.

14.5 Accessibility and connectivity

Accessibility and connectivity improvements identified as part of 
this element of the Place Plan are easily achievable and have few 
dependencies on other parts of the strategy.

They can therefore be seen as 'quick wins' that can be brought 
forward as soon as funding becomes available and in order to 
take advantage of potential funding sources, the projects should 
be further scoped with additional technical design and feasibility 
work to ensure a robust basis for funding bids. Subject to funding 
the new route across Tudor Fields could be delivered within a 3 
year timeframe and other improvements could be achieved more 
quickly.

High level costs have been developed which suggest that 
implementation of the full suite of improvements identified may 
require funding of £5-£5.5m (2023 values).

Next steps for this element of the Place Plan should include:
• Secure funding for further project development including design 

and feasibility studies to establish more detailed costs and 
delivery timescales

• Funding sources for implementation should then be sought and 
secured.

14.6 Drainage infrastructure

Addressing the issues with the surface water and foul drainage 
network will require partnership working with a number of 
statutory providers and bodies. Once an agreed approach has 
been established, the physical works to improve the network up 
to current standards, and to make it resilient to future increased 
stormwater flows as a result of climate change, will be costly 
and disruptive and will require phasing. Commuted sums or a 
funding agreement for ongoing maintenance will also need to be 
established.

The scale of funding required cannot be established without 
further engagement with statutory undertakers, including Anglian 
Water and the Environment Agency, and more detailed technical 
studies.

Next steps for this element of the Place Plan should include:
• Establish working group with Anglian Water, Essex Highways/

Essex County Council and the Environment Agency to develop 
an agreed approach and responsibilities matrix

• Undertake technical studies to establish the physical upgrades 
required and associated costs

• Secure funding for implementation and future maintenance

14.7 Community engagement / stewardship

This aspect of the Place Plan is fundamental to the delivery of the 
wider objectives and must be implemented alongside the next steps 
for the other parts of the strategy. Delivery should be undertaken 
by the Council through funding a dedicated community liaison 
officer.

Next steps for this element of the Place Plan should include:
• Develop interim statement of community involvement and 

appoint community liaison officer
• Capacity building for community leaders as a first step towards 

development of longer term governance / stewardship model.

P
age 99



Page 70

Jaywick Sands Place Plan: Final Report

September 2023 HAT Projects

Appendices

P
age 100



Page 71

Jaywick Sands Place Plan: Final Report

September 2023 HAT Projects

Appendix A

Appendix A: High level delivery costs

A1. Flood defences and seafront public realm 
framework

The following costs are high level estimates at 2022/2023 costs 
and with an approximately 60% optimism bias applied to account 
for the early stage of development and to cover currently unpriced 
risk factors. Risk factors in delivering the seafront framework will 
include:

• Mitigation costs with regard to parts of the beach being 
designated a geological SSSI and a Local Wildlife Site

• Impact of sea level rise on wider beach profile

Item Outline 
cost (2023

Baseline cost of flood defences (nationally 
preferred option prepared and costed by the 
Environment Agency)

£50.3m

Additional cost of c. 1km length of new sea wall 
(c.1km of new sea wall is already costed into 
the nationally preferred option) - EA informal 
estimate

£25m

Additional rock groyne and beach nourishment 
(cost at upper end of EA informal estimate)

£10m

Promenade and associated public realm works, 
seafront amenities, street lighting (construction 
cost)

£13.6m

Reconfiguration of Brooklands road to include 
footways and cycle way along with resurfacing of 
carriageway (construction cost)

£2.4m

Boardwalk construction costs £2.6m

Project costs, fees and the like - budget estimate £3.7m

Total (Present Day Value, 2022/23) £107.6m

Assuming the FDGiA benefits available in 2033 were used to part-
fund the strategy, these may comprise approximately £24m so the 
additional partnership funding required would be approximately 
£84m at present day values.

Consideration of future maintenance costs will also be required 
as the Environment Agency's remit is for maintenance of defence 
assets only and would not extend to the maintenance of the wider 
public realm.

A2. Improving residential areas

The following costs are based on high level assumptions regarding 
the purchase and redevelopment of currently vacant and derelict 
plots along with those plots already in the TDC portfolio.

Item Outline 
cost (2023

 
 

£3m

 £5m

 £0.3m

 £1.7m

Total (Present Day Value, 2022/23) £10m

A3. Creating space for business, tourism and local 
services

High level costs have not been developed for any potential further 
Council-led commercial development as further feasibility and 
demand studies will need to be undertaken.

A4. Public open spaces

Delivery of the identified public open space improvements 
can be achieved as a series of standalone projects and could be 
considered as potential 'quick wins' as they do not have significant 
dependencies on other aspects of the Place Plan framework. 
Initial high level budget estimates have been prepared and are 

summarised below. Funding could be sought through active 
lifestyles initiatives, grant funding and other sources.

Open space Outline cost (2023

1 Crossways Park £1.1m

2 Garden Road £1m

3 St Christopher's £0.25m

4 Fern Way £0.2m

5 Sea Crescent £0.1m

6 Brooklands Gardens £0.4m

7 Lotus Way £0.2m

Total (Present Day Value, 2023) £3.25m

A5. Accessibility and connectivity

Delivery of the identified improvements can be achieved as a series 
of standalone projects and could be considered as potential 'quick 
wins' as they do not have significant dependencies on other aspects 
of the Place Plan framework. Initial high level budget estimates 
have been prepared and are summarised below. Funding could be 
sought through active lifestyles initiatives, grant funding and other 
sources.

Project Outline cost (2023)

1 New access/evacuation and walking 
route

£2.5m

2 Footpath improvements £2m

3 Alleyway improvements £0.5m

4 Bus stop improvements £0.2m

Total (Present Day Value, 2023) £5.2m

A6. Drainage infrastructure

The scale of funding required cannot be established without 
further engagement with statutory providers including Anglian 
Water and the Environment Agency.

P
age 101



Page 72

Jaywick Sands Place Plan: Final Report

September 2023 HAT Projects

Appendix B

Appendix B: Application of the Sequential and the Exception Tests
The National Planning Policy Framework (paragraph 159) states 
that: 
“Inappropriate development in areas at risk of flooding should be 
avoided by directing development away from areas at highest risk 
(whether existing or future). Where development is necessary in 
such areas, the development should be made safe for its lifetime 
without increasing flood risk elsewhere.”

The sequential test is a method to test if a suitable alternative 
location for the development is available. The exception test is 
a method to test if a proposal will provide wider sustainability 
benefits to the community that outweigh the flood risk; and be 
safe for its lifetime taking account of the vulnerability of its users, 
without increasing flood risk elsewhere, and, where possible, will 
reduce flood risk overall.

Both tests may need to be passed in order for the proposal to 
comply with the NPPF. The Government's Planning Practice 
Guidance (PPG) sets out the process for applying the sequential 
and exception tests, in order to comply with the National Planning 
Policy Framework position. The project team have undertaken 
extensive engagement with the Environment Agency to develop a 
shared approach to designing for flood resilience and enabling the 
viable replacement of existing substandard homes with more flood 
resilient dwellings. This has resulted in an agreed approach to the 
application of the sequential and exception test in Jaywick Sands 
which is described below.

While the standard of protection that may be provided by flood 
defence upgrades in the future is not known, development that 
comes forward in the mean time must assume no upgrades will be 
delivered. This results in considerable cost and viability issues for 
new-build development.

B1. Applying the sequential test and the first part of the 
exception test

Jaywick Sands is identified as a Priority Area for Regeneration 
under Policy PP14 of the adopted Tendring Local Plan. Policy 
PP14 states that Priority Areas for Regeneration will be a focus 
for investment in social, economic and physical infrastructure 
and initiatives to improve vitality, environmental quality, social 

inclusion, economic prospects, education, health, community 
safety, accessibility and green infrastructure, and that the Council 
will support proposals for new development which are consistent 
with achieving its regeneration aims. 

Jaywick Sands has a high proportion of poor quality homes which 
are also at risk of flooding, now and in the future. Actual flood risk 
today includes flood depths of 500mm (0.5m) for some homes 
along the seafront in the design (0.5% AEP) flood event, and rises 
to depths of 3m and above over the next 100 years. Therefore, 
improving the safety of residents in a flood event, and the flood 
resistance and resilience of homes, is an important part of meeting 
the aims of Policy PP14.

All of the Priority Area for Regeneration, as shown on the adopted 
Policies Map, falls within Flood Zone 3. For proposals which can 
demonstrate that they meet the regeneration aims of PP14, sites 
outside the identified policy area boundary are unlikely to provide 
reasonable alternatives, so the sequential search area would 
reasonably be set as the boundary of the policy area. Although the 
whole of this area is in Flood Zone 3, some areas within Jaywick are 
at greater risk due to increased depths, velocities and other factors. 
The sequential approach should be applied to consider whether 
there are suitable lower risk alternative sites within the policy 
area. This reflects the approach to the sequential test identified 
in Diagram 2 in paras 020 and 021 of the Flood Risk and Coastal 
Change section of the PPG as well as the advice given in para 033. 
If the sequential test was passed, the first part of the Exception 
Test would also be passed as wider sustainability benefits would be 
demonstrated.

However, for development proposals which would not be 
consistent with achieving the regeneration aims of PP 14, the 
sequential search area may need to be set wider and applicants 
will need to demonstrate wider sustainability benefits to the 
community which outweigh flood risk. In practice, if proposals 
are not consistent with achieving the regeneration aims of PP14, 
demonstrating these sustainability benefits, and demonstrating 
that there are no available sites at lower flood risk, may be 
challenging.

B2. Applying the second part of the exception test

In order to satisfy the second part of the Exception Test, applicants 

must provide evidence to show that the proposed development 
would be safe and that any residual flood risk can be overcome to 
the satisfaction of the local planning authority, taking account of 
any advice from the Environment Agency.

Jaywick Sands benefits from flood defences but there is a present 
day flood risk for a 0.5% AEP event in seafront areas, with 
inundation depths of up to 0.5m. The Shoreline Management 
Plan has a ‘Hold the Line’ policy position for the coastal defences 
protecting Jaywick Sands, which states that an appropriate 
flood defence for the community will be maintained into the 
future, although the standard of protection is not defined. This 
is an unfunded aspiration for the future flood management of 
the frontage, and its delivery will require continued partnership 
working, and significant partnership funding. While uncertainties 
regarding funding and viability exist, it is important that any new 
development is designed to be both resilient to flooding (should 
there be any delay to the delivery of improved coastal flood 
defences) as well as being safe for the future occupants.

To meet the NPPF requirement for 'safe development', the 
Environment Agency typically look to ensure that internal 
habitable space for ‘more vulnerable’ development (which includes 
residential uses) should have floor levels set above the design flood 
level, plus the appropriate ‘freeboard’ allowance.  This is to ensure 
that future residents are not placed in danger from flood hazards 
and the development is appropriately flood resistant and resilient 
in the event of a flood (reflecting aims of para 167 of the NPPF). 
The design flood level for tidal flooding is typically the level of 
inundation for an 0.5% AEP event plus an allowance for climate 
change over the lifetime of the property (which for residential is 
typically set at 100 years). It may be considered acceptable for 
‘more vulnerable’ development types, which include residential 
development, to flood on the ground floor in a residual risk 
scenario, provided there is refuge above the flood level, and the 
development is protected by flood defences for the lifetime of the 
development.

It is the preferred approach of TDC and the Environment 
Agency for new properties not to flood internally in a design 
flood event, given that it may be many years before the defences 
are renewed and raised.  However, it is recognised that, due to 
the unusual plot pattern and land ownership in Jaywick Sands, 
that replacing a single dwelling on-plot is highly challenging to 

P
age 102



Page 73

Jaywick Sands Place Plan: Final Report

September 2023 HAT Projects

Appendix B

achieve, without detrimental impacts on future residents and 
neighbouring occupiers, as demonstrated in the  Jaywick Sands 
Design Guide SPD. In effect this means that replacing existing 
individual dwellings on the smallest plots, if required to have all 
habitable space above the design flood level, would not be possible 
without consolidating multiple plots into a single property holding. 
This could act as a barrier to improving housing quality and flood 
resilience in Jaywick Sands and would therefore work against 
the aims of Policy PP14 of the Tendring Local Plan, and NPPF 
paragraphs 152, 153 and 161c.

The Environment Agency have indicated that a holding objection 
will not be raised for proposals in the areas of Jaywick Sands 
which lie within Flood Zone 3, which are for on-plot replacement 
dwellings and involve no net increase in bedspaces, if the following 
criteria are met in full by the applicant:

• Floor levels for habitable space must be higher than the floor 
levels of the property being replaced;

• Floor levels for habitable space should be set, if possible, above 
the present day 0.5% AEP flood level. If this is not possible 
without contravening the other design guidance within the 
SPD regarding parking, internal and external space standards, 
amenity, daylight, sunlight and overlooking, floor levels should 
be set so that internal flooding in a 0.5% AEP present day event 
would be no greater than 0.3m (the FD2320 matrix threshold 
for 'danger to some').

• Flood resistant and/or flood resilient construction measures 

(as appropriate) are used to minimise damage to the property 
in a flood event, and to allow the re-occupancy of the building 
quickly;

• A secure and accessible area of refuge is provided above the 
flood level of a 0.1% AEP event, plus the appropriate climate 
change allowance and freeboard;

• Buildings and their foundations are designed to withstand the 
hydrostatic and hydrodynamic pressures of flood water so that 
they will remain standing during flood conditions when refuge 
is relied on.

• An escape window or hatch is provided from the refuge level 
to facilitate communication with neighbours and emergency 
response authorities and to provide options for rescue should 
this become necessary.

A full site-specific flood risk assessment will be required for all 
applications and this must cover the approach to other related 
matters, including but not limited to flood warning and evacuation, 
access and egress, and resident awareness.

For proposals which would result in a net increase in the number 
of bedspaces on the site, and therefore increase the number of 
people living within Flood Zone 3, the Environment Agency will 
raise a holding objection unless the normal requirements for 'safe 
development' are followed in full and all habitable floorspace is 
raised above the design flood level, with the appropriate climate 
change and freeboard allowances.  

It is important to note that while the Environment Agency 
provides comment, which can include a holding objection, to 
proposals, it is for the Local Planning Authority to weigh the 
planning balance and reach a decision on whether the response 
to flood risk within the design represents a safe and appropriate 
response to site specific circumstances, and therefore the second 
part of the exception test will be passed.

B3. Impact of flood risk on values and viability

A further consideration is the insurability and the mortgageability 
of properties in Jaywick Sands. Currently the flood risk is not a 
factor for insurance (due to Flood Re) or mortgage providers, due 
to the low values and the relatively good flood protection in the 
present day. The Place Plan team are engaging with Flood Re to 
understand how the industry understanding of flood risk may 
evolve as it is critical for any successful regeneration, that new 
homes and commercial premises created are mortgageable and 
insurable in the long term, and hold value for potential purchasers.

The Association of British Insurers (ABI) advises no new 
development in areas that will flood in a 1% AEP for 100yrs 
climate change scenario - which is different from Environment 
Agency advice - and also use different commercial available 
modelling tools to inform their assessment of flood risk.

Fig. B1. Diagram showing sequential test approach

Exception Test Part 1 Exception Test Part 2Sequential Test

Does the proposal 
meet the 

regeneration aims of 
PP14?

Y

N

Is it reasonable to 
include areas outside
Flood Zone 3 within 

the sequential search
area?

Y

N

Are there 
suitable sites 
outside Flood 

Zone 3?

Y

N

Sequential test 
failed

Does the proposal provide 
wider sustainability benefits

which outweigh flood risk 
(even though it does not 

meet the regeneration aims
of PP 14)?

Sequential test 
passed

Does the proposal 
result in a net 

increase in 
bedspaces within the

application site 
boundary?

N

Y

Y

N

Part 1 of Exception 
Test passed

Part 1 of Exception 
Test failed

Will internal flooding 
in a present day 0.5%
AEP event be deeper 

than 0.3m?

N

Y

No holding 
objection from 

Holding objection from 
Environment Agency 

triggered

Is all habitable space
above the 0.5% AEP 
flood level, including 

an allowance for 
climate change plus 

freeboard?

Y

N
Does the LPA 

consider that the 
development will 

be safe and will not 
increase flood risk 

elsewhere?

Y

Part 2 of Exception 
Test passed

Part 2 of Exception 
Test failed

N

Are there suitable 
alternative sites which

have lower flood 
depths, velocities and 

therefore risk?

N

Are there suitable 
alternative sites which

have lower flood 
depths, velocities and 

therefore risk?

Y

N

Is the proposed floor 
level of habitable 
space above the 

existing floor level of 
the property being 

replaced?

Y

N

Are all other 
requirements for 

betterment, 
including safe 

refuge, included in
the design?

Y

Sequential test 
passed

P
age 103



Page 74

Jaywick Sands Place Plan: Final Report

September 2023 HAT Projects

Appendix C

Appendix C: Assessment of options for flood defences

West Clacton to Jaywick Coastal Defences Study 
 

  

ENV0001833C-JAC-ZZ-00-RP-C-0001 2 

 

The majority of DU1 is covered by another project currently developing a capital scheme and so is not 
considered further in this study. That scheme is improving the 330 m long Cockett Wick sea wall to provide a 
0.5% AEP SoP. It involves wall raising and construction of a new revetment along its length. The design allows 
for further raising of the wall and revetment in year 50. The Cockett Wick scheme uses benefits for this 
frontage that extend into DU2 and DU3 but only for the next 15 years when they can again be claimed for 
future schemes in the area.  

The study area coastline is low-lying and was severely flooded in 1953. To reduce flood risk, various coastal 
defences have been constructed over the years, consisting of seawalls, revetments, rock armour, rock groynes, 
fishtail groynes, offshore breakwaters, and flood gates. The beach forms a key part of the defence system and 
has been recharged over the years. The coastal defences help protect the residential properties and 
community, commercial properties (including the Martello Beach Holiday Park), and Jaywick Martello Tower 
(a Scheduled Monument) within Jaywick and West Clacton from tidal flooding. Despite previous defence 
improvements, in December 2013 and January 2017 severe tidal flood risk warnings resulted in evacuation 
of all residents of Jaywick causing enormous disruption.  

 

Figure 1 – West Clacton to Jaywick frontage.  

C1. The need for flood defence improvements

The current flood defences along the seafront of Jaywick Sands 
provide less protection to the community every year, due to 
sea level rise as a result of climate change. A 0.5% AEP (annual 
Exceedance Probability, meaning the chance in any given year of 
defences being overtopped) is the standard of protection that is 
nationally the benchmark for tidal flood defences, but currently 
much of the frontage already offers a lower standard of protection. 
In addition, the existing defences are ageing and a condition survey 
by the Environment Agency has established that the residual life 
of the defences along Brooklands, will last only until around 2038. 
Beyond this date, the risk of a failure or breach of the sea wall 
increases, which would lead to widespread flooding. 

The Environment Agency recently completed a comprehensive 
study into the West Clacton and Jaywick Sands defences. The 
study area is around 3.5 km long and is shown in Figure C1. The 
frontage covers the coastline from the western end of the Cockett 
Wick sea wall to the eastern boundary at West Clacton town. It is 
divided into five Defence Units (DU1-5):

• Defence Unit 1: Cockett Wick
• Defence Unit 2: Brooklands
• Defence Unit 3: Brooklands to the Close
• Defence Unit 4: The Golf Course Frontage
• Defence Unit 5: West Clacton

The majority of DU1 is covered by another project currently 
developing a capital scheme and so is not considered further in 
this study. That scheme is improving the 330 m long Cockett Wick 
sea wall to provide a 0.5% AEP standard of protection (SoP). It 
involves wall raising and construction of a new revetment along 
its length. The design allows for further raising of the wall and 
revetment in year 50. The Cockett Wick scheme uses benefits for 
this frontage that extend into DU2 and DU3 but only for the next 
15 years when they can again be claimed for future schemes in the 
area.

The primary concern on this stretch of coast would be failure and 
subsequent breach of a seawall. This would lead to widespread 
flooding in the area as much of it is below mean high water spring 
tide level. Table 2 shows the year in which this is expected to occur 
for each DU.

West Clacton to Jaywick Coastal Defences Study 
 

  

ENV0001833C-JAC-ZZ-00-RP-C-0001 4 

 

Table 1 – Standard of Protection provided by existing defences against wave overtopping 

 DU2 DU3 DU4 DU5 

YYeeaarr  00  ((22002222))  0.5% AEP 1% AEP 1% AEP 3.3% AEP 

YYeeaarr  5500  ((22007722))  2% AEP 5% AEP 5% AEP 10% AEP 

YYeeaarr  110000  ((22112222))  33.3% AEP 100% AEP 100% AEP >100% AEP 

2.4 Coastal processes 
A review of coastal processes was undertaken for the study frontage and a technical report can be found in 
Appendix A. The review included an assessment of beach changes between 2000 and 2020 using data from 
the regional coastal monitoring programme (coastalmonitoring.org). These changes were placed in context 
of the construction of beach control structures (groynes and breakwaters) and beach recharge schemes 
between 1986 and 2008.  

The assessment found a slight trend of beach build up, even outside recharge schemes. However, there are 
still high annual variations, likely caused by storm events. Although the beach appears to be generally stable 
over the long-term, continued monitoring and analysis of beach levels was recommended. It was noted that 
further modifications to or additional beach control structures/beach recharge may be required in future due 
to sea level rise as this will increase nearshore water depths and wave heights possibly resulting in increased 
beach erosion. When beach control structures deteriorate or become damaged by storms, the retained 
beaches will begin to erode and could be lost if major damage is not repaired. Loss of the beach control 
structures and retained beaches would lead to rapid deterioration of the seawall and significantly increase the 
risk of flooding.  

2.5 Asset condition assessment 
In August 2018 Mott MacDonald completed a visual walkover survey of the sea defences along the WC2J 
frontage. In their report (see Appendix D) they identified and assessed the condition of the following types of 
sea defences: seawalls; flood gates; concrete and grouted stone revetments; rock armour; fish tail groynes; 
and offshore breakwaters. See examples of each along the frontage in the figures below. The report 
presented residual life assessments of each of the sea defence structures, i.e., the length of time until the 
defences will no longer perform their function adequately due to gradual deterioration. The Environment 
Agency has confirmed that there have been no further significant repairs or major storm damage to the 
defences since that would amend the results. The condition assessment was therefore used by Jacobs to 
identify when interventions may be required over the next 100 years.  

The primary concern on this stretch of coast would be failure and subsequent breach of a seawall. This would 
lead to widespread flooding in the area as much of it is below mean high water spring tide level. Table 2 
shows the year in which this is expected to occur for each DU.  

Table 2 – Residual life of seawalls at each DU i.e., the year that breach risk increases. 

DU2 DU3 DU4 DU5 

Year 16 (2038) Year 76 (2098) Year 14 (2036) Year 62 (2084) 

 

 

 

West Clacton to Jaywick Coastal Defences Study 
 

  

ENV0001833C-JAC-ZZ-00-RP-C-0001 4 

 

Table 1 – Standard of Protection provided by existing defences against wave overtopping 

 DU2 DU3 DU4 DU5 

YYeeaarr  00  ((22002222))  0.5% AEP 1% AEP 1% AEP 3.3% AEP 

YYeeaarr  5500  ((22007722))  2% AEP 5% AEP 5% AEP 10% AEP 

YYeeaarr  110000  ((22112222))  33.3% AEP 100% AEP 100% AEP >100% AEP 

2.4 Coastal processes 
A review of coastal processes was undertaken for the study frontage and a technical report can be found in 
Appendix A. The review included an assessment of beach changes between 2000 and 2020 using data from 
the regional coastal monitoring programme (coastalmonitoring.org). These changes were placed in context 
of the construction of beach control structures (groynes and breakwaters) and beach recharge schemes 
between 1986 and 2008.  

The assessment found a slight trend of beach build up, even outside recharge schemes. However, there are 
still high annual variations, likely caused by storm events. Although the beach appears to be generally stable 
over the long-term, continued monitoring and analysis of beach levels was recommended. It was noted that 
further modifications to or additional beach control structures/beach recharge may be required in future due 
to sea level rise as this will increase nearshore water depths and wave heights possibly resulting in increased 
beach erosion. When beach control structures deteriorate or become damaged by storms, the retained 
beaches will begin to erode and could be lost if major damage is not repaired. Loss of the beach control 
structures and retained beaches would lead to rapid deterioration of the seawall and significantly increase the 
risk of flooding.  

2.5 Asset condition assessment 
In August 2018 Mott MacDonald completed a visual walkover survey of the sea defences along the WC2J 
frontage. In their report (see Appendix D) they identified and assessed the condition of the following types of 
sea defences: seawalls; flood gates; concrete and grouted stone revetments; rock armour; fish tail groynes; 
and offshore breakwaters. See examples of each along the frontage in the figures below. The report 
presented residual life assessments of each of the sea defence structures, i.e., the length of time until the 
defences will no longer perform their function adequately due to gradual deterioration. The Environment 
Agency has confirmed that there have been no further significant repairs or major storm damage to the 
defences since that would amend the results. The condition assessment was therefore used by Jacobs to 
identify when interventions may be required over the next 100 years.  

The primary concern on this stretch of coast would be failure and subsequent breach of a seawall. This would 
lead to widespread flooding in the area as much of it is below mean high water spring tide level. Table 2 
shows the year in which this is expected to occur for each DU.  

Table 2 – Residual life of seawalls at each DU i.e., the year that breach risk increases. 

DU2 DU3 DU4 DU5 

Year 16 (2038) Year 76 (2098) Year 14 (2036) Year 62 (2084) 

 

 

 

Fig. C1. Map of West Clacton and Jaywick Sands Defensive Units, as designated by the Environment Agency.

P
age 104



Page 75

Jaywick Sands Place Plan: Final Report

September 2023 HAT Projects

Appendix C

West Clacton to Jaywick Coastal Defences Study 
 

  

ENV0001833C-JAC-ZZ-00-RP-C-0001 6 

 

2.6 Environmental considerations 
The nearshore area fronting DU1 and DU2 forms part of the Essex Estuaries Special Area of Conservation 
(SAC) as designated under the Conservation of Habitats and Species Regulations 2017 (as amended).  

The Blackwater, Crouch, Roach and Colne Estuaries Marine Conservation Zone is also located immediately 
offshore along the whole frontage as designated under the Marine and Coastal Access Act (2009). The 
Clacton Cliffs and Foreshore are geological features of international importance, extending from the land into 
the subtidal area. The area has been identified as one of the best Ice Age sites in Britain and contains an 
abundance of molluscan and mammalian fossil remains.  

Clacton Cliffs and Foreshore is a designated SSSI (Site of Special Scientific Interest) split over three sites, all 
of which are in favourable condition. The SSSI is designated for one of the most important Pleistocene 
interglacial deposits in Britain.  

There are four Scheduled Monuments in the tidal flood risk area that benefits from the sea defences. The 
first is Lion Point Decoy located around 500 m inland of DU1/2 and is an elongated decoy, constructed 
around 1860 for trapping pochard. There are also three Napoleonic Martello Towers along the shoreline. The 
one at the western end of the study area, sited just behind the Cockett Wick sea wall is the Jaywick Martello 
Tower and is an important recreational asset that houses a visitor centre and art gallery. 

The frontage is used by many for commuting and recreational activities such as dog walking. For defences to 
be effective, the seawalls must be a certain height. To avoid disrupting coastal views, it is important to keep 
future wall raising to a minimum and to investigation options that reduce the need for wall raising or mitigate 
its impacts e.g., footpath raising.  

 
Figure 8 – Designations map. Source: magic.defra.gov.uk/MagicMap.aspx 

 

 
Site of Special Scientific Interest 

 
Scheduled Monuments 

 
Special Area of Conservation 

 
Marine Conservation Zone 

 

The nearshore area fronting DU1 and DU2 forms part of the Essex 
Estuaries Special Area of Conservation (SAC) as designated under 
the Conservation of Habitats and Species Regulations 2017 (as 
amended).

The Blackwater, Crouch, Roach and Colne Estuaries Marine 
Conservation Zone is also located immediately offshore along 
the whole frontage as designated under the Marine and Coastal 
Access Act (2009). The Clacton Cliffs and Foreshore are geological 
features of international importance, extending from the land into 
the subtidal area. The area has been identified as one of the best Ice 
Age sites in Britain and contains an abundance of molluscan and 
mammalian fossil remains.

Clacton Cliffs and Foreshore is a designated SSSI (Site of Special 
Scientific Interest) split over three sites, all of which are in 
favourable condition. The SSSI is designated for one of the most 
important Pleistocene interglacial deposits in Britain.

There are four Scheduled Monuments in the tidal flood risk area 
that benefits from the sea defences. The first is Lion Point Decoy 
located around 500 m inland of DU1/2 and is an elongated decoy, 
constructed around 1860 for trapping pochard. There are also 
three Napoleonic Martello Towers along the shoreline. The one at 
the western end of the study area, sited just behind the Cockett 
Wick sea wall is the Jaywick Martello Tower and is an important 
recreational asset that houses a visitor centre and art gallery.

The frontage is used by many for commuting and recreational 
activities such as dog walking. For defences to be effective, the 
seawalls must be a certain height. To avoid disrupting coastal 
views, it is important to keep future wall raising to a minimum and 
to investigation options that reduce the need for wall raising or 
mitigate its impacts e.g., footpath raising.

Additional to the above constraints identified by the Environment 
Agency, the beach is also identified as a Local Wildlife Site within 
the Tendring Local Plan

C2. Site constraints affecting options for flood defences

Fig. C2. Maps of area designations. Source: DEFRA

Local Wildlife Sites

P
age 105



Page 76

Jaywick Sands Place Plan: Final Report

September 2023 HAT Projects

Appendix C

C3.  Current sea wall - advantages and disadvantages

The sea wall currently varies in height relative to streets and paths 
alongside it on the landward side. Along Brooklands the wall is 
between 1.5-1.9m high relative to the street while along the Village 
seafront it varies greatly, between 400mm and 1100mm high 
relative to the path that runs along the seafront. At the eastern 
end, between the Village and the Clacton Martello Tower, the sea 
wall is very low and can be stepped over with ease. 

There are 4no points of ramped vehicle access to the beach 
(controlled and permitted for Environment Agency/emergency 
access only) and a number of steps that cross the sea wall allowing 
for pedestrian access but only for people who can use steps. 
This means that access for disabled people and for people with 
pushchairs is very limited, as they can only access the beach using 

the vehicle ramps. Once on the beach itself it is difficult for these 
users to move across it without a beach suitable wheelchair or 
pushchair as there are no boardwalks or surfaced paths to the 
water’s edge and the beach itself is uneven with dunes, gravel and 
vegetation.

Ramped vehicle access point

Stepped access point

Fig. C3. Map of access points located along the current sea wall

P
age 106



Page 77

Jaywick Sands Place Plan: Final Report

September 2023 HAT Projects

Appendix C

C4. Accessibility and visibility of beach

Brooklands seafront - sea wall varies between approx. 1.5-1.9m above the road level. Village seafront - relatively low sea wall height.

Fig. C4. Map of access points located along the current sea wall, with photographs showing the visibility of the beach from the land side

P
age 107



Page 78

Jaywick Sands Place Plan: Final Report

September 2023 HAT Projects

Appendix C

C5. Width of beach

Distance from sea wall to high water mark - approx. 60m at narrowest point

Mean High Water (from OS mapping)

Mean Low Water (from OS mapping)

Mean High Water (from OS mapping)

Mean Low Water (from OS mapping)

Distance from sea wall to high water 
mark - approx. 25m at narrowest point

Brooklands (DU2) - 
narrowest point

Village (DU3) -  narrowest 
point

Fig. C5. Brooklands (DU2) - cross-section at narrowest point

Fig. C6. Village (DU3) - cross-section at narrowest point

Fig. C7. Map with key of cross-sections illustrated below.

The beach width varies greatly along the frontage due to the 
buildup of sand and gravel that has occurred since the rock 
groynes were constructed. These created a series of shallow bays 
and at some points the beach is nearly 100m wide as a result while 
at its narrowest, at the Village, it is around 35m wide at high tide. 

P
age 108



Page 79

Jaywick Sands Place Plan: Final Report

September 2023 HAT Projects

Appendix C

C6. Current typical section through the sea wall

Section through Brooklands (Defence Unit 2)
Top of wall currently varies between 4.93-5.38m AOD[1]

The level of the road is currently around 3.5m AOD (from 
topographic survey data) although it slopes downwards at 
the very east end to the Lotus Way roundabout which is at 
approx. 2.3m AOD.

For the purposes of this report and comparisons we 
have illustrated the road at 3.5m AOD (the level for the 
majority of the seafront) and the current top of the sea wall 
at 5.16m AOD (the average of the height variance along 
the wall). This means the top of wall is illustrated at 1.66m 
above road level.

Section through the Village (Defence Unit 3)

Top of wall currently varies between 4.78-5.48m AOD.

The level of the promenade also varies. A full topographic 
survey along the promenade is not available, but from a 
review of historic drawings of the sea wall improvements 
in the 1970s, and from  survey information provided 
as part of planning applications, the majority of the 
promenade level appears to be at around 4.35m AOD.

For the purposes of this report and comparisons we have 
illustrated the promenade at 4.35m AOD (the approximate 
level for the majority of the seafront)) and the current top 
of the sea wall at 5.13m AOD (the average of the height 
variance along the wall). This means the top of wall is 
illustrated at 0.78m above road level.

1 Email from Environment Agency, 11.07.2023

Top of wall - 1.5-1.9m above road level

Beach levels have now built up and are above 
road level in some places

Road does not meet highways standards 
and has no footway on either side. Width 
is not wide enough for two-way traffic 
and a footway.

Width from sea wall to 
property boundary is 
generally c.6m

Top of wall - 0.4-1.1m above road level

Width between sea wall 
and property boundary  
varies between c.2.3m 
and c.4.5m wide. 

Fig. C8. Current typical section through Brooklands 

Fig. C9. Current typical section through the Village 

AOD=Above Ordnance Datum

P
age 109



Page 80

Jaywick Sands Place Plan: Final Report

September 2023 HAT Projects

Appendix C

C7.1 Option A - Nationally preferred design option developed by the Environment Agency in line with Treasury and DEFRA guidance

Any flood defence option will have to include a combination of  
maintenance and replacement of existing defences or defence 
elements as required; wall raising; and beach recharge. This is to 
avoid failure and breach of the seawall by managing the risk of 
wave overtopping to within tolerable limits and reducing the risk 
that extreme tide levels exceed the wall crest. 

The Environment Agency has assessed a longlist of 22 options, 
and a shortlist of 5 options, covering baseline options (do nothing, 
do minimum, maintain existing), and two other options - raising 
the seawall and maintaining existing beach levels (option 4); and 
raising seawall in conjunction with raising beach levels (option 5). 
Both options 4 an 5 had variants, which would provide different 
standards of protection (SoP) using the same basic strategy.

The most economically advantageous option, from this shortlist, 
was option 4b - this would increase the seawall crest height to 
maintain a 1% AEP standard of protection. Because this is lower 

than the 0.5% AEP SoP that is the level of protection that is 
usually required for new development, the Environment Agency 
considered that the 'locally preferred option', based on wider 
regeneration impacts, would be option 4c. This would provide 
the 0.5% AEP SoP. It should be noted that 'locally preferred' is an 
assessment by the Environment Agency and was not identified 
through local consultation or engagement with stakeholders.

Discussions with the Environment Agency clarified that the locally 
preferred option 4c was costed on the basis that approximately 
50% of the existing sea wall could be raised (i.e. had foundations 
strong enough to take extra height) and 50% would need to be 
new sea wall constructed on the existing line. It was noted that the 
assumption was that new sea wall would be constructed similarly 
to the work being undertaken at Cockett Wick, i.e. on the line of 
the existing wall but not reliant on the existing wall for structural 
support.

The sea wall would be raised in two phases - a first phase in the 
2033-2057 epoch and the second phase in the subsequent epoch. 
This is to maximise the use of Flood Grant in Aid (FGiA) to fund 
the works.

Due to the constrained access and proximity of homes, the new sea 
wall would be constructed using a site compound on the seaward 
side. Vehicle access points for construction would be created or 
widened from existing access points and these would be later 
adapted for ongoing pedestrian and vehicle access, with flood gates 
as required. The site compound would need to be protected from 
flooding during the construction period. This would involve locally 
raising the beach levels to create a bund.

Fig. C10. Map showing line of sea of wall to be raised for Option A

P
age 110



Page 81

Jaywick Sands Place Plan: Final Report

September 2023 HAT Projects

Appendix C

C7.2 Option A - cross-sections showing construction phase (indicative - developed by Place Plan team)

Section through Brooklands (DU2)

Section through the Village (DU3)

The new crest level of the wall would be 5.77m AOD in 
two phases with the final phase being completed post 
2058. This is between 0.5-0.77m higher than the existing 
sea wall.

It is likely that the majority of the construction along 
Brooklands would be wall raising on top of the existing 
wall, which has piled foundations for most of the length.

Construction would be undertaken from the seaward side 
due to needing to maintain access along Brooklands for 
residents and for emergency vehicles.

A hoarding would be needed on the landward side to 
secure the construction zone.

The new crest level of the wall at the completion of the 
final phase post-2058 would be 5.84m AOD. This is 
between 0.4-1m higher than the existing sea wall.

It is likely that the majority of the construction along this 
defence unit would be a new wall, constructed similarly to 
the wall currently in process at Cockett Wick. This would 
replace the old wall and create a new walkway at the 
same time. The walkway is likely to need to be at the same 
height as the existing one, due to the need to maintain 
access to the existing homes.

Construction would be undertaken from the seaward side 
due to limited space, but it is not clear how constructing a 
new wall and walkway can be achieved while maintaining 
access to properties. It is likely that access to homes will 
need to be from the rear for at least a period of time, and 
that construction would temporarily impinge on private 
front garden space. This could have implications for the 
stability of existing homes.

Construction compound and 
access on seaward side of 
existing wall

Bund or temporary flood 
protection may be required 
during construction

Hoarding line 
(indicative)

Hoarding line 
(indicative)

Hoarding line 
(indicative)

Hoarding line 
(indicative)

Construction compound and 
access on seaward side of 
existing wall

Bund or temporary flood 
protection may be required 
during construction

Width from sea wall to 
property boundary is 
generally c.6m

New piled sea wall with integral path (based 
on Cockett Wick design) - may not be 
required for the full extent of the frontage

Wall raising on top of 
existing structure

Existing 
pathway width 
varies c.2.3m-
4.5m. 

Fig. C11. Option A - cross-section through Brooklands during  construction

Fig. C12. Option A - cross-section through the Village during construction

Fig. C13. Photographs 
of current works 
at Cockett Wick 
showing extent of 
plant and storage 
required for wall 
raising and defence 
reinforcement works.

P
age 111



Page 82

Jaywick Sands Place Plan: Final Report

September 2023 HAT Projects

Appendix C

C7.3 Option A - cross-sections after completion

These sections show the wall raising after both phases of 
construction - noting that the nationally preferred option 
in line with Treasury and DEFRA guidance involves 
undertaking the wall raising works in two phases, one to 
start in 2033 and the second to start in 2057. 

Section through Brooklands (DU2)

The wall would be around 2.3m above the road level - too 
high to see over. (Eye level is around 1.5m for a standing 
person).

The existing narrow road width would remain. The 
potential would still exist to relandscape Brooklands into 
a one-way street, which would allow for a footway on the 
landward side, adjacent to homes.

No improvements to disabled access to the beach would 
be possible, as there would not be sufficient space to 
introduce compliant low-gradient ramps.

Section through the Village (DU3)

The new wall would be  around 1.5m above the level of the 
promenade walkway. This is similar to the height of the 
existing sea wall along Brooklands.

It is possible that flood gates could be installed in a wall 
of this height in order to permit full access to the beach in 
normal circumstances, including for wheelchair users and  
visitors and residents using buggies and prams.

New wall 2.3m 
above road level

New wall 1.5m 
above path level

Width from sea wall to property 
boundary would be as at present -  
generally c.6m

Width of path would 
be as at present - varies 
c.2.3m-4.5m. 

Fig. C14. Option A - cross-section through Brooklands after construction

Fig. C15. Option A - cross-section through the Village after construction

P
age 112



Page 83

Jaywick Sands Place Plan: Final Report

September 2023 HAT Projects

Appendix C

C7.4 Option A - before and after comparison

These visualisations show the wall raising after both phases of construction - noting that the likely 
Nationally preferred option based on cost benefit and in accordance with the Treasury guidelines, 
means undertaking the wall raising works in two phases, one to start in 2033 and the second to 
start in 2058. 

Fig. C16. View of Brooklands seafront (DU2) - current condition

Fig. C17. Visualisation of Brooklands seafront (DU2) after full wall raising (both phases)

Fig. C18. View of Village seafront (DU3) - current condition

Fig. C19. Visualisation of Village seafront (DU3) after full wall raising (both phases)

P
age 113



Page 84

Jaywick Sands Place Plan: Final Report

September 2023 HAT Projects

Appendix C

C7.5 Option A - cost-benefit and impact on wider Place Plan objectives

The costs of option A (Present Value costs) have been estimated by 
the Environment Agency as follows (base date 2022)

Time period Cost (present 
value at the 
start of each 
phase)

Grant in aid 
that would 
be available 
(FDGiA)

Required 
partnership 
funding 
(present value 
at the start of 
each phase))

2033-2057 £61.3m £37m £24.4m

2058-2087 £46m £40.1m £5.9m

2088-2121 £7.2m £40.1m 0

The total Present Value (2022) cost of this option is £50.3m and 
the total Present Value (2022) partnership funding required is 
approx. £20m. As the scheme would not commence until the mid 
2030s, and would be undertaken in phases, the Environment 
Agency’s estimate is that partnership funding of roughly £1m/year 
should be set aside each year for the next two decades. 

The Environment Agency’s Benefit:Cost Ratio analysis shows an 
average BCR of 2.6 and an incremental BCR of 2.3. This is based 
on total Present Value costs of £50.3m and total Present Value 
benefits of £131.9m.

The benefits included in this analysis are solely the monetised 
value of flood damages avoided, based on the currently assessed 
value of homes and businesses available. No assessment has been 
made of wider benefits or disbenefits resulting from this option.

A range of wider impacts could be anticipated as a result of this 
option. Positive impacts could include:

• Increase in value of homes due to their safety from flooding. 
Currently flood risk is a factor in keeping property values in 
Jaywick Sands abnormally low, although it is not the sole factor.

• Increase in community safety and resilience and a consequent 
benefit to mental health and wellbeing resulting from 
maintaining a good standard of protection from flooding.

Negative impacts could include:
• Public realm improvements to Brooklands road and to the beach 

could not be undertaken until these wall raising works were 
complete, unless it was accepted that abortive costs would be 
incurred.

• The effect of the raised sea wall directly in front of existing 
properties could be anticipated to have a negative impact on 
their value.

• Reduced access to the beach would have a negative impact on 
the potential to develop the beach as an economic driver for the 
community (tourism, watersports etc)

• Wider disbenefits could be felt in terms of the desirability of 
Jaywick Sands as a place to live, which could impact on property 
values in the whole community and offset any potential increase 
in values resulting from properties having a lower risk of 
flooding

• Wider impacts on the tourism economy of the area including 
the caravan parks as the beach would be less attractive and 
accessible.

Fig. C20. Visualisation of Brooklands seafront (DU2) after full wall raising (both phases) Fig. C21. Visualisation of Village seafront (DU3) after full wall raising (both phases)

P
age 114



Page 85

Jaywick Sands Place Plan: Final Report

September 2023 HAT Projects

Appendix C

C8.1 Option B - advance the line

This alternative option has been developed to explore the potential 
to design a flood defence approach that mitigates some of the 
challenges and disadvantages of the nationally preferred option, 
while using a broadly similar approach of constructing a higher sea 
wall and maintaining the same new crest levels.

This option would involve the construction of a new sea wall along 
the whole frontage, approximately 10-15m on the seaward side 
of the existing sea wall, so that the construction of the new wall 
(including construction traffic loading) would not damage the 
existing sea wall during the works. The existing sea wall could 
then be demolished and the space used for other purposes, such as 
improved public realm and accessibility to the beach.

An additional rock groyne might be required in order to widen 
the beach at the narrowest part of the Village, along with some 
additional beach nourishment at that location, while for the rest 
of the frontage broadly the same level of beach recharge and 
maintenance would be required as in option A.

The costs of this option would be higher than Option A, as the 
whole sea wall will be replaced, and there will also be the costs of 
demolishing and relandscaping the existing sea wall area.

This option would be more preferably completed in a single phase, 
rather than the two phases anticipated by the Environment 
Agency for option A. This would require more partnership funding 
than option A, as the same amount of Flood Grant in Aid would 
not be available.

New sea wall

Additional new public realm created 
behind new sea wall

Potential new rock 
groyne

Fig. C22. Map showing line of new sea of wall proposed under Option B, and location of potential additional rock groyne

P
age 115



Page 86

Jaywick Sands Place Plan: Final Report

September 2023 HAT Projects

Appendix C

C8.2 Option B - cross-sections showing construction phase

Section through Brooklands (DU2)

Section through the Village (DU3)

The new crest level of the wall would be 5.77m AOD. This 
is between 0.5-0.77m higher than the existing sea wall.

The new wall would be constructed on the seaward side of 
the existing sea wall. The existing sea wall would remain in 
place until the new wall was complete, following which it 
would be demolished.
Construction would not affect existing homes or access 
along Brooklands.

The new crest level of the wall would be 5.84m AOD. This 
is between 0.4-1m higher than the existing sea wall.

The new wall would be constructed on the seaward side of 
the existing sea wall. The existing sea wall would remain in 
place until the new wall was complete, following which it 
would be demolished.
Construction would not affect existing homes or access 
arrangements.

Construction compound and 
access on seaward side of 
existing wall

Hoarding line 
(indicative)

Hoarding line 
(indicative)

Hoarding line 
(indicative)

Construction compound and access on 
seaward side of existing wall

Bund or temporary flood 
protection may be required 
during construction

Existing 
pathway width 
varies c.2.3m-
4.5m. 

New piled sea wall

New piled sea wall

Fig. C23. Option B - cross-section through Brooklands during construction

Fig. C24. Option B - cross-section through the Village during construction

P
age 116



Page 87

Jaywick Sands Place Plan: Final Report

September 2023 HAT Projects

Appendix C

C8.3 Option B - cross-sections showing potential integration with public realm and beach access

Section through Brooklands (DU2)

Section through the Village (DU3)

The area between the new sea wall and Brooklands 
offers the opportunity for substantial public realm and 
accessibility improvements.
This diagram shows a potential promenade on top of the 
sea wall, with ramps and steps giving access to the beach, 
and a re-designed Brooklands road with footways on both 
sides and a segregated cycle track.

The new crest level of the wall would be 5.84m AOD. This 
is between 0.4-1m higher than the existing sea wall.

The new wall would be constructed on the seaward side of 
the existing sea wall. The existing sea wall would remain in 
place until the new wall was complete, following which it 
would be demolished.
Construction would not affect existing homes or access 
arrangements.

One-way street with fully segregated 
cycle track and full footways on both 
sides

Raised, fully accessible promenade with 
steps and ramps both sides

Deck on beach side

Raised, fully accessible 
promenade with steps and 
ramps both sides

Deck on beach side

Pedestrian and 
cycle shared space 
promenade

Fig. C25. Option B - cross-section through Brooklands after construction

Fig. C26. Option B - cross-section through the Village after construction

P
age 117



Page 88

Jaywick Sands Place Plan: Final Report

September 2023 HAT Projects

Appendix C

C8.4 Option B - Brooklands indicative section and plan

Raised 
promenade

One-way carriageway

Cycle track

Footway

Footway

Accessible ‘deck’ on beach side - level surface in 
concrete or timber

Potential connection to deck 
boardwalk on beach - part of 
public realm strategy

Moving the sea wall to the 
seaward side is relatively minimal 
in overall terms as the beach is 
very wide. 

The opportunity would be 
created for a wide range of 
potential activities to be designed 
in between the street and the 
promenade including car/cycle 
parking; play; market stalls.

Play, community garden, seating 
areas could be created

Car and cycle parking could be 
accommodated for residents 
and/or visitors

Fig. C27. Option B - indicative section through beach and sea wall at Brooklands

Fig. C28. Option B - indicative plan of proposed new sea wall at Brooklands

P
age 118



Page 89

Jaywick Sands Place Plan: Final Report

September 2023 HAT Projects

Appendix C

C8.6 Option B - Village indicative section and plan

Raised 
promenade

Existing steps up to  
existing promenade level

Shared foot and cycle path at level of existing path 
at the front of the Village

Accessible ‘deck’ on beach side - level surface in 
concrete or timber

Potential connection to deck 
boardwalk on beach - part of 
public realm strategy

As at Brooklands, the opportunity 
created by moving the sea wall 
forwards slightly, would create 
space that could be used for a 
range of different functions.

An additional rock groyne would 
be required to extend the beach 
at the narrowest point, along 
with additional localised beach 
recharge.

Play, community garden, seating 
areas could be created

Fig. C29. Option B - indicative section through beach and sea wall at the Village

Fig. C30. Option B - indicative plan of proposed new sea wall at the Village

P
age 119



Page 90

Jaywick Sands Place Plan: Final Report

September 2023 HAT Projects

Appendix C

C8.7 Option B - before and after comparison

Fig. C31. View of Brooklands seafront (DU2) - current condition

Fig. C32. Visualisation of Brooklands seafront (DU2) after line of sea-wall is advanced

Fig. C33. View of Village seafront (DU3) - current condition

Fig. C34. Visualisation of Village seafront (DU3) after line of sea-wall is advanced

P
age 120



Page 91

Jaywick Sands Place Plan: Final Report

September 2023 HAT Projects

Appendix C

The following costs are high level estimates prepared by the Place 
Plan team, at 2022/2023 costs and with an approximately 60% 
optimism bias applied to account for the early stage of development 
and to cover currently unpriced risk factors. Risk factors in 
delivering the seafront framework will include:

• Mitigation costs with regard to parts of the beach being 
designated a geological SSSI and a Local Wildlife Site

• Impact of sea level rise on wider beach profile

Item Outline 
cost (2023)

Baseline cost of flood defences (nationally 
preferred option prepared and costed by the 
Environment Agency)

£50.3m

Additional cost of c. 1km length of new sea wall 
(c.1km of new sea wall is already costed into 
the nationally preferred option) - EA informal 
estimate

£25m

Additional rock groyne and beach nourishment 
(cost at upper end of EA informal estimate)

£10m

Promenade and associated public realm works, 
seafront amenities, street lighting (construction 
cost)

£13.6m

Reconfiguration of Brooklands road to include 
footways and cycle way along with resurfacing of 
carriageway (construction cost)

£2.4m

Boardwalk construction costs £2.6m

Project costs, fees and the like - budget estimate £3.7m

Total (Present Day Value, 2022/23) £107.6m

Assuming the FDGiA benefits available in 2033 were used to part-
fund the strategy, these may comprise approximately £24m so the 
additional partnership funding required would be approximately 
£84m at present day values.

Consideration of future maintenance costs will also be required 
as the Environment Agency's remit is for maintenance of defence 

assets only and would not extend to the maintenance of the wider 
public realm.

Additional positive impacts above and beyond the positive impacts 
of Option A would include: 

• Increasing value of seafront properties due to better quality 
outlook, views and public realm/accessibility

• Additional tourism potential due to better beach access, 
promenade and beachside facilities integrated into public realm

• Wider catalytic regeneration impacts for the economy of 
Jaywick Sands 

Financialising these benefits would require further detailed 
modelling.

C8.8 Option B - cost-benefit and impact on wider Place Plan objectives

Fig. C35. Visualisation of Brooklands seafront (DU2) after line of sea-wall is advanced Fig. C36. Visualisation of Village seafront (DU3) after line of sea-wall is advanced

P
age 121



Page 92

Jaywick Sands Place Plan: Final Report

September 2023 HAT Projects

Appendix C

C8.9 Option B - Isometric diagrams

Fig. C37. Isometric diagram of Option B proposal for the Village seafront (DU3)Fig. C38. Isometric diagram of Option B proposal for Brooklands seafront (DU2)

P
age 122



Page 93

Jaywick Sands Place Plan: Final Report

September 2023 HAT Projects

Appendix C

C9. Option C - beach reshaping

The second alternative option is to reshape the beach with 
increased deposits of sand and gravel which would absorb more 
wave energy and therefore, while wall raising would still be 
required, this would not be as high as in option A. This option was 
looked at, in outline, by the Environment Agency and discounted 
due to the much higher estimated costs.
The Environment Agency’s description of this option was:

• Raise existing seawall where conditions permit to achieve 
specified SoP in combination with raised beach levels. 

• Where existing seawall not suitable for raising, construct new 
wall on same alignment to provide consistent SoP. 

• Initial beach recharge to increase existing volume and 
subsequent recharges as required to maintain. 

• Extend groynes to accommodate larger beach. 
• Additional offshore breakwaters. 

The cost of this option was estimated to be £ 117.4 at 2022 costs. 
This was more than double the cost of option A at £50.3m. This 
option was therefore not taken forward.
As a result it is not known what height the sea wall would need to 
be raised to, nor more detail about the location of additional break-
waters and the extent of the increased beach. The diagram below 
therefore shows this option purely indicatively and should not be 
taken to represent an actual design.

Fig. C39. Map indicatively showing Option C, with reshaped beach and potential locations of new rock groynes (dotted) 

Potential new rock 
groyne

Recharged beach

Recharged beach

Recharged beach

P
age 123



Page 94

Jaywick Sands Place Plan: Final Report

September 2023 HAT Projects

Appendix C

C10. Options comparison

Option A - nationally preferred option in line with Treasury and DEFRA guidance

• Cost (2022 values) - £50.3m according to Environment Agency's high level estimates
• Partnership funding required (2022 values)  - approx £20m
• Baseline scheme - still requires substantial partnership funding
• Will not be fully complete until after 2058
• High sea wall in front of homes cuts off views and will have value impact
• Little opportunity for public realm enhancement between homes and sea wall
• Little opportunity for increased public access to beach
• Little opportunity to increase tourism economy
• Most cost effective solution to provide a good standard of flood risk protection to Jaywick Sands

Option C - Beach reshaping with wall raising

• Cost (2022 values) - £117.4m according to Environment Agency's high level estimates
• Partnership funding required (2022 values)  - approx £87m
• Will not be fully complete until after 2058
• Raised sea wall in front of homes but may not be quite as high as option A - less impact on views
• Little opportunity for public realm enhancement between homes and sea wall
• Little opportunity for increased public access to beach
• Little opportunity to increase tourism economy

Option B - Advance the line including public realm improvements

• Cost (2022 values) - a high level estimate prepared by the Place Plan team is £107.6m. 
• Partnership funding required (2022 values)  -a high level estimate is in the region of £84m, 

depending on drawdown of FDGiA benefits which will be affected by phasing and timescales
• Costs above assume completion after 2033. Bringing the defence improvements forward in time 

will increase the funding required because the availability of FDGiA will reduce.
• Increased public realm between homes and new sea wall - less impact on views
• Likely positive impact on value of homes
• Opportunities to increase tourism to the beach with additional facilities
• Opportunity for greater accessibility to beach for all users - could be a substantial USP for 

Jaywick beach as a destination

Fig. C40. Map showing line of sea of wall to be raised for Option A

Fig. C41. Map showing line of new sea of wall proposed under Option B, and location of potential 
additional rock groyne

Fig. C42. Map indicatively showing Option C, with reshaped beach and potential locations of new rock 
groynes (dotted) 

P
age 124



Page 95

Jaywick Sands Place Plan: Final Report

September 2023 HAT Projects

Appendix D

Appendix D. Initial strategic options appraisal

A range of initial strategic options were assessed for their high 
level feasibility and their fit against the objectives of the Place Plan. 
These options deliberately included extreme scenarios in order to 
ensure all approaches had been robustly tested.

A central aim of the Jaywick Sands regeneration is that 
substandard housing is removed from the market through either 
demolition, or upgrading/redevelopment. In most cases upgrading 
will not be possible therefore redevelopment or demolition are 
the options to be tested.  In order to enable this, residents of 
substandard homes will need to be re-housed, but mechanisms - 
outside of the brief of the Place Plan team - are required to ensure 
that rehousing is conditional on the sale of the existing substandard 
home to TDC, or the demolition or redevelopment of the plot by 
the landowner. Previous initiatives of this kind have resulted in 
'backfilling' of the vacated property without improvements being 
made. Enforcement and purchase powers therefore need to be fully 
integrated into the delivery of the Place Plan.

The options assessed consider a range of approaches to rehousing 
residents of substandard homes, and assume that the powers 
to enforce on substandard homes are available and put to use. 
Detailed timescales have not been considered, but the team note 
that enforcement may become substantially more effective if and 
when the proposed changes, proposed in the Levelling Up White 
Paper, to landlord licensing and the EPC requirements for private 
rented accommodation come into effect.

The strategic approaches considered included:
1. Full decant and demolition of Jaywick Sands with residents 

rehoused in other areas
2. Comprehensive redevelopment of Brooklands and parts of the 

Village into new flood resilient housing and other uses
3. New mixed tenure development on all land owned by Tendring 

District Council including land either side of Lotus Way and 
Tudor Fields, including land outside the settlement framework, 
enabling decant and redevelopment of existing substandard 
homes and additional market housing

4. New affordable and social housing development on land owned 
by Tendring District Council inside the settlement framework 

only, enabling decant and redevelopment of existing substandard 
homes

5. Development on individual (vacant) plots owned by Tendring 
District Council within Brooklands

6. Purchase and redevelopment of consolidated parcels of adjoining 
plots in Brooklands and the Village, to redevelopment alongside 
Tendring owned plots

7. Public realm, environmental improvements and standalone 
projects to boost the local economy and address infrastructure 
deficits within Brooklands and the Village only (no new or 
replacement homes)

D1. Full decant and demolition, no rebuild 

This scenario would involve the phased decant and demolition of 
all existing homes and property within Flood Zone 3. Alternative 
housing would be provided to residents and it is likely that 
compensation would need to be offered. It is possible that 
Jaywick Sands could continue to be accessed and used for leisure 
and recreation, for example as a country park and beach with 
biodiversity and greening benefits.

Positive:
• Number of residents within Flood Zone 3 would be significantly 

decreased.
• Flood defence upgrades would not be required to protect homes 

or property (although protection of existing holiday parks may 
need to be considered)

Negative:
• Works against community wishes - would not achieve the stated 

aim of having community support for the proposals
• High cost of decant and replacement housing.
• Lengthy process of compulsory purchase required, during which 

the existing community would experience worsening outcomes 
due to lack of investment and increased blight.

D2. Comprehensive redevelopment of Brooklands and 
parts of the Village

This scenario would involve the phased compulsory purchase of all 
homes within Brooklands and the majority of the Village, focusing 
on the areas with poorest housing quality and flood resilience. 
Following CPO these areas would be redeveloped into new flood 
resilient housing and other uses, and a new street layout could be 
developed. Residents of existing homes would need to be offered 
rehousing elsewhere in the district before having the option to 
return to new homes (similar to an estate regeneration model).

Positive:
• Flexibility to redevelop in a street pattern, building form and 

use/tenure mix that is not constrained by the existing street 
layout

• More economically viable than redevelopment of individual 
plots or small consolidated holdings

• All homes would meet flood resilient standards and current 
building regulations regarding energy efficiency

Negative:
• Works against community wishes - would not achieve the stated 

aim of having community support for the proposals
• High cost of decant and temporary housing for residents before 

they can move back into new homes
• Lengthy process of compulsory purchase required, during which 

the existing community would experience worsening outcomes 
due to lack of investment and increased blight.

D3. New development on all land owned by Tendring 
District Council including Tudor Fields, enabling 
decant and redevelopment of existing substandard 
homes

This scenario would use TDC owned land to create a substantial 
amount of new mixed-tenure housing and associated local 
services, potentially up to 1000 homes over a number of phases. 
New homes could be used to rehouse residents from existing 
substandard homes which could then be purchased and demolished 
or redeveloped in phases. An outline indicative masterplan and 
viability assessment for this option was developed to test this 

P
age 125



Page 96

Jaywick Sands Place Plan: Final Report

September 2023 HAT Projects

Appendix D

scenario and can be found in Appendix E.

Positive:
• Significant development area could provide a wide range of 

homes
• Once residents had been rehoused, there would be a range of 

options for the redevelopment of existing plots, which could 
involve altering the street pattern and layout to better suit 
viable development. 

• All homes would meet flood resilient standards and current 
building regulations regarding energy efficiency

• Including market housing could improve viability although the 
market is untested and this may not prove correct.

Negative:
• Increased number of residents would be living in Flood Zone 

3, which would increase the complexity of evacuation in a 
flood event and would be contrary to Environment Agency 
preferences. Sequential and Exception tests would need to be 
met and this could be challenging as Tudor Fields lies outside 
the Priority Area for Regeneration.

• Viability concerns as evidence base for the Local Plan did 
not demonstrate a market for new homes in this location. 
Substantial development in this location could result in an 
oversupply of new homes in this part of Tendring, negatively 
impacting the deliverability of other housing developments 
outside Flood Zone 3 which are allocated in the Local Plan.

• Tudor Fields is a Local Wildlife Site so significant ecological 
mitigation would be required, adding to the costs of 
development.

• New development would need to be strongly linked to removing 
existing substandard homes from the market. Risk that this 
might not occur and therefore the primary aim of the Place Plan 
would not be met.

D4. New development on land owned by Tendring 
District Council inside settlement boundary only, 
enabling decant and redevelopment of existing 
substandard homes

This scenario would see new, mainly affordable and social rent, 
homes built within the settlement boundary defined in the Local 
Plan and the policy area for the Priority Area for Regeneration. 

Approximately 200 homes could be developed along with related 
local services and facilities to meet existing infrastructure deficits. 
New homes would be used to rehouse residents from existing 
substandard homes, which would be purchased and redeveloped.

Positive:
• Limited new development unlikely to result in a substantial 

increase in the number of people living within Flood Zone 
3. Environment Agency likely to be more supportive as 
development is within the identified Priority Area for 
Regeneration and therefore the Sequential and Exception test 
would be likely to be satisfied.

• Policy compliant with Local Plan
• Unlikely to impact deliverability of housing on other allocated 

sites in the Local Plan due to being affordable-led housing
• Prioritising meeting existing community needs and deficits in 

infrastructure is morel likely to meet with community approval.

Negative:
• Likely to have a significant funding / viability gap as housing 

would be mainly affordable or social rent and substantial 
infrastructure would be included

• New development would need to be strongly linked to removing 
existing substandard homes from the market. Risk that this 
might not occur and therefore the primary aim of the Place Plan 
might not be met

• While not a Local Wildlife site, land either side of Lotus Way 
has a high number of protected species and therefore ecological 
mitigation would be required.

D5.  Redevelop single / double plots owned by 
Tendring District Council, enabling gradual decant and 
redevelopment of existing substandard homes

This scenario would see new homes built on plots currently 
owned by Tendring District Council , which have a capacity of 8 
new homes in total across all plots, because a large number are 
undevelopable under the emerging Design Guide SPD. New homes 
would be used to rehouse residents from existing substandard 
homes, which would be purchased and redeveloped.

Positive:
• No increase in the number of people living within Flood Zone 

3. Environment Agency likely to be supportive as development 
is within the identified Priority Area for Regeneration and 
therefore the Sequential and Exception test is would be likely to 
be satisfied.

• Gradual redevelopment with no large scale CPO or rehousing 
costs

• No impact on protected species or wildlife - little ecological 
mitigation required.

Negative:
• Very few new homes can be built on plots currently owned by 

TDC - only 7no in total at this time. 
• Rehousing residents would therefore happen extremely slowly 

and regeneration would take longer
• Building on small disconnected plots is economically inefficient 

and proportionally higher build costs would therefore be 
expected

• As TDC owned plots are currently vacant, new homes would 
be required to have non-habitable ground floors which adds 
to costs and limits capacity of plots in order to comply with 
overlooking and daylighting standards.

D6.  Purchase consolidated holdings of several 
adjacent plots, for redevelopment alongside TDC 
owned plots

This scenario would see additional plots purchased, in particular 
holdings comprising several adjacent plots consolidated into a 
single parcel. New homes would be used to rehouse residents 
from existing substandard homes, which would be purchased and 
redeveloped.

Positive:
• No increase in the number of people living within Flood Zone 

3. Environment Agency likely to be supportive as development 
is within the identified Priority Area for Regeneration and 
therefore the Sequential and Exception test is would be likely to 
be satisfied.

• Gradual redevelopment with no large scale CPO or rehousing 
costs

• No impact on protected species or wildlife - little ecological 
mitigation required.

P
age 126



Page 97

Jaywick Sands Place Plan: Final Report

September 2023 HAT Projects

Appendix D

Negative:
• Capacity of the parcels identified is still low - if developed in 

line with the emerging Jaywick Sands Design Guide SPD, the 
parcels would have a total capacity of 10 new homes, which in 
combination with plots already owned by the Council, would 
yield 18 homes in total.

• Rehousing residents would therefore happen extremely slowly 
and regeneration would take longer

• Building on small parcels is economically inefficient and 
proportionally higher build costs would therefore be expected

• As parcels are currently vacant, new homes would be required 
to have non-habitable ground floors which adds to costs and 
limits capacity of plots in order to comply with overlooking and 
daylighting standards.

D7.  Public realm, environmental improvements and 
standalone projects to boost the local economy and 
address local infrastructure deficits only (no new or 
replacement homes)

In this scenario, housing replacement or development would not 
be undertaken by TDC and the focus of regeneration would be 
environmental, social and economic projects only. These could 
include:

• Upgrading Brooklands to be a one-way street, allowing full 
pavements to be created on each side and including traffic 
calming measures and cycleway provision as well as access to 
the beach

• Improvements to existing green and public spaces to increase 
functionality, ecological value and visual appeal, including tree 
planting, play and recreation facilities, allotment provision and 
similar

• Meanwhile projects or purchase and re-letting of vacant 
commercial units including those on Broadway, for social 
enterprise, local startups and converted to uses that would 
meet social infrastructure deficits e.g. healthcare, early years 
provision, etc

• Landscaping of Lotus Way including tree planting, cycling 
provision, SuDS (sustainable drainage solutions) and traffic 
calming to improve the environment and encourage walking 
and cycling.

These projects can of course be delivered as part of or alongside 
other options considered above - they are included here as a stand-
alone 'option' to provide a baseline for comparison in terms of costs 
and benefits.

Positive:
• Relatively inexpensive and quick to deliver projects which do 

not have dependencies on large-scale land acquisition or the 
improvement of flood defences

• Quick wins which can have a high visual impact and tackle 
blight, improving community wellbeing and pride in place

• Could improve property values and incentivise property owners 
to upgrade or improve their properties incrementally

Negative:
• Do not directly address housing quality or take substandard 

homes out of the market - relies on property owners themselves 
to achieve this

D8. Preferred options

The options taken forward for further development and appraisal, 
and for public consultation are:

D4.New affordable and social housing development on land owned 
by Tendring District Council inside the settlement framework 
only, enabling decant and redevelopment of existing 
substandard homes

D5.Development on individual (vacant) plots owned by Tendring 
District Council within Brooklands

D6.Purchase and redevelopment of existing substandard homes 
within Brooklands and the Village, either as individual plots or 
as consolidated parcels of adjoining plots

D7.Public realm, environmental improvements and standalone 
projects to boost the local economy and address infrastructure 
deficits within Brooklands and the Village only (no new or 
replacement homes)

The following sections in this report develop each of these 
scenarios in more detail to explore their potential impact, costs and 
viability. 

These options could be combined into a composite preferred option 
which could incorporate both development on undeveloped land 
within the settlement boundary, development of TDC or other 

currently vacant plots, and public realm and other 'quick win' 
projects and this is shown as a 'composite' option in section 12.

P
age 127



Page 98

Jaywick Sands Place Plan: Final Report

September 2023 HAT Projects

Appendix E

Appendix E: Early options explored and rejected for development across all TDC owned land

Note: the options for development across all TDC owned land 
were developed in 2019 and appraised financially at that date. 
Viability has not been updated as this option has not been 
selected as a preferred option for further development. 

The approach to new development on the currently undeveloped 
sites is heavily dependent on the approach to flood resistance 
and resilience, as well as the flood datum for planning purposes 
that is agreed with the Environment Agency. Two options were 
considered at a very early stage for appraisal:

• Fully defended masterplan - assumes a planning application 
would be submitted after flood defences were upgraded to 
a 0.5% AEP plus climate change allowance, allowing new 
development to be designed as 'normal' with limited flood 
resilience features.

• Undefended masterplan - assumes a planning application would 
be submitted before any upgraded defences had been committed 
to and therefore the development would need to have all 
habitable space above the 0.5% AEP plus climate change flood 
datum. This would add cost and complexity to the scheme.

Aside from the approach to flooding, the main challenges for 
developing the undeveloped greenfield sites would be:

• Retaining the existing drainage network of ditches, which is key 
to the flood drainage of the site and surrounding area. Drainage 
ditches may possibly be realigned to better suit a new layout of 
development.

• Ensuring development did not increase the risk of flooding 
elsewhere by reducing the permeability of the site and pushing 
floodwater elsewhere.

• Addressing the fluvial flood risk on the site
• Mitigating habitat loss of what is currently a Local Wildlife Site 

alongside creating biodiversity net gain
• The soil and ground conditions are challenging and require non-

standard foundation design. Highways design may also require 
additional engineering.

• Limited access points currently into the site and with limited 
width. Additional site acquisition would be required to enable 
adequate vehicle, bus and emergency access and a network of 
pedestrian and cycle connections.

• Creating a successful edge to existing homes, particularly the 
'tandem' plots behind Meadow Way, that is respectful of the 
views and privacy of existing residents yet does not create a 
barrier between communities

• Utilities infrastructure requirements
• Social infrastructure requirements to support new homes - a 

new primary school and GP facilities are identified in the 
Jaywick Sands Infrastructure Assessment. Play and open space 
will be required to meet usual standards.

These issues impact the likely net developable area on the site but 
also the opportunity to create a distinctive sense of place linked to 
the landscape character of the site. 

P
age 128



Page 99

Jaywick Sands Place Plan: Final Report

September 2023 HAT Projects

Appendix E

Fig. E1. Map diagram of fully defended masterplan

    © This drawing is the copyright of Maccreanor Lavington Architects and must not be reproduced without written permission. The moral rights of the author are hereby asserted.
+31 (010) 443 9060

www.maccreanorlavington.com
Vijverhofstraat 47, 3032 SB, Rotterdam

Initial masterplan options  |  Option 1  |  Fully protected

Fully protected sea wall defences to provide full flood protection to 
masterplan, allowing all masterplan housing to be kept at existing 
‘ground’ level and therefore requiring no further flood mitigation, 
except to deal with fluvial flooding in relevant areas

Area for 
council 
housing

New village centre near 
seafront, surrounded 
by larger mixed-use 
buildings 

Fully protective sea wall 
defences

Open space retained and cultivated as 
public landscaped park – area becomes 
as an integral part of the masterplan, 
something to be enjoyed – it also offers 
potential for wildlife enhancement and/
or water / fluvial flood management

Green / open corridors 
extend through 
masterplan 

Green buffer zone 
deliberately separates 
new and existing 
housing

New primary school

E1.1. Fully defended scenario: outline masterplan

The fully defended masterplan assumes all new development 
can be built as 'normal' design and construction, with habitable 
space at ground and no allowance for flood resilience in design or 
construction. It also assumes that streets and roads do not need 
to be raised or flood defended in order to create safe emergency 
routes.

Fluvial flooding is mitigated through a landscape-led design which 
retains the existing ditch network, creating a 'green chain' in and 
around the development. In this scenario, a green buffer is shown 
between the 'tandem' existing plots behind Meadow Way, and the 
back of new homes on Tudor Fields. This would assume that the 
'tandem' plots continue to be accessed from Meadow Way.

The block layout on the masterplan drawing is indicative only and 
does not show the variety of typologies which would be employed 
to reach a c. 40dph net density on the site. As in both scenarios, a 
new 'village centre' is created between Brooklands and the Village 
as a catalyst for economic regeneration and tourism. No allowance 
within the costs is made for flood defence infrastructure.

Homes
• c. 860 homes assuming around 40dph net density
• Assuming 30% affordable homes, this creates 258 affordable 

homes.

Other
• c. 3000 m2 of non-residential uses (retail, leisure, workspace) 

included.
• 0.44ha site area for school allowed for but no cost allowance 

made for build.

Viability (at 2019 costs and values)
• Total costs: £278m
• GDV: £244m
• Residual land value (without allowance for developer profit): 

-£33m
• Developer profit: £42m (based on 15% of total costs i.e. 

industry norm)
• Residual land value (including allowance for developer profit) 

-£75m

Notes on development appraisal
• Appraisal excludes all costs mentioned previously (off-site 

ecological mitigation, s106, flood defence infrastructure)
• The land has no value/cost.
• Policy compliant mix including 30% Affordable Housing (value 

based on ratio from Rouse Farm values)
• Houses are c. 100 sqm GEA on average
• On costs at 20% including finance are included
• Contingency at 10% is included
• Development Management costs are included at 3%

Assumed values
• Residential - £3,330 (sqm) (based on Tudor Estate values)
• Leisure  rent (sqm) £75  (8% yield) (based on Clacton values with 

an adjustment)
• Retail rent (sqm) £250   (8% yield)
• Workspace rent (sqm) £80 (10%  yield)

P
age 129



Page 100

Jaywick Sands Place Plan: Final Report

September 2023 HAT Projects

Appendix E

E1.2. Fully defended scenario - use mix and housing design

Initial masterplan options  |  Option 1  |  Fully protected

Key

School

Residential - Private

Residential - Council housing

Retail

Leisure

Work space

Key

School

Residential - Private

Residential - Council housing

Retail

Leisure

Work space

Key

2 storeys

4 storeys

Key

2 storeys

4 storeys

Ground floor uses Building heights

Primarily two storey homes are envisaged, with a higher density 
core of four storey buildings in the village centre comprising mixed 
use buildings with a non-residential ground floor and residential 
units above, overlooking the beach.

Ground floor uses Building heights

Typical net densities

Kidbrooke Village, London, 
3 storey terraced homes.

Low Density (Suburban) Medium (Urban) High (city)

Typology Semi-Detached
Short-Terrace (max 5 dwellings per 

terrace)
Courtyard Townhouse Terrace Maisonette Apartment

Density > 30 30 -50 40 – 60 50 - 75 75 -100 75 - 150

Street Typology Tertiary Secondary / Tertiary Mews Secondary / Tertiary Fastrack / Secondary Fastrack / Secondary

Car Parking In-Curtilage Side Parking In-Curtilage / On Street In-Curtilage Mews Garage On Street Communal Undercroft / On Street Communal Undercroft

Amenity/Private Open Space Front and Rear Garden Front and Rear Garden Courtyard and Terrace(s) Rear Garden
Terrace & Secure Access to 

Communal Garden
Balcony & Secure Access to 

Communal Garden

Defensible Zone Typology Soft Soft Soft Mid Full Full

Cycle parking Rear Garden - Secure and Covered Rear Garden - Secure and Covered Mews Garage Rear Garden - Secure and Covered Communal Built Secure Store Communal Built Secure Store

Bin Store Typology Rear Garden - Built and Covered Rear Garden - Built and Covered Built and Covered Rear Garden - Built and Covered Communal Built and Covered Communal Built and Covered

Indicative typical block structures

77

Ebbsfleets Implementation Framework:  Public Presentation Draft // October 2016

Fig. E2. Map diagram of fully defended masterplan

Fig. E3. Diagram of proposed ground floor uses for fully-
defended masterplan

Fig. E4. Diagram of proposed building heights for fully-
defended masterplan

Fig. E5. Examples of good quality, well-designed homes relevant to the character and built form of Jaywick Sands

Initial masterplan options  |  Option 1  |  Fully protected

Key

School

Residential - Private

Residential - Council housing

Retail

Leisure

Work space

Key

School

Residential - Private

Residential - Council housing

Retail

Leisure

Work space

Key

2 storeys

4 storeys

Key

2 storeys

4 storeys

Ground floor uses Building heights

P
age 130



Page 101

Jaywick Sands Place Plan: Final Report

September 2023 HAT Projects

Appendix E

E1.3. Fully defended scenario - costs

Jaywick Sands Masterplan

OPTION 1

Based on MaccreanorLavington Masterplan dated 26 March 2019 and HAT e-mail 12 April 2019

Non Resi

Areas Private (70%) Council (30%) Total Leisure Retail Work space School

GEA (m2) 60,292 25,839 86,131 1,215 1,241 780 1,600 90,967
Units 603 258 861 861

Indicative Costs

GEA (m2) £133,847,574 £57,363,246 £191,210,820
Units £109,932,480 £47,113,920 £157,046,400

Average £121,890,000 £52,239,000 £174,129,000 £1,730,000 £1,767,000 £1,610,000 £4,586,000 £183,822,000

Abnormals
Road Infrastructure

6m 1,000 m £1,440 £/m £1,440,000 £1,440,000
4.5m 630 m £1,080 £/m £680,400 £680,400

Culvert
2 Nr £60,000 Item £120,000 £120,000
6 Nr £30,000 Item £180,000 £180,000

Open Space Allowance
68,700 m2 30 £/m2 £2,061,000 £2,061,000

Public Plaza
35,000 m2 180 £/m2 £6,300,000 £6,300,000

Total (Rounded to nearest million) £195,000,000

Info for costing

Residential Rouses Farm Add for increased difficulty
say 20%

Units 950 £152,200.26 £152,000.00 £30,400.00 £182,400
M2 78,205 £1,848.86 £1,850.00 £370.00 £2,220

Non Resi Work Space Median £1,588 Add for External Works and 
Contingencies

30% £476.40 £2,064

Retail Median £1,095 Add for External Works and 
Contingencies

30% £328.50 £1,424

Leisure Median £1,095 Add for External Works and 
Contingencies

30% £328.50 £1,424

Primary School Primary Schools 
BCIS

Median £2,293 Add for External Works and 
Contingencies

25% £573.25 £2,866

Qualifications / Exclusions

1 No allowance for off-site flood or ecological mitigation measures. 8 All costs are subject to further investigations over ground conditions and any contamination found.
2 Allowances for culverts, not bridges
3 No allowance for off-site reinforcement of external service or Highway infrastructure
4 The above figures are exclusive of professional fees
5 The above figures are based on current levels (1Q 2019)
6 Contingency in Resi figures as per Rouse Farm.
7 Contingency in Non-Resi and Primary School

Residential

£144,590,244.00

Total

190412-Masterplan Costs Rev A.xlsx Page 1 of 2
PD/JH/C5739
12 April 2019

P
age 131



Page 102

Jaywick Sands Place Plan: Final Report

September 2023 HAT Projects

Appendix E

E2.1. Undefended scenario: masterplan

The undefended masterplan assumes no further flood defences 
are provided within the timeframe required to allow the 'fully 
defended' scenario to be developed. This therefore requires the 
development itself to be flood proofed. This scenario envisages a 
mix of the two possible approaches to flood proofing:

• Raising the ground level - in a central area of Tudor Fields
• Raising habitable rooms above ground level elsewhere

In addition a raised access road is created to allow emergency 
egress and access in a flood event as the current street network will 
not be passable. Fluvial flooding is mitigated through a landscape-
led design which retains the existing ditch network, creating a 
'green chain' in and around the development. In this scenario, a 
new street is created behind the 'tandem' existing plots behind 
Meadow Way, which would allow them to be 're-fronted' onto this 
rather than accessed as at present, behind other homes.

The block layout on the masterplan drawing is indicative only and 
does not show the variety of typologies which would be employed 
to reach a c. 40dph net density on the site. The village centre is 
created as in the other scenario.

Homes
• c. 820 homes assuming around 40dph net density
• Assuming 30% affordable homes, this creates 246 affordable 

homes.

Other
• c. 3000 m2 of non-residential uses (retail, leisure, workspace) 

included.
• 0.44ha site area for school allowed for but no cost allowance 

made for build.

Viability (at 2019 costs and values)
• Total costs: £290m
• GDV: £233m
• Residual land value (without allowance for developer profit): 

-£57m
• Developer profit: £44m (based on 15% of total costs i.e. 

industry norm)
• Residual land value (including allowance for developer profit) 

-£101m

Notes on development appraisal
• Appraisal excludes all costs mentioned previously (off-site 

ecological mitigation, s106, flood defence infrastructure off-site)
• The land has no value/cost.
• Policy compliant mix including 30% Affordable Housing (value 

based on ratio from Rouse Farm values)
• Houses are c. 100 sqm GEA on average
• On costs at 20% including finance are included
• Contingency at 10% is included
• Development Management costs are included at 3%

Assumed values
• Residential - £3,330 (sqm) (based on Tudor Estate values)
• Leisure  rent (sqm) £75  (8% yield) (based on Clacton values with 

an adjustment)
• Retail rent (sqm) £250   (8% yield)
• Workspace rent (sqm) £80 (10%  yield)

Fig. E6. Map diagram of undefended masterplan

    © This drawing is the copyright of Maccreanor Lavington Architects and must not be reproduced without written permission. The moral rights of the author are hereby asserted.
+31 (010) 443 9060

www.maccreanorlavington.com
Vijverhofstraat 47, 3032 SB, Rotterdam

Masterplan Option 2
22/03/2019

Scale 1:500 @ A3 100m0 50m

Initial masterplan options  |  Option 2  |  Consequence-limiting

A consequence-limiting masterplan, which ultimately offers less flood 
protection through infrastructural / landscape works and instead deals 
with flood mitigation in the building design themselves – either via raised 
floor levels, or avoiding habitable rooms on ground floors, or by raising 
some ground to become a terps connected to an escape road / route

Raised road / escape route 
- height TBC

New village centre near 
seafront, surrounded 
by larger mixed-use 
buildings 

Open space retained and cultivated as 
public landscaped park – it also offers 
potential for wildlife enhancement and/
or water / fluvial flood management

Raised ground / terps built on 
existing ‘high’ ground 

Green / open corridors 
could extend through 
masterplan 

New perimeter road 
allows new frontage 
/ access to existing 
housing which these 
premises currently do 
not possess  

New primary school

Area for 
council 
housing

    © This drawing is the copyright of Maccreanor Lavington Architects and must not be reproduced without written permission. The moral rights of the author are hereby asserted.
+31 (010) 443 9060

www.maccreanorlavington.com
Vijverhofstraat 47, 3032 SB, Rotterdam

Masterplan Option 2
22/03/2019

Scale 1:500 @ A3 100m0 50m

P
age 132



Page 103

Jaywick Sands Place Plan: Final Report

September 2023 HAT Projects

Appendix E

E2.2. Undefended scenario: housing design

Possible arrangment of dwellings

Type C

2B4P 90.4m²

2B4P 78.0m²

30
00

2B4P 90.4m²

Cluster 3
2B4P 78m²

8m² 8m²

7m² 7m²

22000

22
00

0

2B4P 90.4m²

2B4P 78.0m²

30
00

2B4P 90.4m²

Cluster 3
2B4P 78m²

8m² 8m²

7m² 7m²

22000

22
00

0

Sections showing alternative optionfor car 
parking within the dwellings

Possible arrangment of dwellings

Type B

11.3m² 12.5m²

8.1m²

10000

12.1m² 8.7m²

terrace

30
00

garden

work space /
hobby room
24.0m²

terrace

garden
work space /
hobby room
24.0m²

30
00

garden
work space /
hobby room
8.3m²garden

work space /
hobby room

8.3m²

2B4P 90.4m²

2B4P 78.0m²

30
00

2B4P 90.4m²

Cluster 2
ground floor option 2

Cluster 2
ground floor option 1

Cluster 3

kitchen / living / dining
29.1m²

kitchen / living / dining
29.1m²

2B4P 95.2m²

2B4P 95.0m²

2B4P 95.2m²

2B4P 95.0m²

22000

22
00

0

2B4P 78m²

8m² 8m²

7m² 7m²

22000

22
00

0

11.3m² 12.5m²

8.1m²

10000

12.1m² 8.7m²

terrace

30
00

garden

work space /
hobby room
24.0m²

terrace

garden
work space /
hobby room
24.0m²

30
00

garden
work space /
hobby room
8.3m²garden

work space /
hobby room

8.3m²

2B4P 90.4m²

2B4P 78.0m²

30
00

2B4P 90.4m²

Cluster 2
ground floor option 2

Cluster 2
ground floor option 1

Cluster 3

kitchen / living / dining
29.1m²

kitchen / living / dining
29.1m²

2B4P 95.2m²

2B4P 95.0m²

2B4P 95.2m²

2B4P 95.0m²

22000

22
00

0

2B4P 78m²

8m² 8m²

7m² 7m²

22000

22
00

0

Sections showing alternative options for 
communal garden at ground level, or a 
solid raised plinth at first floor

Possible arrangment of dwellings

Type A

terrace

work space /
hobby room
guest room
26.4m²

work space /
hobby room 29.0m²

office /
hobby room
12.0m²

12.1m²8.7m²

office /
hobby room

12.0m²

space for
potential
ensuite
bathroom

work space /
hobby room
guest room

26.7m²

space for
potential
ensuite

bathroom

30
00

11.3m² 12.5m²

8.1m²

10000

12.1m² 8.7m²

terrace

30
00

30
00

30
00

garden

kitchen / living / dining
30.1m²

work space /
hobby room
24.0m²

terrace

garden
work space /
hobby room
24.0m²

30
00

garden
work space /
hobby room
8.3m²garden

work space /
hobby room

8.3m²

2B4P 90.4m²

2B4P 78.0m²

30
00

2B4P 90.4m²

12.1m² 12.1m²

8.0m²

work space /
hobby room
guest room
26.7m²

space for
potential
ensuite
bathroom

Cluster 1
ground floor option 2

Cluster 1
ground floor option 1

Cluster 1
ground floor option 3

Cluster 2
ground floor option 2

Cluster 2
ground floor option 1

Cluster 3

garden garden

kitchen / living / dining
29.1m²

kitchen / living / dining
29.1m²

2B4P 95.2m²

2B4P 95.0m²

2B4P 95.2m²

2B4P 95.0m²

22000

22
00

0

2B4P 78m²

8m² 8m²

7m² 7m²

terrace

kitchen / living / dining
30.1m²

22000

22
00

0

14500

20000

terrace

work space /
hobby room
guest room
26.4m²

work space /
hobby room 29.0m²

office /
hobby room
12.0m²

12.1m²8.7m²

office /
hobby room

12.0m²

space for
potential
ensuite
bathroom

work space /
hobby room
guest room

26.7m²

space for
potential
ensuite

bathroom

30
00

11.3m² 12.5m²

8.1m²

10000

12.1m² 8.7m²

terrace

30
00

30
00

30
00

garden

kitchen / living / dining
30.1m²

work space /
hobby room
24.0m²

terrace

garden
work space /
hobby room
24.0m²

30
00

garden
work space /
hobby room
8.3m²garden

work space /
hobby room

8.3m²

2B4P 90.4m²

2B4P 78.0m²

30
00

2B4P 90.4m²

12.1m² 12.1m²

8.0m²

work space /
hobby room
guest room
26.7m²

space for
potential
ensuite
bathroom

Cluster 1
ground floor option 2

Cluster 1
ground floor option 1

Cluster 1
ground floor option 3

Cluster 2
ground floor option 2

Cluster 2
ground floor option 1

Cluster 3

garden garden

kitchen / living / dining
29.1m²

kitchen / living / dining
29.1m²

2B4P 95.2m²

2B4P 95.0m²

2B4P 95.2m²

2B4P 95.0m²

22000

22
00

0

2B4P 78m²

8m² 8m²

7m² 7m²

terrace

kitchen / living / dining
30.1m²

22000

22
00

0

14500

20000

terrace

work space /
hobby room
guest room
26.4m²

work space /
hobby room 29.0m²

office /
hobby room
12.0m²

12.1m²8.7m²

office /
hobby room

12.0m²

space for
potential
ensuite
bathroom

work space /
hobby room
guest room

26.7m²

space for
potential
ensuite

bathroom

30
00

11.3m² 12.5m²

8.1m²

10000

12.1m² 8.7m²

terrace

30
00

30
00

30
00

garden

kitchen / living / dining
30.1m²

work space /
hobby room
24.0m²

terrace

garden
work space /
hobby room
24.0m²

30
00

garden
work space /
hobby room
8.3m²garden

work space /
hobby room

8.3m²

2B4P 90.4m²

2B4P 78.0m²

30
00

2B4P 90.4m²

12.1m² 12.1m²

8.0m²

work space /
hobby room
guest room
26.7m²

space for
potential
ensuite
bathroom

Cluster 1
ground floor option 2

Cluster 1
ground floor option 1

Cluster 1
ground floor option 3

Cluster 2
ground floor option 2

Cluster 2
ground floor option 1

Cluster 3

garden garden

kitchen / living / dining
29.1m²

kitchen / living / dining
29.1m²

2B4P 95.2m²

2B4P 95.0m²

2B4P 95.2m²

2B4P 95.0m²

22000

22
00

0

2B4P 78m²

8m² 8m²

7m² 7m²

terrace

kitchen / living / dining
30.1m²

22000

22
00

0

14500

20000

Fig. E7. Raising ground levels between buildings to create 
amenity space accessed from habitable rooms above street level

Fig. E8. Undercroft parking below a raised amenity deck

Fig. E9. 'Pavilion' building raised above ground level with parking 
or non-habitable shared facilities at ground level.

Precedents
Landscape

Plan Tide, Dordrecht,  
The Netherlands

 – formerly a polder - the dikes of the polder were excavated in 
order to let the water flow in

 – the water ises and falls by a metre twice a day

 – the homes are built on concrete slabs resting on posts, and the 
water moves under them

Precedent
Ketendrecht, Rotterdam, Maccreanor 
Lavington

A terraced building raised from a floodplain 
to create private terraced areas. The raised 
nature of the terraces creates more privacy 
for the terraces.

Precedent
Heerenwoud, Heerenveen, Noard 
Architectuur

A building build into the landscape 
allowing garages on the ground floor and 
living spaces and terraces above

Precedent
Nieuw Terbregge, Rotterdam, Mecanoo

Design approaches for new development on the larger sites should 
learn from best practice nationally and internationally. Examples 
of potential approaches are shown here but the preferred approach 
can only be developed with a fuller understanding of the flood 
datum required for the site.

These images show reference projects for each of the three 
strategies that can be used to flood proof development in the 
absence of raised sea defences:

• Landscape shaping - changing ground levels, raising areas of 
the site out of the flood datum so that homes can be partially 
or fully build with habitable space at grade with entrances and 
streets.

• Raised ground floors with undercroft parking or other non-
habitable ground floor uses - creating raised decks to provide 
shared or private amenity space, or raised 'pavilions' using the 
floodable green space around as amenity.

• Flood resilient construction at ground floor level

Fig. E10. Example of landscape shaping with undercroft parking 

Fig. E11. Example of flood-resilient construction at ground 
floor level

Fig. E12. Example of undercroft parking below a raised 
amenity deck

Fig. E13. Example of 'pavilion' building raised above ground level

P
age 133



Page 104

Jaywick Sands Place Plan: Final Report

September 2023 HAT Projects

Appendix E

E2.3. Undefended scenario: costs

Jaywick Sands Masterplan

OPTION 2

Based on MaccreanorLavington Masterplan dated 26 March 2019 and HAT e-mail 12 April 2019

Non Resi

Areas Private (70%) Council (30%) Total Leisure Retail Work space School

GEA (m2) 57,355 24,581 81,935 1,215 1,241 780 1,600 86,771
Units 573 246 819 819

Indicative Costs

GEA (m2) £127,326,990 £54,568,710 £181,895,700
Units £104,569,920 £44,815,680 £149,385,600

Average £115,948,000 £49,692,000 £165,641,000 £1,730,000 £1,767,000 £1,610,000 £4,586,000 £175,334,000

Abnormals
Resilient measures

49% of Resi 400 Nr £24,000 £/Nr £9,600,000 £9,600,000
Raised Road Buildup

3.5m high (assumed) 700 m £2,310 £/m £1,617,000 £1,617,000

Road Infrastructure

6m 700 m £1,440 £/m £1,008,000 £1,008,000
4.5m 1,530 m £1,080 £/m £1,652,400 £1,652,400

Culvert
3 Nr £60,000 Item £180,000 £180,000
6 Nr £30,000 Item £180,000 £180,000

Raised Terps

3m 60,000 m2 £180 £/m2 £10,800,000 £10,800,000

Open Space Allowance
51,300 m2 30 £/m2 £1,539,000 £1,539,000

Public Plaza
35,000 m2 180 £/m2 £6,300,000 £6,300,000

Total (Rounded to nearest million) £208,000,000
Info for costing

Residential Rouses Farm Add for increased difficulty
say 20%

Units 950 £152,200.26 £152,000.00 £30,400.00 £182,400
M2 78,205 £1,848.86 £1,850.00 £370.00 £2,220

Non Resi Work Space Median £1,588 Add for External Works and 
Contingencies

30% £476.40 £2,064

Retail Median £1,095 Add for External Works and 
Contingencies

30% £328.50 £1,424

Leisure Median £1,095 Add for External Works and 
Contingencies

30% £328.50 £1,424

Primary Schools 
BCIS

Median £2,293 Add for External Works and 
Contingencies

25% £573.25 £2,866

Qualifications / Exclusions

1 No allowance for off-site flood or ecological mitigation measures. 8 Assumed that 75% of residetial properties required flood defence resilience.  
2 Allowances for culverts, not bridges 9 £20k + prelims and contingencies allowed per property for flood defence
3 No allowance for off-site reinforcement of external service or Highway infrastructure 10 All costs are subject to further investigations over ground conditions and any contamination found.
4 The above figures are exclusive of professional fees
5 The above figures are based on current levels (1Q 2019)
6 Contingency in Resi figures as per Rouse Farm.
7 Contingency in Non-Resi and Primary School

£144,590,244.00

Residential Total

190412-Masterplan Costs Rev A.xlsx Page 2 of 2
PD/JH/C5739
12 April 2019

P
age 134



Page 105

Jaywick Sands Place Plan: Final Report

September 2023 HAT Projects

Appendix E

HAT Projects Sketch
Jaywick Sands
171_HAT_SK_180123_SitePlan
1:5000@A3

HAT Projects Sketch
Jaywick Sands
171_HAT_SK_180123_SitePlan
1:5000@A3

PHASE 1
• New market led homes adjacent to Tudor Estate (market sale)
• New council/social rent homes adjacent to Grasslands (c. 100+ 

affordable rent)

PHASE 2
• New market led homes adjacent to Tudor Estate (market sale)
• Redevelop c.100 plots in Brooklands/Village as PRS (effectively 

these form an affordable tenure) - focus on central area
• New school site/local community infrastructure/services e.g. 

supermarket

HAT Projects Sketch
Jaywick Sands
171_HAT_SK_180123_SitePlan
1:5000@A3

HAT Projects Sketch
Jaywick Sands
171_HAT_SK_180123_SitePlan
1:5000@A3

PHASE 3
• New market led homes adjacent to Tudor Estate (market sale + 

30% affordable)
• Further c. 100 homes in Brooklands/Village
• Leisure/mixed use seafront development + public realm 

PHASE 4
• Continued redevelopment of Brooklands/Grasslands/Village 

plots

Area under 
construction

Undeveloped 
TDC land

E3. Delivery and potential phasing

Delivery of the residential and commercial development in the 
Place Plan is challenging due to the viability issues resulting from 
the low values in Brooklands and Grasslands in particular.

The optimum delivery approach would be for the public sector 
to develop for long term rent (overcoming the scarcity of in-
house resource by using an external development manager). 
Comprehensive regeneration, combined with secure long term 
flood protection, is likely to bring an increase in values, although 
this will take a number of years to achieve. This would be expected 
to deliver below market, but positive, financial returns over the 
long term in addition to the social outcomes. 

This approach is also optimal because the public sector has the 
lowest cost of capital. Funding from other sectors is likely to be 
more expensive. However an alternative approach would be for 
the public sector to guarantee index linked rents over time which 
would allow private sector investors to provide capital at a higher, 
but still relatively low cost.

Some individual development elements might be delivered by 
third sector delivery partners e.g. supported housing or affordable 
housing. Some housing might be deliverable to the north of the 
Place Plan area (where residential values are higher) by the private 
sector subject to highways access being secured (potentially by 
compulsory acquisition) and infrastructure capacity and cost. This 
area is however still subject to flood risk.

Development within Grasslands and Brooklands, which is likely to 
be on individual (or potentially double) plots, is currently required 
to be flood resilient and is mainly on poor quality ground requiring 
piled foundations, both of which issues raise build costs. For most 
locations, at current residential values, it is unlikely that building 
for sale, with the possible exception of sea front plots, is viable. So 
here again a public sector led approach, for long term rent, is likely 
to be the optimum delivery approach. Again the rental guarantee 
approach is also possible. Commercial development is also of 
marginal viability so the same issues arise.

Area handed over/
occupied

Existing plots under 
redevelopment

Construction 
access

Residential/
in use access

Fig. E14. Diagram showing potential phasing of development

P
age 135



Page 106

Jaywick Sands Place Plan: Final Report

September 2023 HAT Projects

Appendix E

E4. Further site assembly required to support Tudor Fields development

8.8m wide

3.5m wide

substation

A

B

C

D

E

A
• Current ownership not wide 

enough for 2 lane street (6m) 
plus 2m pavement either side

• Vehicle tracking also likely to 
be an issue

• Acquisition of plot indicated 
would facilitate the desired 
vehicle access.

E
• Logical location for pedestrian/

cycle link to be made

• Acquisition of part of this plot 
would facilitate this.

B
• Logical location for connection into 

existing street network for vehicle 
traffic

• Acquisition of plots indicated would 
facilitate this

C
• Possible location for pedestrian/cycle 

link to existing street network

• Acquisition of plot indicated would 
facilitate this (1 full plot plus part of 
other plot - assuming new street at the 
rear of the tandem plots is created as 
part of wider masterplan)

D
• Current ownership not wide enough for 

anything other than pedestrian link

• Relocation of substation and 
acquisition of its curtilage would 
facilitate 2 lane vehicle access plus 
footway either side

Currently none of the existing points of access onto the 
Tudor Fields area, are adequate for vehicle and pedestrian 
access.

This page shows the potential site assembly required to 
deliver an integrated and connected community which is 
one of the key aims of the Jaywick Sands Coastal Village 
Vision.

Fig. E15. Map diagram of further site assembly required for 
Tudor Field development

P
age 136



Page 107

Jaywick Sands Place Plan: Final Report

September 2023 HAT Projects

Appendix F

Appendix F. Outline masterplan for development on land either side of Lotus Way - rejected option
A high level outline masterplan and capacity study has been 
developed for the land within the settlement boundary owned by 
Tendring District Council. This comprises land either side of Lotus 
Way and would link up the Village, Brooklands and Grasslands. 
The site has never been developed although there are some utilities 
infrastructure installations.

The principal challenges of a masterplan for this site include:
• Linking the different parts of the community together 

successfully, while limiting negative impacts on existing 
residents who currently enjoy open landscape views and a lack 
of neighbours

• Accommodating the existing utilities infrastructure 
installations (pumping stations and substations) within the 
layout

• How to address the drainage ditches and dyke around 
Brooklands, creating green space which can accommodate 
sustainable drainage features while being an attractive, safe and 
functional environment for residents to enjoy.

• Surface water drainage and attenuation will be a key challenge 
as the soil conditions do not allow for the use of soakaways - so 
attenuation features should be designed in from the start

• Accommodating parking at a reasonable level without creating a 
parking-dominated environment

The indicative masterplan has been developed to accommodate the 
following brief and assumptions:

• Flood defences will not be upgraded prior to the 
implementation of the masterplan through a planning 
application, so development must include non-habitable ground 
floor space. 

• Space to be provided for uses that address identified 
infrastructure and service deficits locally, including early years 
provision, GP surgery/healthcare hub, supermarket, community 
library as well as open space including allotments

• Mix of housing types and sizes to meet the needs of residents 
to be rehoused from substandard properties while generating 
a balanced community with housing for single people, couples, 
families, elderly residents and those requiring adapted dwellings 
(M4(3) homes). Housing to be at least 50% affordable in 

line with the objective of rehousing residents of substandard 
housing, most of whom are in receipt of Local Housing 
Allowance

• Open space to be a minimum of 10% of site area in accordance 
with Local Plan policy.

• Masterplan to work around the workspace and covered market 
project which is currently on site, although it is envisaged that 
in the future that facility could be relocated elsewhere and its 
site redeveloped for more intensive, higher value uses when 
values improve as a result of the wider regeneration.

This brief is oriented to providing regeneration benefits to Jaywick 

Sands. It presents both challenges from a viability perspective and 
also opportunities to create a mix of uses including space for social 
infrastructure which can offer real benefits to the community of 
Jaywick Sands.

Area of development sites:

North of Lotus Way: 48,774m2 / 4.88ha
South of Lotus Way: 17,336m2 / 1.73ha

Total: 66,110m2 / 6.61ha

Settlement boundary (adopted Local Plan)

Development site boundary

Fig. F1. Indicative masterplan

P
age 137



Page 108

Jaywick Sands Place Plan: Final Report

September 2023 HAT Projects

Appendix F

F1. Outline masterplan concept and layout

1. 'Green link' with connection to Local Wildlife Site

2. Open space including allotments at the heart of the community

3. New pedestrian and cycle link into the Village area, increasing 
permeability

4. Retain existing attenuation pond as focus for new housing at the 
eastern end of the site

5. All streets to be a 'home zone' / 'Woonerf' design to slow vehicle 
movement to walking pace and creating space for informal on-street 
play and recreation

6. Small plot pattern creating characteristically 'Jaywick' development 
form on a more generous scale 

7. Short 'closes' of semi-detached and detached homes encourages 
neighbourliness - ending in views to the open landscape in a similar 
way to existing Jaywick streets

8. New 'village centre' with apartments above E class and other uses 
(supermarket, healthcare, early years) which use the requirement for 
non-habitable ground floor space effectively

9. Village 'square' as a sheltered and welcoming social space

10. Parking for non-residential uses - using vehicle access point created 
as part of workspace development currently in construction.

The indicative masterplan takes a context-led approach to 
create a scale, form and typology of development which would be 
appropriate for Jaywick Sands and enhance what is positive and 
distinctive about its character. 

Working with the existing landscape features - the banks, drainage 
ditches and ponds that are so functionally important, as well as 
part of the unique character of this part of Jaywick,the siting and 
function of new public open space is used as a way to link the 
different parts of the community together. The masterplan also 

seeks to create visual and walking links out to the wider area. It 
is envisaged that Tudor Fields, which is also owned by Tendring 
District Council, would be the site for biodiversity enhancement 
as well as increased public access to capitalise on its already 
recognised status as a Local Wildlife Site. 

A new village centre is created between Brooklands and the 
Village, building on the activity already taking place with the 
workspace and covered market project. In this area, the non-
habitable ground floor space is ideal for creating a mixed-use 

and vibrant centre with three-storey buildings accommodating 
apartments above active ground floor uses to create density and 
activity. 

On the north side of Lotus Way, the small plot, gridded pattern 
of Jaywick is extended while expanding the plot dimensions to 
accommodate more generously sized homes and gardens. Here the 
predominant typology would be semi-detached homes with garage, 
home office and ancillary utility space at ground floor level.

Fig. F2. Indicative masterplan

1 10

1

1

2

3

9

8

3

4

5

7
7

6

P
age 138



Page 109

Jaywick Sands Place Plan: Final Report

September 2023 HAT Projects

Appendix F

F2. Housing typology A: 3 storey houses (non habitable ground floor)

This typology uses the ground floor space below the design flood 
datum for non-habitable uses linked to the home above - for 
example, garage, utility/storage space, home office. This creates 
homes that are well tailored to a coastal/rural lifestyle with space 
for cycles, paddleboards, etc. Any home office use would need 
to be strictly regulated and controlled to ensure that it did not 
become used as habitable space over time.

Semi-detached typologies (and 'link attached) homes are more 
cost effective to build than detached homes, due to a lower 
ratio of external wall, while offering many of the advantages of 
a detached home such as access to rear gardens without going 
through the interior of the home itself. Short terraces (4-8 
homes) could also be a useful typology for Jaywick Sands and are 
more efficient still.

'Chalet style' gable-fronted designs would build on the typical 
characteristics of Jaywick Sands while bringing a contemporary 
inflection. The characteristic variety in housing design in the area 
can be achieved through using a range of pattern book designs as 
well as through custom-and self-build for which Jaywick may be 
a good location. 

Fig. F3. Location for housing typology A in indicative masterplan

Fig. F4. Examples of good quality, well-designed 3-storey homes

P
age 139



Page 110

Jaywick Sands Place Plan: Final Report

September 2023 HAT Projects

Appendix F

F3. Housing typology B: 3 storey apartment buildings (non habitable ground floor)

This typology comprises apartments on two floors above ground 
floor non-residential uses. 

In the central part of the site where a focus for commercial and 
social activity is to be created, ground floor uses would be mainly 
E-class uses including local shops/supermarket, community 
facilities such as early years provision, GP/healthcare, library, 
alongside business units/workspace to let. 

On the edges and on the north and west of Lotus Way, ground 
floor uses could include some garaging/parking as well as 
communal facilities for building residents such as shared laundry 
facilities, co-working, event space/party room, storage and 
utilities such as refuse stores and cycle parking. 

Designs aim to create activity at ground floor level without being 
dominated by garaging. Apartments above would be designed 
with balconies and shared communal garden/courtyard space 
would be provided at ground level. Roofs should be used for 
photovoltaic panels as part of lowering carbon emissions.

Fig. F5. Location for housing typology A in indicative masterplan

Fig. F6. Examples of good quality, well-designed 3-storey homes with non-habitable ground floor

P
age 140



Page 111

Jaywick Sands Place Plan: Final Report

September 2023 HAT Projects

Appendix F

F4. Streets and open spaces

Streets and spaces would be designed to create a people-centred 
environment with an active public realm incorporating formal and 
informal opportunities for play and recreation.

Streets would be designed to 'Woonerf' (living streets) principles in 
order to slow vehicle speeds down and encourage walking, cycling 
and use of the public realm.

The central 'square' would be designed as a multifunctional hard 
landscape space activated through the active frontages of the 
ground floor commercial and community uses.

Green spaces would be designed as multi-functional and multi-
generational spaces for formal and informal play, sport and 
recreation. As allotments are a current deficit and as the existing 
Dig for Jaywick programme is successful, an area for potential 
allotments has been identified.

All streets and open spaces would be designed with integrated 
SuDS features.

Fig. F7. Examples of high quality street, open space and public realm design

P
age 141



Page 112

Jaywick Sands Place Plan: Final Report

September 2023 HAT Projects

Appendix F

F5. Amount and mix of housing and non-residential uses

A
B

C D E F G

H
K

L

M

J

Parcel No of 
homes

A 25

B 16

C 4

D 7

E 8

F 8

G 15

H 24

J 6

K 21

L 30

M 58

Total 222

Apartment buildings Houses

Large Medium Small 2 bed 3 bed 4 bed

Quantity 2 6 1 36 56 36

GIA (residential spec  
space)

984m2 744m2 456m2 80m2 110m2 130m2

GIA (non-residential 
spec space)

492m2 372m2 228m2 40m2 55m2 65m2

GEA (residential spec 
space)

1,060m2 808m2 506m2 95m2 128m2 149m2

GEA (non residential 
spec space)

530m2 404m2 253m2 47m2 64m2 75m2

Total GEA per 
building type

3,180m2 7,273m2 759m2 5,127m2 10,720m2 8,067m2

1b2p flat 
(50m2 GIA)

2b2p flat 
(70m2 GIA)

2b2p house 
(80m2 GIA)

3b6p house 
(110m2 GIA)

4b8p house 
(130m2 GIA)

Quantity 42 52 36 56 36

88

% of total units 19% 40% 25% 16%

Target mix 
(blended across 
tenure)

20% 40% 25% 15%

Dwellings per hectare (gross site area): 34

Dwellings per hectare (site area net of public open space, inclusive of roads and private open 
space): 43

Bedspaces per hectare (gross): 160

Non-residential floorspace below houses to be garage/carport/
utility/home office space.

 50% of non-residential floorspace below apartments to be used 
for parking and communal shared facilities for residents.

Remaining non-residential floorspace to be E class and 
community uses to meet masterplan brief and address local 
infrastructure deficits

Notional non-residential uses:

Supermarket (assume mid size Tesco Express or 
similar)

400m2

Early years nursery (assume 24 place) 180m2

GP surgery/ healthcare hub (6 consulting rooms+ 
ancillary)

510m2

Library (assume similar to Golf Green Hall) 150m2

E class units (commercial/social enterprise) 482m2

Total 1,722m2

Fig. F8. Map key of parcels

P
age 142



Page 113

Jaywick Sands Place Plan: Final Report

September 2023 HAT Projects

Appendix F

F6. Open space and streets

A - public green open space 424m2

B - public green open space 
(incl. allotments)

6,118m2

C - public open green space 3,759m2

D - public open green space 2,008m2

E - public square (area 
includes parking and access 
route)

2,479m2

F - public landscaped car 
parking (additional to 
provision currently being 
delivered as part of market 
scheme)

1,952m2

G - communal open green 
space (residents only?)

2,379m2

Total open green space 12,680m2 / 1.27ha

Total public hard landscape 
(not including car park)

2,479m2 / 0.25ha

Public open space as % of gross site area: 23%

Roads: 1128 linear metres, 6m wide

A

B

C

D

E

F

G

Fig. F9. Map key of open spaces

P
age 143



Page 114

Jaywick Sands Place Plan: Final Report

September 2023 HAT Projects

List of figures

Fig. 1. Map showing components of the Jaywick Sands Place Plan 
and the Local Plan boundaries ............................................................  7

Fig. 2. Map showing location of Jaywick Sands in the wider area  
..................................................................................................................... 10

Fig. 3.  Development of Jaywick Sands. Source: historic map 
records.......................................................................................................  11

Fig. 4.  Jaywick Sands, c1930 ©Unknown .......................................  11

Fig. 5.  Estate office, 1936 ©Unknown ............................................  11

Fig. 6.  Vintage postcard, 1950s ©Unknown ..................................  11

Fig. 7.  Development of Jaywick Sands. Source: OS historic map 
records.......................................................................................................  12

Fig. 8.  Flood in 1953 .............................................................................  12

Fig. 9.  The beach, 1980s ......................................................................  12

Fig. 10.  Sunspot, 1950s  .......................................................................  12

Fig. 11.  Map showing boundaries of Lower Super Output Areas in 
Jaywick Sands .........................................................................................  13

Fig. 12.  Sea Holly Way .........................................................................  13

Fig. 13. View of the grassy dunes at Jaywick beach ......................  13

Fig. 14. Diagram showing age profile ................................................  14

Fig. 15.  Diagram showing age profile from Jaywick LSOA level    
ONS (2012): 2011 Census data .............................................................................................................................................  14

Fig. 16.  Diagram showing health profile at Jaywick LSOA level  
..................................................................................................................... 14

Fig. 17.  Diagram showing qualifications profile.  ..........................  15

Fig. 18.  Diagram showing employment profile  .............................  15

Fig. 19.  Map showing distance of key services and amenities for 
Jaywick wider area .................................................................................  16

Fig. 20.  Map showing distance of key services and amenities for 
Jaywick. ....................................................................................................  17

Fig. 21. Existing movement network ................................................  18

Fig. 22. Jaywick Sands seafront ..........................................................  18

Fig. 23. Map of environmental designations in the wider area 
around Jaywick Sands. Source: Natural England and Historic 

England data ............................................................................................  19

Fig. 24. View of the beach and Martello Tower ..............................  19

Fig. 25. View of the grassy dunes at Jaywick beach ......................  19

Fig. 26. Map of local environmental designations in Jaywick Sands 
..................................................................................................................... 20

Fig. 27. View of Tudor Fields (Local Wildlife Site) .......................  20

Fig. 28. Flood risk and defences at Jaywick Sands. Source: 2015 
Jaywick Sands Stategic Flood Risk Assessment, 2023 ................  21

Fig. 29. Map showing depths of inundation predicted in a climate 
change to Climate Change scenario for a 0.5% AEP event. Source: 
Environment Agency, 2022.................................................................  22

Fig. 30.  Map showing extent of the flood 'cell' in which Jaywick 
Sands is located. Upgrades to all the defences shown would be 
required to continue to protect Jaywick Sands in the future. 
Source: Jaywick SFRA, 2023 ..............................................................  22

Fig. 31.  Buick Avenue ..........................................................................  23

Fig. 32.  Beach and the wall .................................................................  23

Fig. 33.  Brooklands ...............................................................................  23

Fig. 34.  House on the seafront ...........................................................  23

Fig. 35.  Village house ............................................................................  23

Fig. 36.  Grasslands ................................................................................  24

Fig. 37.  Grasslands map .......................................................................  24

Fig. 38.  Plot diagram - Brooklands/Grasslands .............................  24

Fig. 39.  Plot diagram - Brooklands seafront ...................................  24

Fig. 40.  The Village ...............................................................................  25

Fig. 41.  The Village map ......................................................................  25

Fig. 42. Plot diagram - The Village typical streets .........................  25

Fig. 43.  Plot diagram - The Village seafront ...................................  25

Fig. 44.  Tudor Estate ............................................................................  26

Fig. 45.  Tudor Estate map ...................................................................  26

Fig. 46.  Tudor Estate street ................................................................  26

Fig. 47.  Tudor Estate street ................................................................  26

Fig. 48.  Diagram showing housing tenure at Jaywick LSOA level 
Census 2021. ...........................................................................................  27

Fig. 49. Examples of occupied housing in poor condition. ...........  27

Fig. 50. An example of vacant and derelict housing in poor 
condition. ..................................................................................................  27

Fig. 51. Map showing Tendring District Council land ownership in 
Jaywick Sands .........................................................................................  29

Fig. 52. Map showing locations of nearby allocated housing sites 
..................................................................................................................... 30

Fig. 53. Extract from Tendring Local Plan Policies Map .............  32

Fig. 54. Diagram of place-based opportunities and constraints .  34

Fig. 55. Map and photographs of Jaywick Sands' coastline .........  35

Fig. 56. Map and photographs of the rural landscape of Jaywick 
Sands .........................................................................................................  35

Fig. 57. Map and photographs showing the unique pattern and 
character of buildings found in Jaywick Sands ...............................  35

Fig. 58. Map showing the areas at risk from flooding in Jaywick 
Sands, photographs of the sea wall and examples of flood-resilient 
buildings in Jaywick Sands...................................................................  36

Fig. 59. Map and photographs showing local wildlife site in 
Jaywick Sands .........................................................................................  36

Fig. 60. Jaywick Sands from the air - showing the extensive beach 
and rural setting......................................................................................  37

Fig. 61. Map and tables showing the defence units relevant to 
Jaywick Sands and the expected lifespan. Source: Jaywick Sands 
Coastal Defence Study 2023, Environment Agency. ....................  40

Fig. 62. Map of design framework for flood defences and the 
seafront .....................................................................................................  41

Fig. 63. Sketch visualisation of the new seafront design strategy 
along the Brooklands seafront ............................................................  42

Fig. 64. Indicative cross-section showing the strategic design 
approach to the Brooklands seafront ................................................  42

Fig. 65. Isometric sketch showing the main elements of the 
seafront design strategy along the Brooklands seafront ..............  42

Fig. 66. Indicative cross-section showing the design framework 
for the Brooklands seafront and the distance to high water at the 
narrowest point of the beach ..............................................................  43

Fig. 67. Indicative plan of the design strategy for the Brooklands 
seafront showing integration of improved streetscape, public 
realm, accessibility and amenities. .....................................................  43

P
age 144



Page 115

Jaywick Sands Place Plan: Final Report

September 2023 HAT Projects

Fig. 68. Sketch visualisation of the new seafront design strategy 
along the Village seafront .....................................................................  44

Fig. 69. Indicative cross-section showing the design approach to 
the Village seafront ................................................................................  44

Fig. 70. Isometric sketch showing the main elements of the 
seafront design strategy along the Village seafront .......................  44

Fig. 71. Indicative cross-section showing the design framework 
for the Village seafront and the distance to high water at the 
narrowest point of the beach ..............................................................  45

Fig. 72. Indicative plan of the design strategy for the Village 
seafront showing integration of improved path in front of homes, 
public realm, accessibility and amenities. ........................................  45

Fig. 73. Aerial photograph of an example beach boardwalk .......  46

Fig. 74. An example of beach boardwalk with bench ...................  46

Fig. 75. Photograph of current condition of Brooklands ..............  46

Fig. 76. Sketch illustration for a one-way system on Brooklands 
..................................................................................................................... 46

Fig. 77. Vacant plots within Brooklands (TDC in green/other 
vacant plots in blue) ..............................................................................  47

Fig. 78. Photographs of some of the vacant plots within 
Brooklands ...............................................................................................  47

Fig. 79. Diagram of single vacant plots acquired in order to develop 
a single 2 bedroom flood safe home on side by side or back to back 
plots on typical Brooklands avenue arrangement. .........................  48

Fig. 80. Diagram showing use of Brooklands plots for parking ..  48

Fig. 81. Diagram showing how purchasing adjoining plots to a 
double vacant plot allows two new homes to be developed. .......  48

Fig. 82. Plan showing application of strategy to currently vacant 
and derelict plots ....................................................................................  49

Fig. 83. Infographic showing process for replacing poor quality and 
non-resilient homes with good quality new homes .......................  50

Fig. 84. Examples of good quality, well-designed homes showing 
approaches relevant to the character and built form of Jaywick 
Sands .........................................................................................................  51

Fig. 85.  Map showing location of non-residential uses in and 
around Jaywick Sands  ..........................................................................  52

Fig. 86. Plan showing land use framework for business, tourism 
and local services ....................................................................................  53

Fig. 87. Indicative site strategy for TDC owned development sites 
in the village centre................................................................................  54

Fig. 88. Map of existing public open spaces in Jaywick Sands....  55

Fig. 89. Map of existing condition of Crossways Park (top) and 
green space on Garden Road (bottom) .............................................  56

Fig. 90. Map showing proposed improvements to Crossways Park 
(top) and green space on Garden Road (bottom) ..........................  56

Fig. 91. Map of existing condition of St Christopher's Way ........  57

Fig. 92. Maps of existing condition and proposed improvements to 
Fern Way ..................................................................................................  57

Fig. 93. Map of proposed improvements to St Christopher's Way 
..................................................................................................................... 57

Fig. 94. Maps of existing condition and proposed improvements to 
Sea Crescent ............................................................................................  57

Fig. 95. Map of existing condition of Brooklands Gardens .........  58

Fig. 96. Map of existing condition of Lotus Way ...........................  58

Fig. 97. Map of proposed improvements to Brooklands Gardens 
..................................................................................................................... 58

Fig. 98. Map of proposed improvements to Lotus Way ................  58

Fig. 99. Map of existing public open spaces in Jaywick Sands....  59

Fig. 100. Map of proposed accessibility and connectivity 
improvements .........................................................................................  60

Fig. 101. Map showing proposed new route and alternative 
emergency access route to be safeguarded. .....................................  61

Fig. 102. Proposed routes for emergency access/egress and 0.5% 
AEP + Climate Change (100 years) flood event depths map, 
depths given in metres from existing ground level (EA,  2022)  62

Fig. 103. Aerial view of proposed access/evacuation route (solid) 
and footpath (dashed) ...........................................................................  62

Fig. 104. Typical section through raised bank ................................  62

Fig. 105. Existing raised bank toward Tudor Fields ......................  62

Fig. 106. Hard to access footpath behind Brooklands ..................  63

Fig. 107. Cared for access to footpath behind Grasslands ...........  63

Fig. 108. Existing alley between Brooklands plots ........................  63

Fig. 109. Proposed bus shelter locations (existing stops named) 
..................................................................................................................... 64

Fig. 110. Beach Way existing bus stop ..............................................  64

Fig. 111. Map showing the location and ownership drainage 
infrastructure in Jaywick Sands .........................................................  65

Fig. B1. Diagram showing sequential test approach ......................  73

Fig. C1. Map of West Clacton and Jaywick Sands Defensive Units, 
as designated by the Environment Agency. ....................................  74

Fig. C2. Maps of area designations. Source: DEFRA....................  75

Fig. C3. Map of access points located along the current sea wall 
..................................................................................................................... 76

Fig. C4. Map of access points located along the current sea wall, 
with photographs showing the visibility of the beach from the land 
side .............................................................................................................  77

Fig. C5. Brooklands (DU2) - cross-section at narrowest point..  78

Fig. C6. Village (DU3) - cross-section at narrowest point ..........  78

Fig. C7. Map with key of cross-sections illustrated below. .........  78

Fig. C8. Current typical section through Brooklands  ..................  79

Fig. C9. Current typical section through the Village ....................  79

Fig. C10. Map showing line of sea of wall to be raised for Option A 
..................................................................................................................... 80

Fig. C11. Option A - cross-section through Brooklands during  
construction .............................................................................................  81

Fig. C12. Option A - cross-section through the Village during 
construction .............................................................................................  81

Fig. C13. Photographs of current works at Cockett Wick showing 
extent of plant and storage required for wall raising and defence 
reinforcement works. ............................................................................  81

Fig. C14. Option A - cross-section through Brooklands after 
construction .............................................................................................  82

Fig. C15. Option A - cross-section through the Village after 
construction .............................................................................................  82

Fig. C16. View of Brooklands seafront (DU2) - current condition 
..................................................................................................................... 83

Fig. C17. Visualisation of Brooklands seafront (DU2) after full 
wall raising (both phases) ....................................................................  83

P
age 145



Page 116

Jaywick Sands Place Plan: Final Report

September 2023 HAT Projects

Fig. C18. View of Village seafront (DU3) - current condition ...  83

Fig. C19. Visualisation of Village seafront (DU3) after full wall 
raising (both phases) .............................................................................  83

Fig. C20. Visualisation of Brooklands seafront (DU2) after full 
wall raising (both phases) ....................................................................  84

Fig. C21. Visualisation of Village seafront (DU3) after full wall 
raising (both phases) .............................................................................  84

Fig. C22. Map showing line of new sea of wall proposed under 
Option B, and location of potential additional rock groyne ........  85

Fig. C23. Option B - cross-section through Brooklands during 
construction .............................................................................................  86

Fig. C24. Option B - cross-section through the Village during 
construction .............................................................................................  86

Fig. C25. Option B - cross-section through Brooklands after 
construction .............................................................................................  87

Fig. C26. Option B - cross-section through the Village after 
construction .............................................................................................  87

Fig. C27. Option B - indicative plan of proposed new sea wall at 
Brooklands ...............................................................................................  88

Fig. C28. Option B - indicative section through beach and sea wall 
at Brooklands ..........................................................................................  88

Fig. C29. Option B - indicative plan of proposed new sea wall at 
the Village ................................................................................................  89

Fig. C30. Option B - indicative section through beach and sea wall 
at the Village ............................................................................................  89

Fig. C31. View of Brooklands seafront (DU2) - current condition 
..................................................................................................................... 90

Fig. C32. Visualisation of Brooklands seafront (DU2) after line of 
sea-wall is advanced ..............................................................................  90

Fig. C33. View of Village seafront (DU3) - current condition ...  90

Fig. C34. Visualisation of Village seafront (DU3) after line of sea-
wall is advanced ......................................................................................  90

Fig. C35. Visualisation of Brooklands seafront (DU2) after line of 
sea-wall is advanced ..............................................................................  91

Fig. C36. Visualisation of Village seafront (DU3) after line of sea-
wall is advanced ......................................................................................  91

Fig. C37. Isometric diagram of Option B proposal for Brooklands 
seafront (DU2) ........................................................................................  92

Fig. C38. Isometric diagram of Option B proposal for the Village 
seafront (DU3) ........................................................................................  92

Fig. C39. Map indicatively showing Option C, with reshaped 
beach and potential locations of new rock groynes (dotted)  .....  93

Fig. C40. Map showing line of sea of wall to be raised for Option A 
..................................................................................................................... 94

Fig. C41. Map showing line of new sea of wall proposed under 
Option B, and location of potential additional rock groyne ........  94

Fig. C42. Map indicatively showing Option C, with reshaped 
beach and potential locations of new rock groynes (dotted)  .....  94

Fig. E1. Diagram of constraints on the undeveloped sites ...........  98

Fig. E2. Map diagram of fully defended masterplan ......................  99

Fig. E3. Map diagram of fully defended masterplan ......................  
100

Fig. E4. Examples of good quality, well-designed homes relevant to 
the character and built form of Jaywick Sands ...............................  
100

Fig. E5. Diagram of proposed ground floor uses for fully-defended 
masterplan ...............................................................................................  
100

Fig. E6. Diagram of proposed building heights for fully-defended 
masterplan ...............................................................................................  
100

Fig. E7. Map diagram of undefended masterplan ..........................  
102

Fig. E8. Example of flood-resilient construction at ground floor 
level ............................................................................................................  
103

Fig. E9. Example of undercroft parking below a raised amenity 
deck ............................................................................................................  
103

Fig. E10. Raising ground levels between buildings to create 
amenity space accessed from habitable rooms above street level 
..................................................................................................................... 103

Fig. E11. Undercroft parking below a raised amenity deck.........  

103

Fig. E12. 'Pavilion' building raised above ground level with parking 
or non-habitable shared facilities at ground level. .........................  
103

Fig. E13. Example of landscape shaping with undercroft parking  
..................................................................................................................... 103

Fig. E14. Example of 'pavilion' building raised above ground level 
..................................................................................................................... 103

Fig. E15. Diagram showing potential phasing of development ..  
105

Fig. E16. Map diagram of further site assembly required for Tudor 
Field development..................................................................................  
106

Fig. F1. Indicative masterplan ............................................................  
107

Fig. F2. Indicative masterplan ............................................................  
108

Fig. F3. Location for housing typology A in indicative masterplan 
..................................................................................................................... 109

Fig. F4. Examples of good quality, well-designed 3-storey homes 
..................................................................................................................... 109

Fig. F5. Location for housing typology A in indicative masterplan 
..................................................................................................................... 110

Fig. F6. Examples of good quality, well-designed 3-storey homes 
with non-habitable ground floor ........................................................  
110

Fig. F7. Examples of high quality street, open space and public 
realm design .............................................................................................  
111

Fig. F8. Map key of parcels ..................................................................  
112

Fig. F9. Map key of open spaces .........................................................  
113

P
age 146


	Agenda
	3 Minutes of the Last Meeting
	6 Public Speaking
	7 Report of the Director (Planning) - A.1 - Draft Jaywick Sands Place Plan
	A.1  Draft Jaywick Sands Place Plan
	(Report prepared by Anthony Brindley)
	PART 1 – KEY INFORMATION
	PART 2 – IMPLICATIONS OF THE DECISION
	PART 3 – SUPPORTING INFORMATION
	A.1 Appendix JaywickSands PlacePlanReport Redacted comp
	1. Executive Summary
	2. How the Place Plan has been developed
	2.1 Initial options appraisal
	2.2 Findings from consultation in 2022
	2.3 Other studies and workstreams

	3. Vision and summary of the Place Plan framework
	3.1 Vision
	3.2  Spatial framework
	3.3 How the Place Plan meets the objectives in the Tendring Local Plan
	3.4 Delivering the Place Plan

	4. Background and baseline conditions
	4.1  Development of Jaywick Sands over time
	4.2 Jaywick today
	4.3 Age profile
	4.5 Health profile
	4.7 Employment and skills profile
	4.8 Education & skills
	4.9 District level services and connectivity
	4.10 Ward level services and connectivity
	4.11 Street network and parking
	4.12 Pedestrian and cycle routes 
	4.13 District environmental analysis
	4.14 Local environmental analysis
	4.15 Flood risk
	4.16 Character areas
	4.16.1 Brooklands/Grasslands
	4.16.2 The Village
	4.16.3 Tudor Estate

	4.17 Housing condition
	4.18 Local services and infrastructure deficits
	4.19 Land ownership
	4.20 Values and viability

	5. Policy context
	6. Developing the Place Plan strategy
	6.1 Place-based opportunities and constraints
	6.2 Meeting strategic objectives and success indicators
	6.3 Transform housing quality and the built environment
	6.4 Ensure long term flood resilience
	6.5 Create greater connectivity to neighbouring areas
	6.6 Attract commerce & new economic opportunities
	6.7 Improve people's life chances, access to public services & health & wellbeing
	6.8 Place Plan structure

	7. Flood defences and seafront public realm
	7.1 Background and aims
	7.2 Design framework
	7.3 Design framework in detail: Brooklands
	7.4 Design framework in detail: Brooklands (continued from previous page)
	7.5 Design framework in detail: The Village seafront
	7.6 Design framework in detail: boardwalk
	7.7 Piloting the Brooklands one-way system
	7.8 Delivery of the flood defences and seafront public realm framework

	8. Improving residential areas
	8.1 Background and aims
	8.2 Options for reuse of vacant plots
	8.3 Recommended strategy for vacant and derelict plots
	8.4 Addressing substandard existing homes
	8.5 Supporting owner-occupiers to improve flood safety
	8.6 Developing options for relocation
	8.7 Delivery of improvements to residential areas

	9. Creating space for business, tourism and local services
	9.1 Background and aims
	9.2 Growth opportunities in Jaywick Sands
	9.3 Spatial framework for non-residential uses
	9.4 Meeting social infrastructure deficits
	9.5 Delivering the strategy for business, tourism and local services

	10. Improving public open spaces
	10.1 Background and aims
	10.2 Strategic approach
	10.3.1 Crossways Park (2ha) 
	10.3.2 Garden Road (0.8ha)
	10.3.3 St Christopher's Way (0.5ha)
	10.3.4  Fern Way (0.2ha)
	10.3.5  Sea Crescent (0.15 ha)
	10.3.6 Brooklands Gardens (0.55ha)
	10.3.7 Lotus Way green space (1.4ha)
	10.4 Delivery of public open space improvements

	11. Accessibility and connectivity
	11.1 Background and aims
	11.2 Strategic approach
	11.3 New route across Tudor Fields
	11.4 Improvements to existing footpaths
	11.5 Alleyways
	11.6 Bus stops and shelters
	11.7 Delivery of accessibility and connectivity improvements

	12. Drainage infrastructure
	12.1 Background and aims
	12.2 Strategic approach
	12.3 Delivery

	13. Community engagement and stewardship
	14. Delivery and action plan
	14.1 Flood defences and seafront public realm
	14.2 Improvements to residential areas
	14.3 Creating space for business, tourism and local services
	14.4 Public open spaces
	14.5 Accessibility and connectivity
	14.6 Drainage infrastructure
	14.7 Community engagement / stewardship

	Appendix B: Application of the Sequential and the Exception Tests
	B1. Applying the sequential test and the first part of the exception test
	B2. Applying the second part of the exception test
	B3. Impact of flood risk on values and viability

	Appendix C: Assessment of options for flood defences
	C1. The need for flood defence improvements
	C2. Site constraints affecting options for flood defences
	C3.  Current sea wall - advantages and disadvantages
	C4. Accessibility and visibility of beach
	C5. Width of beach
	C6. Current typical section through the sea wall
	C7.1 Option A - Nationally preferred design option developed by the Environment Agency in line with 
	C7.2 Option A - cross-sections showing construction phase (indicative - developed by Place Plan team
	C7.3 Option A - cross-sections after completion
	C7.4 Option A - before and after comparison
	C7.5 Option A - cost-benefit and impact on wider Place Plan objectives
	C8.1 Option B - advance the line
	C8.2 Option B - cross-sections showing construction phase
	C8.3 Option B - cross-sections showing potential integration with public realm and beach access
	C8.4 Option B - Brooklands indicative section and plan
	C8.6 Option B - Village indicative section and plan
	C8.7 Option B - before and after comparison
	C8.8 Option B - cost-benefit and impact on wider Place Plan objectives
	C8.9 Option B - Isometric diagrams
	C9. Option C - beach reshaping
	C10. Options comparison

	Appendix D. Initial strategic options appraisal
	D1. Full decant and demolition, no rebuild 
	D2. Comprehensive redevelopment of Brooklands and parts of the Village
	D3. New development on all land owned by Tendring District Council including Tudor Fields, enabling 
	D4. New development on land owned by Tendring District Council inside settlement boundary only, enab
	D5.  Redevelop single / double plots owned by Tendring District Council, enabling gradual decant and
	D6.  Purchase consolidated holdings of several adjacent plots, for redevelopment alongside TDC owned
	D7.  Public realm, environmental improvements and standalone projects to boost the local economy and
	D8. Preferred options

	Appendix E: Early options explored and rejected for development across all TDC owned land
	E1.1. Fully defended scenario: outline masterplan
	E1.2. Fully defended scenario - use mix and housing design
	E1.3. Fully defended scenario - costs
	E2.1. Undefended scenario: masterplan
	E2.2. Undefended scenario: housing design
	E2.3. Undefended scenario: costs
	E3. Delivery and potential phasing
	E4. Further site assembly required to support Tudor Fields development

	Appendix F. Outline masterplan for development on land either side of Lotus Way
	F1. Outline masterplan concept and layout
	F2. Housing typology A: 3 storey houses (non habitable ground floor)
	F3. Housing typology B: 3 storey apartment buildings (non habitable ground floor)
	F4. Streets and open spaces
	F5. Amount and mix of housing and non-residential uses
	F6. Open space and streets

	List of figures





